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Mandate
The National Consumer Tribunal (NCT or Tribunal) is an independent adjudicative entity. It derives its mandate 
from the National Credit Act (NCA), Act No. 34 of 2005. This mandate was expanded in 2008 to include matters 

arising from the Consumer Protection Act (CPA), Act No. 68 of 2008.

Vision
“To be recognised as an independent and fair  

adjudicator in promoting and advancing the socio-economic welfare of South Africans.”

Mission
“The provision of accessible adjudication and  

redress on matters referred to the  
NCT in terms of the National Credit Act and  

the Consumer Protection Act.”

NCT Management and Staff



Guiding principles
These guiding principles specifically define the NCT’s approach to adjudication.  They are aligned with the 
legislative principles of the NCT, which require that the NCT conduct its hearings in a manner that is:

•	 Inquisitorial;
•	 Expeditious;
•	 Informal; and
•	 In accordance with the principles of natural justice.

Value statements
Values are traits or qualities that represent the organisation and an individual’s priorities and deeply held driving 
forces.  They are intended to define and shape the culture of the NCT and guide how staff members interact, both 
internally and with external stakeholders.  

The NCT values and strives to meet the requirements of the Constitution of South Africa, Chapter 10 on Public 
Administration. This emphasises certain basic values and principles governing public administration and requires 
that public administration be governed by the democratic values and principles enshrined in the Constitution. The 
NCT’s value statements are:
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Honesty and Integrity: Being truthful, uncompromising and acting 

impartially, without fear or favour, in our relationships with all stakeholders;

Accessibility: Being aware of and valuing diversity as well as 

being available to serve our purpose and mandate;

Transparency: Being open with stakeholders and communicating 

the basis upon which decisions are made and actions taken;

Accountability: Accepting responsibility for our own commitments  

and actions;

Respect: Considering and valuing the views of others, their values  

and constitutional rights;

Recognition: Acknowledging all stakeholders, their role and the NCT as  

an institution;

Responsiveness: Responding appropriately and in a timely manner;

Approachability: Being open to ideas, thoughts and actions, and 

taking time to understand and explain processes to stakeholders, 

as well as communicating in clear simple language.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Name of the public entity:  National Consumer Tribunal

Office address:    Block B, Ground Floor, East Wing, Lakefield Office Park, 

    272 West Avenue (corner West Avenue and Lenchen Avenue North), 

    Centurion 0157

Postal address:    Private Bag X 110, Centurion, 0046

Contact telephone number:  012 683 8140

Email address:    registry@thenct.org.za

Website address:    www.thenct.org.za 

External Auditors Information:  The Auditor-General of South Africa 

Banker’s Information:  Nedbank Ltd
     
    Reserve Bank of South Africa

ACCESSIBILITY
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The National Consumer Tribunal (NCT) has contributed to the creation of a fair regulatory environment that enables 
investment, trade and enterprise development in an equitable and socially responsible manner by adjudicating on credit 

and consumer matters referred to the NCT for adjudication.

The NCT has further aligned service delivery to the National Development Plan, as well as the Medium Term Strategic 
Framework by various initiatives, including the creation of ad hoc employment opportunities for youth and creating youth 
employment and development opportunities through its internship programme.

I wish to recognise the NCT’s contribution to youth development and employment, expedited service delivery and 
commitment to high standards of public administration, which can be seen through the commendable clean audit that the 
NCT has achieved for a second year in succession.

I commend the NCT for achieving 100% of its business objectives for 2013/14, despite the increasing caseload.

Finally, I wish to thank the NCT for implementing dti’s policy through its contribution towards consumer redress.

_________________________________
Dr Rob Davies, MP
Minister of Trade and Industry
21 August 2014

2. FOREWORD BY THE MINISTER OF  
 TRADE AND INDUSTRY

Dr Rob Davies, MP
Minister of Trade and Industry

“I commend the NCT for achieving 
100% of its business objectives 
for 2013/14, despite the increasing 
caseload.” 

Minister Rob Davies

TRANSPARENCY



OVERVIEW OF THE 
ANNUAL REPORT BY THE 
EXECUTIVE CHAIRPERSON
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Looking back, the past year has emerged as one of the busiest years in the history of the National Consumer Tribunal 
(NCT). With the caseload remaining at consistently high levels, new challenges emerged, calling for the implementation 
of a wide range of innovative technological and other changes to both increase efficiencies and assist in meeting the 

demands placed on the NCT. 

We achieved 100% of our business objectives for 2013/14 and in fact exceeded the  targets for 70% of those objectives. For a 
second year we obtained a clean audit. Our judgments were being upheld by the High Court where we were taken on appeal/
review. We contributed to youth development and employment through our Internship Programme and the employment of 
students and graduates. We commenced with  the roll-out and piloting of an automated debt re-arrangement agreement 
(DRA) system to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of finalising DRA applications, and furthermore commenced with 
the digitisation of the NCT case files and operational records. 

With regard to digitisation, great strides have been made with the document digitisation and automation project which, on 
completion, will see all the Tribunal’s records scanned, stored and accessed online. This will ensure easy access to information, 
file movement and tracking and overall reporting. This result will lead  to an increase in cost savings, more efficiencies and 
even greater productivity.

Our major challenge remains the growth in, and unpredictability of, our caseload relative to our financial, human and 
information and communication technology (ICT) resources, records management and ensuring we derive maximum value 
for money from ICT projects. 

We received 5 386 new applications over the year (an increase of 28.4% over the previous year). Of these 5 318 applications 
were DRA applications and 68 were non-DRA applications. We issued 3 387 DRA orders during the year under review, as 
opposed to 2 985 in the previous year, an increase of 13.5%. 

 3. OVERVIEW OF THE ANNUAL REPORT  
 BY THE EXECUTIVE CHAIRPERSON

Ms D Terblanche
Executive Chairperson

“We wish to continue to play a 
strategic role within the South 
African economy as an organisation 
with a strong core and foundation, 
well placed to lead adjudications 
relating to the National Consumer 
Act (NCA) and the Consumer 
Protection Act (CPA)”. 

Ms D Terblanche

RESPECT
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The number of hearings held increased significantly from 53 in 2012/13 to 83 in 2013/14. Similarly, the number of judgments 
issued increased from 54 to 67 in the current reporting period. We were able to achieve this and at the same time manage a 
stringent and clean administration. This bears testimony to the success of the innovations, systems and processes we have 
put in place and the commitment of our Tribunal Members and staff. 

Due to the size of the NCT it does not have a dedicated Supply Chain Management Unit. The supply chain management 
(SCM) function is attended to by the Chief Financial Officer. The NCT has rigorous processes in place to ensure that the entity 
complies with the SCM regulations issued in terms of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) and Treasury Regulations. 
The NCT’s internal SCM policies and procedures are designed and executed in a manner that ensures compliance with laws 
and regulations to assist government in achieving its goals by spending public funds in a competitive, fair and equitable 
manner. 

Increasingly Change Management is becoming a major focus for the NCT. This is due to the transitioning from a largely 
manual system to an electronic environment. A case in point is our Records Management Unit where the drive to digitise all 
our records impacts on how users access and maintain electronic data as opposed to hard copy files and records. The skill 
sets and processes needed for records management staff to work in the electronic world are vastly different from those of the 
manual environment (e.g. scanning, file and record access, security, handling of file/record requests and additional filing). 
The NCT is providing staff with change management interventions and a combination of formal and on the job training to 
address this critical area.

Staff Recruitment
The NCT continues to rely on its career pipeline to fill internal positions. Opportunities are provide to students and graduates 
from tertiary institutions across South Africa. They in turn form the basis of our recruitment pool, when vacancies arise, 
which led to 100% placement rate of our interns in the last financial year through the successful completion of this Training 
Programme.

Governance
The NCT follows a stringent governance process. The governance structures, systems and processes are continually evaluated 
to ensure that controls are tightened, consistently applied and to identify areas where it is necessary to make improvements.

Risk management is viewed by the NCT as a key driver for overall business performance.  Risk is assessed continously and 
reported on at various levels within the NCT.

A noteworthy achievement is the second “clean” audit report received from the Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA) 
during 2013/14. This can be ascribed to setting the “right tone” from the top, with high expectations of the highest integrity 
and honesty in all conduct and reporting. 

There are three governance committees that support the Accounting Authority of the NCT, namely the Audit and Risk, 
Human Resources- and Information and Communications Technology Governance Committees. These committees met 
regularly throughout the year and substantially contributed to oversight and governance.

RECOGNITION
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Stakeholder Relations
During the year the NCT continued its commitment to being open and accessible and to building productive working 
relationships with stakeholders both in South Africa and outside our borders. In this regard:

•	 Two conferences were hosted in conjunction with the National Consumer Commission(NCC)   and the National Credit  
 Regulator on consumer and credit matters; 
•	 The NCT participated in the Fifth Annual African Consumer Protection Dialogue Conference in Livingstone, Zambia; 
•	 The NCT provided training of judicial officers and Magistrates on the CPA and the NCA;
•	 Input was given into the National Credit Amendment Bill; and 
•	 Submissions were made to the dti on changes to the NCT Rules1 to allow for greater efficiencies. 

These engagements provided the NCT with first-hand insight into the credit and consumer environment and the needs of 
those who use the services of the NCT, and helped to promote a better understanding of the role and functions of the NCT 
and accordingly improve service delivery to our stakeholders. 

Future Outlook
With the continued increase in caseload and the importance for the NCT to fulfil its mandate in ensuring that judgments and 
rulings are provided timeously, electronic data storage of case files and records, along with ICT applications that will ensure 
efficiencies and streamlining of business processes are necessary. These interventions ensure that the necessary information 
is available to the correct stakeholders when needed and at the correct level of quality. Any exceptions to these processes 
are quickly identified and rectified through automated detection and control systems.

One of the critical interventions we are in the process of implementing is the capability for the debt counsellors and filing 
parties to file electronically with the NCT via an e-filing application. This development will have distinct advantages in that it 
will allow for increased speed and accuracy of Case file processing to the ultimate benefit of the consumer. Debt counsellor 
and consumer information for filing can be entered into the system and verified in real-time as opposed to manually filing 
applications. This also means that any queries that filing parties may have can be resolved in a speedy manner.

As we roll-out the e-filing system, structured workshops will be held with the debt counsellors to ensure that the transition 
from the manual to the electronic environment is one where people are fully conversant with the use of the systems, and 
that they find the experience a quick and easy to use facility that significantly improves the filing process.

We will remain involved in training of magistrates and judicial officers to ensure consistent adjudication on and contribution 
to the consumer credit regulatory environment.

The National Credit Amendment Act, Act No. 19 of 2014, still to be promulgated, will extend the NCT’s mandate. Specifically 
it will extend its jurisdiction to reckless credit matters and prohibited collection of prescribed debts, as well as matters 
involving payment distribution agents, and alternative dispute resolution agents. The  latter will in future have  to be 
registered in terms of the amendment law, thus expanding the class of Registrants in terms of the NCA. The potential impact 
of this amendment is unknown at this stage, although it is envisaged that it may significantly increase the NCT’s caseload.
The number of cases for adjudication determines the resources required by the NCT to execute its core duties. As the NCT 

1. For the Conduct of Matters before the National Consumer Tribunal published under GN789 in GG30225 of 28 August 2007 as amended by 
GenN428 in GG34405 OF 29 June 2011.

RESPONSIVENESS



N a t i o n a l  C o n s u m e r  T r i b u n a l  -  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  -  2 0 1 3 / 1 4

12

currently charges only a nominal filing fee for some of 
the applications and referrals filed, it has little control 
over its income other than to motivate to the fiscus for 
funding in line with its predicted caseload. 

Accurate caseload forecasting requires that the 
NCT remains in touch with the most important 
environmental elements that may impact on future 
caseloads. These elements include the economic 
climate, the prevailing consumer and related 
legislation and the approach of other regulators, in 
particular the National Credit Regulator (NCR) and 
the National Consumer Commission (NCC). Such 
forecasting is not an exact science and is therefore the most important variable impacting on the NCT’s income and hence 
its continued ability to provide services and fulfil its mandate.

Over the past few years, the NCT has increased its employee productivity through the implementation of more efficient ways 
of working. Specific reference is made to the most recent ICT interventions. At some point, however, the NCT will reach a 
point where no further productivity and efficiency improvements can be gained to offset its lagging financial resources. The 
future of the NCT therefore relies on its ability to build flexible, agile and responsive organisational structures, capable of 
dealing effectively and efficiently with various types and numbers of cases. 

Years of experience in a changing legislative environment and the flexibility of the organisation to shape its services to meet 
the needs of its stakeholders, means the NCT is well placed for the future.  

The key priority in the year ahead will be to build on the changes introduced in 2013/14 so as to continue to improve 
efficiencies across all spectrums of the NCT. We wish to continue to play a strategic role within the South African economy 
as an organisation with a strong core and foundation, well placed to lead adjudications relating to the National Consumer 
Act (NCA) and the Consumer Protection Act (CPA). I would like to acknowledge the contributions of hardworking Tribunal 
Members, Governance Committee Members, staff and service providers for their dedication and valuable contributions to 
the success of the NCT.

_________________________________
Ms D Terblanche
Executive Chairperson
31 May 2014

 

APPROACHABILITY

“Years of experience in a changing 
legislative environment and the 
flexibility of the organisation to 
shape its services to meet the 
needs of its stakeholders, means 
the NCT is well placed for the 
future.”. 

Ms Diane Terblanche
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4. STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY  
 AND CONFIRMATION OF THE  
 ACCURACY OF THE ANNUAL REPORT
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following:

•	 All information and amounts disclosed in the Annual Report are consistent with the Annual Financial Statements audited  

 by the Auditor-General of South Africa.

•	 The Annual Report is complete, accurate and is free of any omissions.

•	 The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines on the Annual Report as issued by the dti.

•	 The Annual Financial Statements (Part E) have been prepared in accordance with the applicable standards of Generally  

 Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP).

•	 The Accounting Authority is responsible for the preparation of the Annual Financial Statements and for the judgments  

 made in this information.

•	 The Accounting Authority is responsible for establishing, and implementing a system of internal control, designed  

 to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the performance information, the human resources  

 information and the Annual Financial Statements.

•	 The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the Annual Financial Statements.

•	 In my opinion, the Annual Report fairly reflects the operations, the performance information, the human resources  

 information and the financial affairs of the entity for the financial year ended 31 March 2014.

Yours faithfully
    

__________________________________
Ms Diane Terblanche
Executive Chairperson 
31 May 2014

 

HONESTY
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5. STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

5.1 Background

The NCT was established in terms of the NCA, No. 34 of 2005 (NCA), to adjudicate on applications and referrals in 
terms of the NCA. With effect from 1 April 2011, the NCT’s mandate was expanded to include the adjudication of 

applications and cases referred to it in accordance with the CPA, Act No. 68 of 2009 (CPA).

In September 2006, sixteen independent Tribunal Members of the NCT, including a Chairperson, were appointed by 
the President, thus formally establishing the NCT. The Tribunal currently consists of 13 Members appointed by the 
State President, three (3) of whom are Full-time Members, including the Executive Chairperson. 

The NCT exists for the purpose of providing accessible adjudication and redress in respect of the types of matters that 
may be referred to it or received as direct applications in terms of the NCA and CPA.  The NCT’s mission statement 
communicates the essence of its work, speaks to the reason for its existence and describes what it seeks to accomplish. 

5.2 Vision, mission and values
5.2.1 Vision

“To be recognised as an independent and fair adjudicator in promoting and advancing the socio-economic welfare 
of South Africans.”

5.2.2 Mission

“The provision of accessible adjudication and redress on matters referred to the NCT in terms of the National Credit 
Act and the CPA.”

5.2.3 Guiding principles

These guiding principles specifically define the NCT’s approach to adjudication.  They are aligned with the legislative 
principles of the NCT, which require that the NCT conduct its hearings in a manner that is:

•	 Inquisitorial;
•	 Expeditious;
•	 Informal; and
•	 In accordance with the principles of natural justice.

INTEGRITY
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5.2.4 Value statements

Values are traits or qualities that represent the organisation and 
an individual’s priorities and deeply held driving forces.  They are 
intended to define and shape the culture of the NCT and guide 
how staff members interact, both internally and with external 
stakeholders.  

The NCT strives to meet the requirements of the Constitution 
of South Africa, Chapter 10 on the Public Administration. This 
emphasises certain basic values and principles governing 
public administration and requires that public administration be 
governed by the democratic values and principles enshrined in 
the Constitution. 

The NCT’s value statements are:

• Honesty and Integrity: Being truthful, uncompromising and acting impartially, without fear or favour, in our  

 relationships with all stakeholders;

• Accessibility: Being aware of and valuing diversity as well as being available to serve our purpose and mandate;

• Transparency: Being open with stakeholders and communicating the basis upon which decisions are made and actions  

 taken;

• Accountability: Accepting responsibility for our own commitments and actions;

• Respect: Considering and valuing the views of others, their values and constitutional rights;

• Recognition: Acknowledging all stakeholders, their role and the NCT as an institution;

• Responsiveness: Responding appropriately and in a timely manner;

• Approachability: Being open to ideas, thoughts and actions, and taking time to understand and explain processes to  

 stakeholders, as well as communicating in clear simple language.

ACCESSIBILITY

“The NCT exists for the 
purpose of providing 
accessible adjudication and 
redress in respect of the types 
of matters that may be referred 
to it or received as direct 
applications in terms of the 
NCA and CPA”. 
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5.3 Strategic goals and objectives
5.3.1 Key value drivers

The NCT’s key value drivers are the specific performance areas in which the NCT is assessed for performance, internally 
and by all stakeholders.

The following key value drivers were determined for the 2013/14 financial year:

1. Ability of the NCT to contribute to the efficiency and effectiveness of the overall consumer regulatory system
 
2. Effective and efficient case adjudication that is:

•	 Inquisitorial;
•	 Informal;
•	 Expeditious; and
•	 In accordance with the principles of natural justice; and
•	 Effective management of cases.

3. Sound organisational management

5.3.2 Strategic goals

The strategic goals articulated below were arrived through a careful assessment of the strategic and operational 
environment within which the NCT operates. The planning workshops that resulted in the production of the Strategic 
Plan and Annual Performance Plan gathered up-to-date information about the organisation’s internal strengths and 
weaknesses, as well as its external opportunities and threats (challenges). This analysis included political, economic, 
social, environmental and technological considerations applicable to the NCT. Through this exercise, the workshop 
participants were able to refine and re-shape the list of critical issues facing the NCT, thus defining the critical strategic 
tasks facing the NCT over the next five years.

During the course of the 2013/14 Strategic Review these goals and objectives were further refined to ensure that 
they were still relevant and contained sufficient substance to provide clear direction to the NCT’s work and take into 
consideration critical issues facing the NCT. The strategic goals for the period under review were set as:

1. Cases effectively and efficiently adjudicated;
2. Contribute to an efficient and effective consumer regulatory system; and
3. Sound organisational management.

Each goal is supported by specific objectives, which are in turn supported by projects and/or activities that are 
detailed in the operational plans of the organisation. These strategic goals should be read in line with the detailed 
measurable objectives set out under each strategic goal. 

TRANSPARENCY
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6. LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER MANDATES

The NCT is a Schedule 3A entity in terms of the Public Finance Management Act, Act No.1 of 1999 (PFMA). In addition to its 
founding legislation and policy prescripts set out in Section 3 of the NCA and Section 3 of the CPA respectively, as well as 

the NCT’s Rules2, the NCT considers the following principles and legislative provisions to be applicable to it:

The Constitution of the Republic of South Africa:

Through its adjudicative mandate and its consideration of matters of prohibited conduct and fair business practice, the NCT 
plays a significant role in upholding and preserving the principles enshrined in the Bill of Rights.  Specifically, the NCT 
has a direct impact on the following areas within the Constitution of the country, under the Bill of Rights:

• Sub-section 9: Equality – By remaining accessible to diverse groupings of consumers and businesses, the NCT plays its  
 role in ensuring that parties have the right to equal protection and benefit of the law. Additionally, the NCT strives through  
 its value system to respect human diversity and ensure that no form of discrimination is tolerated;

• Sub-section 10: Human dignity – Through the adjudication process, the NCT ensures that prohibited conduct on the  
 part of providers of goods and services, as well as the relevant action thereto does not impair human dignity.

• Sub-section 14: Privacy – Whilst adhering to its founding legislation, and as part of the adjudicative role, the NCT  
 ensures that the privacy of persons is protected.

• Sub-section 33: Just administrative action – The NCT ensures it hears both sides to a dispute and that it issues  
 reasons for its decisions.  

2 Regulations for matters relating to the functions of the Tribunal and Rules for the conduct of matters before the National Consumer Tribunal, 2007, 
as amended the Rules of the Tribunal or NCT Rules.

ACCOUNTABILITY
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7. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
The organisational structure of the NCT as at 31 March 2014 was as follows:

* Prof Bonke Dumisa, Mr. Xolela May, Adv Frans (Fati) Manamela, Ms Penelope 
Beck, Prof Tanya Woker, Ms Laura Best, Adv Neo Sephoti, Ms Yasmin Carrim, 
Fungai Sibanda, Prof Joseph Maseko

RESPECT

Executive Chairperson
D Terblanche

Executive: Strategic Support
Vacant

Executive Assistant
Vacant

Full-time Tribunal Members
H Devraj        

J Simpson

Admin Support: Tribunal Members
T Mabandla

Personal Assistant to COO
Vacant

Chief Financial Officer
W P Strauss

Assistant
Accountant

HS Mahlabane

Finance 
Officer

I Matimbi

Senior Case
Analyst
A Burger

Case Analysts
J Naidoo
J Ferreira

Case Officers
S Nkoane
R Burger

Cleaners
E Mathobela
S Mtshweni

Records  
Officers

F Chabalala
L Bojabotseha

D Munyai

Receptionist
W Motsamai

Senior Case
Analyst
F Lockhat

Senior ICT 
Officer
Vacant

Senior Records 
Officer
S Nyathi

Admin Officer: 
Registrar
D Mosehla

Admin Officer: 
ICT & RM Unit

Vacant

Registrar
M Bosch

ICT and Records 
Management Manager  

B Nomvete

Chief Operating Officer
Vacant

Secretariat and Compliance 
Specialist

Vacant

HR Officer
V Moyo

Admin Officer:  
Corporate Support

K Buda
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The structure was approved by the dti on 1 May 2012. Minor revisions have subsequently been made to the reporting lines 
and titles in order to attract the right people at the right level so as to deliver on the NCT’s mandate. 

The structure ring-fences specific business functions which are directly impacted by growth or changes in the demand for 
NCT services. These functions include the Tribunal Members (in respect of the adjudication function), Registrar (in respect of 
case management), and Records Management.

To assist with spikes in caseloads that require capacity beyond that of its permanent staff, the NCT enrols individuals in its 
pool of contingent employees on one-year contracts. In addition, the NCT offers a one-year Internship programme. The 
number of interns remained stable over the year, but the number of legal professionals called upon varied from time to time. 

The NCT intends to further optimise its organisational structure, to effectively segregate non-compatible functions, in order 
to uphold good internal control.

RECOGNITION

NCT Management and Staff
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PART B
PERFORMANCE 
INFORMATION
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8. PERFORMANCE INFORMATION
The NCT bases its performance measurement on its legislative mandate as set out in the NCA and CPA and in its Strategic, 
Annual Performance and Business Plans for 2013 to 2016 and 2013/14 respectively. Performance targets and the budget for 
the year are based on these plans and informed by the Annual Business Plan. The NCT reports to the dti on a quarterly basis 
and aggregates these reports against the targets and the narrative on the additional matters, in order to compile its Annual 
Report and Annual Financial Statements for the accounting period.

Performance management of Tribunal Members and staff is vital to the success of the NCT as a whole and both staff members 
and Tribunal Members have a very clear understanding of their individual key performance areas and key performance 
indicators and the required performance information to support performance assessment scores. These performance 
agreements are linked to the NCT Strategy, Annual Performance Plan (APP) 
and Business Plans. In this way the NCT ensures that the risk of not meeting its 
performance targets is minimised. 

The focus during the financial year was on strengthening the performance 
management process with a focus on the establishment and maintenance of 
performance information for each individual Tribunal Member and staff.

The performance of Tribunal Members and staff was measured in accordance 
with the NCT Performance Management Policy and Procedure. The scorecards focused on key and critical key performance 
indicators (KPIs) in each position and identifying the supporting performance information required for each assessment. 
The NCT follows a risk-sharing model in terms of which 30% of an employee’s final performance rating is determined based 
on overall organisational performance and 70% of the final performance rating is determined based on the employee’s 
individual performance.  This model ensures that the NCT as a whole is accountable for achieving the targets set for the 
organisation. 

The NCT formally introduced performance contracts for Part-Time Tribunal Members. Prior to this, various change 
management processes were initiated to assist with the smooth implementation of this process. 

During the performance assessment process, each staff member conducted 
a self-assessment and rating and submitted this information with supporting 
performance information to the relevant Manager. The information was then 
reviewed and performance discussions were held with individual staff members 
in finalising the scores.

The COO’s office conducted an independent assessment of the performance 
assessments and the performance information on a sample basis, to ensure it was 
reliable, valid and accurate and supported each KPI. Managers were then required 
to consider the issues raised in the reports, adjust the assessments and amplify 
them accordingly, before submission to the HR Governance Committee as the 
external moderator. This rigorous process was followed to ensure that there was 
evidence to support the scores that were put forward and to ensure scoring was 
non-discriminatory and consistent across the NCT. 

“The focus during 
the financial year 
was on strengthening 
the performance 
management 
process....”

“This rigorous 
process was followed 
to ensure that there 
was evidence to 
support the scores 
that were put forward 
and to ensure 
scoring was non-
discriminatory and 
consistent across the 
NCT.”

RESPONSIVENESS
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PLANNING 
Manager and employee discuss, agree 
and record objectives by concluding 

a Performance Contract with clear key 
outputs  and performance indicators. 
Development Plans are identified in 
line with performance outcomes & 

skills gap.

MANAGING WEAK 
PERFORMANCE 

When an employee’s performance 
is deemed to be unsatisfactory or 
below average, the employee is 

given a documented Performance 
Improvement Plan (PIP) by his/her 

manager and an opportunity to 
demonstrate satisfactory performance. 

If after this opportunity there is still 
no improvement, the NCT Disciplinary 

Procedure is followed.

REWARDING GOOD 
PERFORMANCE 

Depending on budget availabilty, 
good performance achieved during 

the period 1 April to 31 March is 
recognised and rewarded in the form 

of an annual performance bonus.

REVIEWING PERFORMANCE 
Bi-annual Performance Reviews are 
conducted to discuss performance 

achievements in line with objectives 
and identify development needs. 

Performance Assessment Committee 
reviews and assesses the final 

Performance Reviews to ensure 
consistency, non-discrimination, 

substantiation and quality of reviews.

MONITORING PROGRESS 
Manager and employee actively review 
progress and supportive action needed 

throughout the year.

The performance management process is illustrated as follows:

APPROACHABILITY
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9. SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS
9.1 Service delivery environment

At the beginning of the financial year the global economic outlook remained 
fragile as economies continued to struggle to emerge from the 2008 recession. 
This situation had not improved substantially by the end of the financial year. 
The South Africa economy remained relatively stable for most of the duration 
of the period, but towards financial year-end several of the country’s economic 
fundamentals had begun to show signs of weakness. 

The consumer price index, nevertheless, hovered around the upper end of the 
target range throughout the year, thanks largely to the role played by the South 
African Reserve Bank’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) in managing the 
monetary environment. The repo rate, set and maintained by the MPC, influences 
prime lending by banks and is a key component of the cost of credit. The major 

advantage of South Africa’s stable monetary environment is that there was no significant increase in the demand for credit 
by the private sector, which made it easier for the MPC to keep the repo rate relatively stable for this extended period.
 
According to the Reserve Bank, general loans (mainly unsecured lending) particularly to households, continued to account 
for the bulk of the increase in credit extension during the first quarter of the financial year, although at a slower pace 
compared to the peak of 35.5% in September 2012. This trend continued throughout the year. The slow rate of growth in 
loans could explain the subdued growth in household consumption expenditure – at an average annual rate of 2.6%. A low 
rate of growth in household consumption, especially in terms of durable goods, is likely to correlate with a low volume of 
complaints lodged in terms of the CPA and therefore, in part, with the number of cases filed with the NCT. 

However, intermittent work stoppages and labour market instability meant that some consumers had difficulty honouring 
their debt obligations. An example of this is the impact of the violent and 
prolonged industrial action in the ‘Platinum Belt’ mining areas, which has clearly 
exposed the serious national risk which can be caused by uncontrolled lending 
in the unsecured loans sector. There is evidence to back the theory that the 
Marikana strike was partly influenced by the need of mine workers for more 
money in order to service their unsecured loan debts, including debts owing 
to unregistered credit providers. The direct impact of this translates into higher 
caseloads for the NCT in the form of consent orders applications for restructured 
debt, in terms of the National Credit Act. Furthermore, a high number of cases 
had to be heard involving prohibited conduct by many Marikana based credit 
providers and pawn shops. 

This added to an increasing body of evidence which shows that there is a direct correlation between a decrease in employment 
creation and the rise of incidences of prohibited conduct by certain unscrupulous credit providers. It is for this reason that 
the NCT continuously monitors the economic situation in the country.

Changes in the enforcement strategy of Regulators directly shape the type and number of cases filed with the NCT. 

“The direct impact of 
this translates into 
higher caseloads for 
the NCT in the form 
of consent orders 
applications for 
restructured debt, in 
terms of the National 
Credit Act”

“At the beginning 
of the financial year 
the global economic 
outlook remained 
fragile as economies 
continued to struggle 
to emerge from the 
2008 recession.”

ACCOUNTABILITY
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The NCT has to date not received any applications for a declaration of prohibited conduct from the NCC. All matters dealt 
with by the NCT in relation to the CPA have been referred to the NCT by consumers who have challenged the NCC’s decisions 
not to prosecute their complaints before the NCT.

It appears the enforcement strategy of the NCR focuses on investigations and in the period under review, the NCT continued 
to receive referrals for prohibited conduct and applications for the cancellation of the registration of registrants.

9.2   Organisational environment
One of the greatest difficulties facing the NCT as a result of its increased caseload is that of demand exceeding capacity. 
The implementation of the NCT’s strategy to have the right people, at the right level, at the appropriate time, against the 
backdrop of cost containment and budgetary constraints, proved to be a serious 
challenge. 

As an interim solution, peak caseloads were addressed through the contingent 
employment of legal professionals and students who received training from the 
NCT to ensure that they have the necessary competence to perform the tasks 
assigned to them. This training not only enables the young professionals and 
students to serve the NCT, but will equip them to take up other employment 
opportunities.  In addition, proposals for the implementation of an Employee 
Assistance Programme (EAP), as well as other solutions are being investigated to 
ensure that all NCT staff members are enabled to function effectively and safely 
within the existing demanding environment.

Great strides were made in the initiation of the Document Digitisation and 
Automation Project, which will ensure easy access to information, file movement 
and tracking as well as overall reporting. Change management is crucial at times when such operational improvements are 
under way and rigorous efforts were therefore made to consult with all NCT stakeholders in preparation for the improvements. 
Particular focus was placed on making stakeholders aware of the different ways in which their current work processes and 
roles will be affected by the changes. 

The NCT could not implement its space planning project during the year as anticipated, due to two major factors. Firstly, no 
responses were received to the tender issued for the construction of the new office layout. Secondly, it was uncertain as to 
whether the NCT could remain in its leased premises, due to the landlord’s inability to obtain a tax clearance certificate. The 
tax clearance certificate was provided during the latter portion of the year, allowing the NCT to proceed with negotiations to 
extend its lease agreement. The NCT is in a position to implement the space planning project during the new financial year, 
subject to receipt of appropriate tender bids.

During the year, Treasury issued cost containment instructions to all government departments and entities. Most of these 
measures had already been implemented by the NCT as part of its own saving initiatives. The remainder of the measures were 

“...to have the 
right people, at the 
right level, at the 
appropriate time, 
against the backdrop 
of cost containment 
and budgetary 
constraints, proved 
to be a serious 
challenge.”

INTEGRITY
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implemented from January 2014. On the whole, feedback from Tribunal Members and Governance Committee Members in 
relation to these measures and the effect thereof in terms of travelling economy class instead of business class, for example, 
has been positive. The NCT will monitor these measures to ensure that change management procedures are implemented 
if necessary. The remaining employees of the NCT were not significantly affected by the implementation of the measures.

9.3  Key legislation
9.3.1 Enabling legislation

The NCT was established in terms of the NCA to, amongst others, ensure fairness in the credit market. Cases are brought 
before the NCT in terms of the NCT’s Rules3 for the applicable applications and referrals. The NCT’s mandate was extended 
by the enactment of the CPA, 68 of 2008 from 1 April 2011.

9.3.2 National Credit Amendment Act, Act No. 19 of 2014

In addition to its original mandate set out in the NCA, the National Credit Amendment Act, Act No.19 of 2014, published post 
the reporting period on 19 May 2014 and still to be promulgated, will further  extend the NCT’s mandate. Specifically it will 
extend its jurisdiction to reckless credit matters and prohibited collection of prescribed debts, as well as matters involving 
payment distribution agents, and alternative dispute resolution agents (in future to be registered in terms of the amendment 
law, thus expanding the class of Registrants in terms of the NCA). The potential impact of this amendment on the NCT is 
unknown at this stage, although it is envisaged that it may radically increase its caseload. 

9.3.3 Laws impacting NCT’s operations

The NCT has a universe of legislation which is applicable from a operational perspective. As a public entity, the PFMA and 
Treasury Regulations are core legislation from a compliance perspective.

3 Regulations for matters relating to the functions of the Tribunal and Rules for the conduct of matters before the National Consumer Tribunal, 2007, as amended the 
Rules of the Tribunal or NCT Rules.

ACCOUNTABILITY

NCT EXCO Team
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10. PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY  
 PROGRAMME

10.1 Adjudication
10.1.1 Introduction

The Tribunal was established in terms of section 26 of the NCA with: 

•	 Jurisdiction throughout the Republic;
•	 The power to issue orders that have the same status as high court orders; 
•	 Non-compliance to its orders being punishable with fines and/or imprisonment; and
•	 Enforcement of its orders through the Regulators. 

The functions of the Tribunal are set out in section 27 of the NCA, namely to adjudicate on matters referred to it in terms of 
the NCA and CPA. In terms of the NCA, CPA and the NCT Rules4, there are approximately 35 different types of applications 
and 150 different types of referrals that may be brought to the NCT. The NCT’s mandate also includes reviewing decisions 
made by the NCR, the NCC and single member panels of the NCT.

Applications are brought to the Tribunal by the NCR, the NCC, consumers, credit bureaus, credit providers, debt counsellors 
and service providers. Once the National Credit Amendment Act is passed into law, this will extend to Payment Distribution 
Agents (PDAs) and Alternative Dispute Resolution Agents (ADRs). Only the NCR, NCC and, in certain cases, complainants may 
refer alleged prohibited conduct cases to the NCT for determination. If a party wishes to refer a matter to the NCT, which is 
not provided for in terms the NCT’s Rules, such a party may obtain authorisation from the High Court through an application 
to the High Court.

A
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National Credit Regulator and National Consumer 
Commission

Consumers

Service providers

Registrants, including credit bureaus, credit providers and 
debt counsellors.

4 Regulations for matters relating to the functions of the Tribunal and Rules for the conduct of matters before the National Consumer Tribunal, 2007, as amended the 
Rules of the Tribunal or NCT Rules.

ACCESSIBILITY
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The impact of the legislative changes brought about by the National Credit Amendment Act could be reflected 
diagrammatically as follows:

Reckless credit 
matters and 
prohibited 

collection of 
prescribed debts

These changes 
could lead to a 

possible increase 
in the number 
of referrals to 
the NCT with 

regard to reckless 
credit lending

Changes were 
made to a number 
of sections which 

will impact 
registrants

Alternative 
dispute resolution 

agents

Payment 
distribution agents

Matters involving 
debt counsellors 

as payment 
distribution agents

The National Credit 
Amendment Act, 

No. 19 of 2014 
Act, will further 

expand the NCT’s 
jurisdiction over:

In addition to the regular processing of Compliance Notices, applications for the cancellation of registration of debt 
counsellors and credit providers, and referrals regarding prohibited conduct by debt counsellors and credit providers, this 
was the first year since its inception that the NCR filed cases with the NCT to cancel the registration of registrants in instances 
where the annual renewal fee had not been paid. As a result of the NCT’s ruling on these matters, the registration of an 
estimated 1 500 registrants lapsed due to non-payment of fees. 

The Tribunal’s approach to adjudication is aligned with the legislative principles in section 142(1) of the NCA which mandate 
that the Tribunal conduct its hearings in a manner that is:

•	 Inquisitorial;
•	 Expeditious;
•	 Informal; and
•	 In accordance with the principles of natural justice.

ACCOUNTABILITY
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Inquisitorial
The NCT, as it is required to be inquisitorial in its approach to the matters it hears, is actively involved in the scrutinising of 
evidence put forward and clarifying with the parties and the witnesses to ensure that it reaches the correct decision. As 
commented by the Tribunal in Pillay v Wesbank, a division of First Rand Bank Ltd NCT/867/2010/128(1), the Tribunal 
must be mindful of the fact that a party or consumer is unrepresented. In this matter, the Tribunal took leave to explain to 
the Applicant the meaning of the points in limine, raised by the Respondent, to make sure that the Applicant followed and 
understood the proceedings. Due cognisance must also be taken of the fact that an unrepresented consumer will not know 
the sections of the legislation relevant to their case and the Tribunal panel therefore has to identify those for the parties. 

Expeditious
The following figures clearly reflect that the NCT achieves the expeditious resolution of cases and expedited service delivery, 
despite its increasing caseload:  

•	 Expedited service delivery is inter alia measured through the timely communication of the outcomes of initial filings  
 to filing parties from the date of receipt of the application by the NCT. This turnaround was 4.1 days on average. In an  
 endeavour to assist with the increasing number of applications filed with the NCT and occasional surges in the  
 number of applications filed, the NCT is employing temporary and student staff on Saturdays. The temporary and  
 student staff assist with the caseload, but in the event of the caseload of the Tribunal increasing at the current evident  
 rate, the sustainability of this arrangement will be reconsidered.

Inquisitorial

Expeditious
In accordance with 

the principles of 
natural justice

Informal

NCT approach to 
adjudication in 

terms of section 
142(1) of the NCA 

RESPECT
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•	 Expedited service delivery is also measured and achieved by the NCT’s turnaround time in the resolution of cases,  
 which is counted from the last day of adjudication until the judgment or ruling is issued. This turnaround time for the  
 2013/14 financial year was 31.6 days on average.
•	 The lifespan of matters from the date of the filing of an application with the Tribunal until finalisation was 3.5 months  
 on average.

Informal
The Tribunal referred to its hearings being conducted in an informal manner in Murray NO and Others v National 
Consumer Commission and Others, Auction Alliance (Pty) Ltd v National Consumer Commission and Others 
NCT/4454/2012/101(1)(P)CPA, NCT/4570/2012/101(1)(P)CPA and also referred to Rule 21(1) of the Rules of the Tribunal which 
permits the Presiding Member, at a hearing, to determine procedures to be followed at that hearing. In order to expedite the 
finalisation of the matter the Presiding Member issued the Directive, prior to the hearing of the matter on 26 June 2012, to 
afford all parties a timeous opportunity to address the Tribunal on the procedural aspects of the compliance notice, thereby 
not surprising parties on the day of the hearing with such a request. 

An informal hearing affords parties the opportunity to address various case-related issues and allows for the expeditious 
resolution of issues, without the need to comply with strict rules of evidence and procedure are therefore not strictly applied. 

The hearings of the Tribunal, are however, still open to the public unless otherwise 
determined by the Presiding Member. The adjudication of cases is not limited 
to the Tribunal Offices in Centurion and the consumer affairs offices assist the 
Tribunal in conducting its hearings in other locations.  The Tribunal has also made 
great strides in improving its accessibility and its efficiencies by introducing 
adjudication of cases via video conferencing, Skype and telephone conferencing. 
Case files allocated for adjudication are scanned into the system and accessed 
on-line by Tribunal Members for adjudication via Remote Desktop Services. 
The Tribunal also proposed an amendment to the Rules of the Tribunal to make 
provision for the filing of applications with the Tribunal by way of e-filing.

The NCT goes to great lengths prior to a hearing to ensure, via correspondence and telephonic contact that parties are 
aware of the date of the hearing to avoid applications for postponement due to a lack of preparation time and to ensure that 
parties are aware of the fact that they need to attend the hearing as set down. This also ensures that interpreters are arranged 
for timeously, where the need exists.

“An informal hearing 
affords parties 
the opportunity to 
address various 
case-related issues 
and allows for the 
expeditious resolution 
of issues”

RECOGNITION
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In accordance with the principles of natural justice 
Administrative action must be procedurally fair in terms of section 33 of the Constitution and section 3 of the Promotion of 
Administrative Justice Act, Act No. 3 of 2000 (PAJA).

PAJA provides as follows in section 3:

“3. Procedurally fair administrative action affecting any person”

(1)   Administrative action which materially and adversely affects the rights or legitimate expectations of any person  
 must be procedurally fair.
(2)   (a)  A fair administrative procedure depends on the circumstances of each case; 
 (b)     In order to give effect to the right to procedurally fair administrative action, an administrator, subject to  
  subsection (4) must give a person referred to in subsection (1) – 
  (i) adequate notice of the nature and purpose of the proposed administrative action;
  (ii) a reasonable opportunity to make representations;
  (iii) a clear statement of the administrative action;
  (iv) adequate notice of any right of review or internal appeal where applicable; and
  (v) adequate notice of the right to request reasons.”

This means that the Tribunal must ensure that the proceedings before the NCT is procedurally fair and complies with the 
principle of legality. The principle of legality requires that decisions must satisfy all legal requirements and procedures and 
should not be arbitrary or irrational. 

The Constitutional Court has confirmed the primacy of PAJA as legislation which was enacted to give effect to the  
constitutional right to fair administrative action and has stated that there is a need to read other legislation together with 
PAJA where possible. See for example Zondi v MEC for Traditional and Local Government Affairs 2005 (3) SA 589 (CC) at 
622E where the Court pointed out that PAJA was enacted pursuant to the provisions of section 33 of the Constitution (the 
Constitution of the Republic of South Africa Act 108 of 1996) which “requires the enactment of national legislation to 
give effect to the right to administrative action”. The Court also pointed out that PAJA governs all administrative action in 
general and that “(a)ll decision makers who are entrusted with the authority to make administrative decisions by any 
statute are therefore required to do so in a manner that is consistent with PAJA.”

“...the Tribunal must ensure that the proceedings before the NCT is 
procedurally fair and complies with the principle of legality...”

RESPONSIVENESS
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Redress and Enforcement
The NCT may, in terms of section 150 of the NCA, make an appropriate order or impose a remedy in relation to 
prohibited conduct or required conduct in terms of the NCA or the CPA, including:

•	 Declaring conduct to be prohibited in terms of the NCA; 
•	 Interdicting any prohibited conduct;
•	 Imposing an administrative fine in terms of Section 151, with or without the addition of any other order in terms  
 of this section;
•	 Confirming a consent agreement in terms of the NCA or CPA as an order of the Tribunal;
•	 Condoning any non-compliance of its rules and procedures on good cause shown;
•	 Confirming an order against an unregistered person to cases engaging in any activity that is required to be  
 registered in terms of the NCA;
•	 Suspending or cancelling the registrant’s registration, subject to section 57(2) and (3) of the NCA;
•	 Requiring repayment to the consumer of any excess amount charged, together with interest at the rate set out in  
 the agreement; and
•	 Any other appropriate order required to give effect to a right, as contemplated in the NCA or CPA.

Since inception of the Tribunal, 78 applications for the cancellation of the registration of debt counsellors and credit 
providers were filed with the NCT.

Administrative penalties in terms of section 151 of the NCA have been ordered in excess of R22 million to date, 
inclusive of matters where parties settled on the administrative penalty payable before the finalisation of the hearing 
of the matter. 

Substantial refunds to consumers have also been ordered by the Tribunal. 
In one of the matters where a refund has been ordered, Bornman v 
National Credit Regulator (798/12) [2013] ZASCA 130; [2014] 2 All SA 
14 (SCA); 2014 (3) SA 384 (SCA) (26 September 2013) the Supreme Court 
of Appeal upheld the ordering of the refund by the Tribunal to 4 808 
consumers that were under debt review with Mr Bornman. This refund 
was in excess of R35 million.

The Tribunal also issued its first certificate to a consumer to pursue 
damages in a civil court in accordance with section 164 of the NCA. This 
can only follow after referral of prohibited conduct by the Regulators 
or where consumers applied to the Tribunal directly for a declaration where the Regulators refused to prosecute a 
complaint by the consumer. The Tribunal has to date not received any applications for a declaration of prohibited 
conduct from the National Consumer Commission. This means that no consumer has been to date been placed in a 
position to approach the civil courts for damages in accordance with the provisions of the CPA. Consumers cannot 
claim damages in civil courts unless the Tribunal has declared such conduct to be prohibited in terms of the CPA, 
section 115(2) (b). 

“Substantial refunds 
to consumers have... 
been ordered by the 
Tribunal. ”

APPROACHABILITY
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Since its inception of the Tribunal, 7 (seven) Tribunal decisions have been taken on appeal or review to a Superior Court. 
Of these 7 matters, only one appeal has been upheld and this was at the commencement of the Tribunal’s adjudication 
mandate. The appeal provisions  are contained in section 148 of  the NCA and in addition section 165 allows for the rescission 
of orders or the variation of orders, also in the form of “mero motu corrections or out of own accord.

‘The NCT’s orders, in accordance with section 152 of the NCA, may be served, executed and enforced as it it were an order 
of the High Court and is binding on the NCR, NCC, Provincial Credit Regulators, Provincial Consumer Protection Authorities, 
Consumer Courts, ADR, Ombud with jurisdiction, Debt Counsellors and Magistrate’s Courts.

Section 160 of the NCA provides that it is an offence to contravene or fail to comply with an order of the Tribunal. Such non-
compliance must be referred to the National Prosecuting Authority by the NCR in accordance with Section 140(1) (d) of the 
NCA which provides that a complaint should be referred to the National Prosecuting Authority if the complaint concerns an 
offence in terms of the NCA.

11.1.2 Adjudication statistics

In the 2013/14 period, the NCT experienced an increase in the number, type and complexity of applications filed, both in 
terms of the CPA and the NCA. The NCT received a total of 5 386 applications for adjudication, which is a 28.4% increase 
from the previous reporting period. This number comprises inter alia of 51 NCA applications and 20 CPA applications. The 
majority of the applications (5 315) were applications to confirm DRAs as Tribunal consent orders, followed by applications 
for cancellation of registration in terms of the NCA, and applications by consumers in terms of the CPA for leave from the 
Tribunal to refer their complaints directly to the Tribunal upon the National Consumer Commission’s refusal to do so. 

During Quarter 1 of the 2013/14 financial year, the NCT received two (2) applications to review Compliance Notices issued 
by the NCC. Both of these applications were dismissed for procedural and substantive reasons. It would appear that the NCC 
ceased entirely to issue Compliance Notices or investigate complaints and that it has changed its enforcement strategy. 

The following graphs and tables reflect the type and number of applications brought before the NCT in the review period, 
with comparisons to previous review periods.
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Movement in case numbers since commencement of adjudication in 2007, has been as follows:

Breakdown of the total cases filed per year since inception in 2007 

2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

Debt re-arrangement order 
applications 

3 4 454 1 358 2 143 4 070 5 315

Complete 1 1 204 935 1 711 3 315 4 143

Incomplete 2 3 250 423 432 755 1 172

Non-debt  
re-arrangement order 
applications 

9 22 34 24 62 121 71

Complete 3 10 21 20 51 79 44

Incomplete 6 12 13 4 11 42 27

Total applications 
received per year 

23 26 488 1 382 2 205 4 193 5 386

Total applicants since inception 13 703

INTEGRITY

Total cases since inception
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A total of 71 non-DRA applications were received, consisting of 51 applications filed in terms of the NCA and 20 applications 
filed in terms of the CPA. The decrease reflected in the number of applications received from 2012/13 to 2013/14 relates 
solely to the National Consumer Commission’s ceasing to file applications for the imposition of administrative fines for 
failure to comply with a compliance notice issued and the substantial decrease in applications to review compliance notices 
issued by the National Consumer Commission.

ACCESSIBILITY
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NCA-related applications 
The NCA-related applications comprised the following:

Act 
section

Type of application in terms of the NCA No.

56(1) Application to modify or set aside a notice issued by the Regulator in terms of Section 54(1) 
or Section 55(1)

1

57(1) Application by the NCR to cancel the registration of a registrant 23

59(1) Application to review a decision of the Regulator under Chapter 3 of the Act 1

114(1) Application by a consumer to compel the production of a statement 2

115(1) Application to resolve a disputed entry to a statement 3

128(1) Application for a review of sale of goods 4

140(1) Application by the NCR at the conclusion of an investigation into a Section 136 complaint 2

141(1)(b) Referral by a complainant following the Regulator’s non-referral of a Section 136 complaint, 
with application for leave to refer 

1

148(1) Appeal to a full panel against the decision of a single member of the Tribunal 2

164 Application for a certificate of prohibited conduct 1

165 Application for variation or rescission of order 11

Total 51

TRANSPARENCY
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CPA-related applications
The CPA-related applications comprised of the following:

Act 
section

Type of application in terms of the CPA No.

70(3)(b) Application for a consent order after dispute resolved by alternative dispute resolution agent 1

74(1) Application for consent order 2

75(1)(b)
Referral by complainant following the Commission’s non-referral of a complaint other than on 
grounds contemplated in Section 116, with application for leave to refer

15

101(1) Application to review issuing of a notice in terms of Section 100 2

Total 20

It would appear that the NCC ceased entirely to issue Compliance Notices. The Tribunal has, to date, not received any 
applications for a declaration of prohibited conduct from the NCC in terms of the CPA. 

Of the 71 applications filed, 44 were completed and 27 remained incomplete at the end of the financial year. The incomplete 
applications will lapse subsequent to the period stipulated in the NCT’s Rules. Of the 44 completed matters, 20 were heard 
with requested relief granted, 13 refused, 4 withdrawn and 7  matters postponed or set down to be heard in the next financial 
year.

Consent order applications
In terms of section 138 of the NCA, an application for an order confirming a settlement is reached as a consent order of the 
Tribunal after a matter has been resolved through an ombud with jurisdiction, a consumer court or an alternative dispute 
resolution agent, or after an investigation by the NCR or/and  if the NCR and the Respondent agree to the terms of the 
proposed order. 

In accordance with the provisions of section 86 of the NCA, debt counsellors use the provisions of Section 138 to apply for 
confirmation of a DRA as a consent order of the Tribunal. In considering whether to make the DRA an (consent) order of the 
Tribunal, the Tribunal considers all aspects relating to the legality of the agreement. Amongst others, interest rates agreed 
upon and other factors such as affordability. 

Section 74 of the CPA allows for settlement agreements to be confirmed as an order of the NCT, if the NCC and a Respondent 
agree to the terms of a proposed order after an investigation by the NCC, and this is approved by the NCT. 

The majority of cases referred to the NCT during the review period were applications for confirmation of DRAs as NCT consent 
orders in terms of the NCA. Out of the 5 315 DRA applications received, 1 172 remained incomplete at the end of the 2013/14 
financial year. These cases will be closed during the next financial year, if not rendered complete before the lapsing of the 

ACCOUNTABILITY
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time period allowed through the required additional filings, as the amendments to the Rules permit the NCT to close 
cases after a specified time period if not rendered complete.

As the NCT continues to receive a large number of DRA applications, this has resulted in an increase in the number of 
applications by parties to vary or rescind Tribunal orders. Some of these applications arise  amongst others, out of the 
improvement in the financial circumstances of consumers, the fact 
that certain credit providers were omitted by the debt counsellor 
when the debt re-arrangement order was applied for, or the fact that 
the consumer has obtained a consolidation loan.

The main issues emerging from the DRA applications are:

•	 Some consumers have numerous loans for large amounts despite  
 a relatively low income; 
•	 Some consumers have numerous concurrent loans for large  
 amounts from the same credit provider;
•	 Some consumers do not have sufficient funds to meet the  
 monthly DRA instalments; and
•	 In some cases not all credit providers are included as part of the  
 DRA.

The adjudication process
The Chairperson of the Tribunal is responsible for allocating a case 
to a one- or a three-member panel of Tribunal Members, depending 
on the type of case. The location for the adjudication of cases is 
not limited to the Tribunal Offices in Centurion. The Tribunal has 
made great strides in improving its accessibility and its efficiency 
by introducing video conferencing, Skype and telephone conferencing in respect of the adjudication of its cases. 
Allocated case files for adjudication are accessed online by Tribunal Members for adjudication via secure data links.

Judgments, orders and rulings
During the year under review, the Tribunal adjudicated 71 non-DRA matters, with an average of 31.9 days to issue a 
judgment or ruling from the last date of adjudication of a matter. 

A total of 3 387 consent orders were issued to parties within an average turnaround of 5.3 days from date of receipt of 
the order from Tribunal Members at the Registrar’s Office to issuance of the orders to the parties. Of the issued orders, 
93.5% were granted. Those that were refused were refused because of inter alia excessive interest rates; loan accounts 
omitted from the agreements; and lack of affordability by the consumers.

Ms Marelize Bosch
Registrar

RESPECT
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Appeals and reviews 
Since its inception, seven (7) Tribunal decisions have been taken on appeal or review to a superior court. Of these seven 
matters, only one appeal was upheld at the commencement of the NCT’s operations.  One appeal is still to be heard. The 
Tribunal’s decisions in the remainder of the appeal/review matters have been upheld. The details of these matters are as 
follows:

No. NCT case no. High Court case no. High Court decision Date of 
judgment

1 Southern African 
Fraud Prevention 
Service Ltd v NCR 
NCT168/2009/54(1)

National Credit Regulator v Southern 
African Fraud Prevention Service Ltd 

58190/2010 (North Gauteng High Court)

Appeal Upheld May 2011

2 NCR v Christopher 
Bornman and others  
NCT/656/2010/57(1)(P)

Christopher Bornman and others v NCR 
A6/2011 (North Gauteng High Court)

Christopher Bornman and others v NCR 
798/2012 (Supreme Court of Appeal)

Appeal Dismissed

Appeal Dismissed

March 
2012

September 
2013

3 NCR v Petrus Martinus 
Ferreira  
NCT/166/2008/57(1)(P)

PM Ferreira v NCR

51467/2010 (North Gauteng High Court)

Appeal Dismissed December 
2011

4 Barko Financial Services 
(Pty) Ltd v NCR  
NCT/743/2010/56(1)(P)

Barko Financial Services (Pty) Ltd v NCR 
A499/2011 (North Gauteng High Court)

Barko Financial Services (Pty) Ltd v NCR 
415/2013 (Supreme Court of Appeal) 

Appeal Dismissed

Appeal Pending

March 
2013

5 Telegenix Trading 340 
CC v NCC and Silas 
Phadagi

NCT/8697/2013/101(1)

Telegenix Trading 340 CC v NCT, NCC and 
Phadagi 726/2014 (North Gauteng High 
Court)

The Court set aside the 
NCC’s letter/decision of 
8 April 2013. The NCT’s 
judgment remained in 
force.

April 2014

6 De Klerk v NCR

NCT/6210/2012/57(1)

De Klerk v NCT, NCR et al 33329/2013 (North 
Gauteng High Court)

The parties reached a 
settlement agreement 
which was made an 
order of the High Court. 

June 2013

7 JW van Zyl v NCR

NCT/3868/2012/57(1)

JW van Zyl v NCR

AR620/13 (KwaZulu-Natal High Court)

Pending

RECOGNITION
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High level trends 
Continuous increase in complete filings at first filing attempt.

During the review period, the percentage of applications filed and rendered complete on first attempt has grown steadily 
from 61.7% for Quarter 2 and 67.7% for Quarter 3, to 68.3% in Quarter 4. 

Whilst it is evident that the number of complete cases increases continuously, the percentage increase is marginal. In order 
to ensure expeditious resolution of cases, to give effect to effectively and efficiently managing and adjudicating cases, filing 
parties have to be trained and educated in filing with the Tribunal. It is imperative that the Tribunal participates in workshops 
and outreach initiatives hosted by the Regulators, in particular the NCR and the National Consumer Commission. It is also 
imperative that the Tribunal continues with the jointly hosted Consumer and Credit Summits as held in March 2014. 

Continuous decrease in turnaround time for case assessment

The average number of days for the assessment of cases filed with the NCT, and subsequent issuing of notices, was 4.1 days 
for 2013/14. Again the improvement was evident throughout the year, from 4.5 days in Quarter 2 to 3.9 days in Quarter 3. 
The improvement was maintained despite the increase in case numbers in Quarter 4. This performance is attributed to the 
effective resource management (through allocation of work to the student pool during spikes in caseloads), continuous 
revision and improvement of the case management processes, and strict performance management of employees. 

Since the NCT is mandated to be accessible and expeditious in its 
adjudication, it is imperative that it has the ability to expertly handle new 
and complex subject matters. An IT solution by way of a DRA Assistant was 
rolled out to Tribunal Members in December 2013, enabling them to access 
DRA applications and filings via remote desktop services, and use the system 
to adjudicate and finalise DRA matters. Currently the NCT is piloting software 
for debt counsellors to file electronically in order to cut down on the overall 
time required for the processing and adjudication of the DRA applications. 

RESPONSIVENESS

“Currently the NCT is 
piloting software for 
debt counsellors to file 
electronically in order 
to cut down on the 
overall time required 
for the processing and 
adjudication of the DRA 
applications. ”
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Lessons learnt for regulatory inputs and actions into the future 

Consumers who lodge their own applications without using legal representatives are often under the impression that they 
need only lodge the application documents and do not need to appear at the hearing. A party’s failure to appear results 
in the application being dismissed. As a result, the NCT now offers the option for parties to ‘appear’ in a hearing via remote 
access facilities such as Skype or conference calls. Parties to a matter must contact the Registrar well before the hearing date 
to arrange remote access facilities.

The NCT has added a warning on the Notice of Set Down, advising parties to appear before the Tribunal on the date of the 
hearing to avoid the application being dismissed. Unrepresented Applicants are encouraged to consult the applicable Acts, 
NCT’s Rules and previous decisions by the Tribunal, to ensure that their claims can be heard by the Tribunal and further that 
they comply with procedural requirements.

Precedents set

Applications to set aside or vary consent orders granted

In the past, the NCT received a number of applications in terms of Section 165 of the NCA, where the Applicant sought to 
have the Tribunal set aside or vary an order confirming a DRA. An example of such a case was where the Applicant’s financial 
circumstances had improved subsequent to the granting of the consent order. The Tribunal found that even if the Applicant’s 
financial situation had improved, Section 165 did not allow for the setting aside of the order. The unfortunate result was that 
a consumer, even if not experiencing financial difficulties, would have to remain under debt review until all the debts listed 
in the order were fully settled.

The amendment of Section 71 of the National Credit Act by the National Credit Amendment Act 2013 now allows for the 
issuing of a clearance certificate by the debt counsellor if the consumer has demonstrated an ability to satisfy his financial 
obligations; settled all short-term debts; and only has a mortgage agreement debt or other long-term debt remaining. 

APPROACHABILITY
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NOTABLE JUDGMENTS
National Credit Regulator vs. Lightning Cash Loans NCT/7281/2013/57(1) (P) 
NCA 

This was one of 17 applications made by the National Credit Regulator to de-register a credit 
provider due to, amongst others, the non-payment of their annual registration renewal fee 
as prescribed in the NCA and the Regulations promulgated thereunder. The Tribunal, in 
deciding the legal questions arising out of the matter, considered various relevant national 
and institutional cases and statutes to decide on the legal question of whether a registrant, 
that fails to pay its annual registration renewal fees, loses its registration automatically when 
it has failed to do so at the due date. The Tribunal found that the Respondent’s registration 
automatically lapsed when the Respondent failed to pay the annual renewal fee by the due 
date. Because the Respondent had therefore ceased to be a registered entity the Tribunal 
did not consider an application for its deregistration. On the issue of declaring the non-
submission of returns and reports to be prohibited conduct, the Tribunal concluded that the 
matter had prescribed. The Tribunal lastly found that the Applicant was not entitled to the 
payment of the annual registration for the period after the date of the automatic lapsing of 
its registration as the payment of the annual registration renewal fee establishes the status 
of the registrant and does not create a right for the payment of a registration fee to the 
Applicant. 

Coertze vs. Young NCT/7142/2012/73(3) &75(1) (b) & (2)

The Applicant received a letter of non-referral from the NCC and then applied to the Tribunal 
for leave to hear her case.Briefly, the background to this matter is that during May 2011 
the parties agreed that Ms Young would provide certain services to the Applicant entailing 
the development, production and marketing of a cleaning product to a hotel group. The 
amount of R20 000 was paid in advance to Ms Young for the services. During August 2011 
the relationship between the parties soured and they agreed that Ms Young would repay R17 
000 to the Applicant. The payment was not made and the Applicant approached the NCC 
which arranged a conciliation meeting for the parties. This again resulted in the Respondent 
agreeing to repay R17 000, but again the payment was not made. The NCC subsequently 
issued a letter stating that it would not deal with the matter any further. The Applicant 
lodged an application with the Tribunal requesting that the Tribunal hear the matter. The 
Tribunal found that the Applicant’s claim fell under the CPA and granted leave for the matter 
to be heard. The Tribunal found that the Respondent had not rendered a quality service as 
required by Section 54(1) of the CPA. In terms of Section 54(1) the Applicants could insist on 
the defective service being remedied or on a refund of a reasonable amount paid for the 
services. The Tribunal ordered the Respondent to pay R17 000 to the Applicant as agreed to 
between the parties previously. 

INTEGRITY
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National Credit Regulator vs. Louhen Consultants cc NCT/6752/2012/57(1) (P) 
NCA

This was an application for de-registration of a credit provider by the NCR, due to the 
Respondent’s contraventions of the NCA. Amongst others, these included demanding that 
consumers provide the Respondent with certain instruments or reveal their PIN numbers; not 
conducting the required pre-agreement assessments; and charging interest rates in excess of 
the amounts prescribed in the NCA. The Respondent was at the time deregistered as a Close 
Corporation with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission (CIPC) though it 
remained a registered entity with the NCR. The Tribunal found that the NCA does not provide 
for the lapsing of registration or the removal of the registrant’s name in circumstances where 
the registrant is still paying its registration fees, even though it may have ceased to exist as a 
legal entity. The Tribunal did not impose an administrative penalty as it was not satisfied that 
the Applicant put forward the necessary evidence in this regard. The Tribunal cancelled the 
registration of the Respondent and declared the conduct complained about to be prohibited.  

National Credit Regulator vs. Johan Walter van Zyl NCT/3868/2012/57(1) (P) NCA

This was an application brought by the NCR for deregistration of a debt counsellor, after an 
investigation between 2007 and 2010 by the NCR into complaints lodged by consumers against 
the Respondent. In its application to the Tribunal, the Applicant alleged that the Respondent 
collected payments from consumers under debt review and distributed the payments 
to credit providers (contrary to its conditions of registration); failed to use the prescribed 
forms; and failed to register consumers who applied for debt review with the credit bureaus. 
Following investigations, the Applicant issued a Compliance Notice against the Respondent 
who then failed to comply with the Compliance Notice.  The Applicant and the Respondent 
subsequently reached a settlement agreement, which was confirmed as an order of the 
Tribunal. Follow-up investigations were conducted which revealed that the Respondent 
continued to act as a Payment Distribution Agent without obtaining approval from the NCR. 
Regulation 11 of the NCA provides that a debt counsellor who intends to receive monies on 
behalf of consumers and distribute those funds to Credit Providers, is required to advise the 
NCR of its intention to receive and or distribute funds. This Respondent did not do so. After 
hearing the matter, the Tribunal found that the Respondent was prohibited by his conditions of 
registration from performing the functions of a Payment Distribution Agent. The Respondent 
also failed to comply with an order of the Tribunal.  After considering the mitigating and 
aggravating factors in deciding on the imposition of an administrative penalty, the Tribunal 
found the conduct of the Respondent as well as the non-adherence to an order of the Tribunal 
to be further serious aggravating factors.  The Tribunal cancelled the registration of the Debt 
counsellor, declared the conduct to be prohibited and imposed an administrative penalty of  
R1 000 000.

ACCESSIBILITY
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National Credit Regulator vs. Bonney Tebogo Dioka NCT/7750/2012/57(1) (P) 
NCA

The Applicant filed an application for deregistration of a debt counsellor.  The matter was 
unopposed. The Applicant indicated that the Respondent repeatedly contravened the 
NCA by abandoning consumers and leaving his practice to be attended to by a paralegal/
person not competent to act as a debt counsellor; received funds from consumers and 
then failed to distribute the funds; made an undertaking to refund a consumer and failed 
to do so; and was untraceable when consumers tried to contact him. One of the requests 
of the Applicant was for the Tribunal to refund the consumer the amount paid to the debt 
counsellor in order to “give effect to the consumer’s rights in terms of the Act”. The Tribunal 
found that the NCA does not specifically provide for the right to a refund in instances where 
the debt counsellor has misappropriated funds. The Tribunal is empowered however, to 
order a refund of any excess amount charged. This excess amount could include legal 
fees, debt counselling fees, administrative fees, etc. Therefore section 150(h) provides 
for an award of restitution.  Section 164 of the Act empowers the civil courts to award 
compensatory damages. The Respondent’s registration was cancelled and his conduct 
declared as prohibited. The consumer will have to obtain a certificate from the Chairperson 
in order to claim damages in the civil courts.

Primi World (Pty) Ltd vs. NCC NCT/4740/2012/101(1) (P) CPA

The Applicant filed an application to have a Compliance Notice issued by the NCC set aside.  
The matter was unopposed.  The Applicant submitted that the franchise fee had been paid 
in October 2008, two (2) years before the general effective date of the CPA, and that the 
Respondent therefore did not have jurisdiction to investigate this complaint. The Tribunal 
found that the CPA does not apply to the franchise agreement as it was entered into before 
the effective date of the CPA, i.e. before 31 March 2011 and furthermore sections 40, 48, 51 
and 65 cannot be applied retrospectively. In this matter the lawfulness of the Applicant’s 
cancellation of the franchise agreement had been aired before the High Court previously. 
The High Court made a determination that the Applicant’s Cancellation Clause was not 
unlawful and the Tribunal is not mandated to deal with contractual disputes as per section 
52 of the CPA (Inye Amusements cc v Many Colour Restaurant (Pty) Ltd).  Following its 
consideration the Tribunal cancelled the Compliance Notice and made a finding that the 
Respondent is not empowered to cancel a contract or order a refund. 

Moleme vs. WesBank NCT/8589/2013/165(1) (P) NCA 

The Applicant requested the Tribunal to vary an order confirming his DRA as an order of the 
Tribunal. The Applicant submitted that the order made did not refer to two loan agreements 
that should have been included in the original application. The Tribunal found that the 
initial order was granted correctly based on the information provided in the application 
at the time. The Tribunal found that section 165 did not allow for the varying of an order 
under these circumstances. The application was therefore dismissed.

TRANSPARENCY
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Senatle vs. MFC and Others NCT/6786/2012/165(1) (P); Fourie vs. 
Nedbank NCT/8255/2013/165(1); and Botha vs. Experato and Others 
NCT/10122/2013/148(1) P 

In all the above-mentioned matters the Applicants failed to appear at the hearing, despite 
being advised of the location, date and time of the hearing.

Rule 24 allows the Tribunal to dismiss an application if the Applicant fails to appear.

In all three matters the Presiding Member was satisfied that the Applicant was properly 
informed of the location, date and time of the hearing. The applications lodged were 
therefore dismissed. 
 
Accordian Investments t/a Tata SA vs. NCC NCT/3948/2012/101(1) (P)

This was an application to cancel a Compliance Notice that was issued by the Respondent.  
The Applicant submitted that the Respondent did not have jurisdiction in this matter 
because the subject matter of the Compliance Notice took place prior to the effective 
date of the CPA and an investigation had not been conducted. The Tribunal considered 
the applicability of section 55 and section 56 of the CPA as the problems experienced with 
the vehicle continued after March 2011. While these sections may find applicability, in this 
particular case there was no evidence or specific argument placed before the Tribunal to 
make such a finding. The Tribunal found that the CPA is not applicable as the purchase of 
the vehicle took place prior to the general effective date of the Act.  The Compliance Notice 
was cancelled.

De Souza vs. Standard Bank NCT/9176/2013/165(1) (P) NCA 

The Applicant requested the Tribunal to rescind an order confirming her DRA as an order 
of the Tribunal. The Applicant had received an insurance pay-out and wanted to pay the 
entire sum into her home loan account so as to reduce the monthly payments required. The 
credit provider would only agree to reduce the monthly repayments if the home loan was 
excluded from the debt review order. The Tribunal found that section 165 did not allow for 
the varying or rescission of an order under these circumstances and the application was 
dismissed. 

Phoffa vs. Peugeot NCT/7147/2012/75(1) (b) (P) CPA; Oosthuizen vs. 
N NCT/7652/2013/75(1) (b) & (2) CC Mathongwane vs. Woodgreen; 
NCT/8441/2013/75(1) (b) CPA and Makkink vs. Accordian NCT/8473/2013/75(1)

In all the above-mentioned matters the Applicants applied to the Tribunal for leave to refer 
a matter directly to the Tribunal after receipt of a notice of non-referral by the NCC in terms 
of section 75(1) (b) of the CPA. After considering the applications, the Tribunal was unable 
to grant leave due to reasons such as the fact that the dispute had arisen before the CPA 

ACCOUNTABILITY
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came into effect; the claim had prescribed; and the Applicant had not lodged the application 
within 20 business days after the date of the notice of the non-referral, as required by the 
Tribunal rules. In one case the Applicant had not applied to the Tribunal to condone the late 
filing of the application in terms of the Rules of the Tribunal.  

Byleveld vs. Execor Twelve NCT/10686/2013/75(1)

The Applicant lodged a complaint with the NCC arising out of defects and expenses incurred 
in respect of a vehicle the Applicant had bought from the Respondent. The NCC refused 
to deal with the matter and issued a notice stating that the dispute had arisen prior to the 
CPA coming into effect. The Tribunal found that although the notice issued to the Applicant 
did not fully comply with the CPA it was sufficiently compliant for the Tribunal to consider 
the application for leave to refer the matter directly to the Tribunal. The Tribunal found that 
the dispute had in fact arisen after the CPA came into effect and the CPA was applicable. 
The Tribunal granted leave to hear the matter and considered the merits of the application. 
The Tribunal found that the Respondent had contravened section 55(1) of the CPA in that it 
had not supplied goods which were safe and of good quality. The respondent had further 
contravened section 54(1) of the CPA in that it had not provided quality services to the 
Applicant. The Tribunal ordered the Respondent to pay R33 000 to the Applicant. 

Dorasamy vs. Manzise (Cash Converters) NCT/6537/2012/99(2) P      

The Applicant in this matter pledged a 24 carat gold necklace to the Respondent (a pawn 
broker) as security for two separate loans totalling R800. Before the payment on the second 
loan was due the Applicant settled the loans in full and demanded his necklace back. The 
Applicant was then informed by the Respondent that the necklace could not be found. The 
Applicant demanded the market value of the necklace which he alleged was R10 886. The 
Respondent offered to settle the claim by paying an amount of R10 486 which was the market 
value less the R400 originally borrowed. The Applicant accepted the offer in writing and the 
amount was paid into his account. At a later stage the Applicant informed the Respondent 
that he no longer accepted the payment as he believed that the Tribunal would award him 
twice the market value of the necklace. The Respondent did not accept the repudiation of 
the settlement. The Applicant subsequently lodged an application with the Tribunal asking 
for an award of twice the market value of the necklace. The Tribunal found that the dispute 
between the parties regarding the amount to be refunded had already been settled in 
accordance with section 99(2) (a). The Tribunal therefore dismissed the application. 

Sikosana vs. FirstRand NCT/2800/2011/128(1) NCA; NCT/4044/2012/128(1) P 
N.2012 Francis vs. Absa NCT/3907/2012/128(1) (P) NCA; Yako vs. Mercedes 
Benz; Buunk vs. Wes Bank NCT/6827/2012/128(1) (P) NCA; and Mabuza vs. 
Nedbank7143/2012/128(1)

In all the above-mentioned matters the Applicants lodged an application with the Tribunal 
to review the sale of ‘repossessed’ goods sold by a credit provider. The Tribunal dismissed 
the applications for various reasons including the fact that section 128 of the NCA does 

RESPECT
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not apply to immovable property and as a result the Tribunal would not be able to review 
the sale of a “repossessed” home. Section 128 requires that the consumer first attempts to 
resolve the dispute with the Credit Provider before applying for a review and where there is 
no evidence of this having been done; the Tribunal is unable to consider the application. In 
another matter the Applicant was unable to provide evidence to show that the goods were 
not sold as soon as reasonably practical or for the best price reasonably obtainable by the 
respective Credit Providers. 

Mdletshe vs. Mercedes Benz NCT/9163/2013/128(1) (P) NCA 

The Applicant applied to the Tribunal to review the sale of a “repossessed” vehicle that was 
sold by the Respondent at a public auction. He alleged that the Respondent had sold the 
vehicle for less than the market value and hence it was not sold for the best price reasonably 
obtainable as required by section 128. The Applicant alleged a retail value of the vehicle of 
R224 000 and a trade value of R187 700 and that accordingly the market value should be 
between these two amounts. As the vehicle was sold at a public auction for R74 010, he 
maintained the vehicle was sold below market value. The Tribunal found that the Applicant 
was unable to show that he had first attempted to resolve the dispute with the Respondent 
as required by section 128 and therefore the application could not be considered. The 
Tribunal however decided to evaluate the merits of the matter in any event. The Tribunal 
considered relevant local and international law and could not find any requirement that a 
credit provider must sell goods for a similar value to the value that a dealer in such goods 
would be able to obtain under normal “willing buyer” and “willing seller” market conditions. 
The Tribunal further found that it was purely speculative to state that the vehicle in question 
could be valued in accordance with the amounts stated in the guide without any evidence 
to show the condition of the vehicle. The application was dismissed. 

Krige vs. Direct Axis and Others NCT/7267/2012/148(1) (P) NCA

The Applicant in this matter lodged an appeal to a full panel of the Tribunal against the 
decision of a single Tribunal Member’s refusal to make a DRA an order of the Tribunal. The 
Member refused the initial application on the basis that the Member was unable to confirm 
whether the consumer could in fact afford the agreed new repayments on the loans.  The 
full panel of the Tribunal, on appeal, found that a single Member may require evidence of 
the consumer’s income and expenditure, but in accordance with the audi alteram principle, 
should advise the Applicant of the additional information requirements. The Tribunal 
therefore upheld the appeal and the refusal of the debt re-arrangement order by the single 
Member was set aside and the debt re-arrangement applied for, as an order of the Tribunal, 
was granted.

RECOGNITION
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SA Taxi Development vs. MD Jaeme NCT/5621/2012/165(1) (P) NCA

The Applicant applied for the rescission of an order which confirmed a DRA as an order 
of the Tribunal. The Applicant submitted evidence that showed that the acceptance letter, 
submitted by the Debt counsellor as proof that the Credit Provider accepted the offer, was 
not genuine. The Applicant would be taking the matter against the debt counsellor further 
with the relevant regulator. The Tribunal found that the acceptance letter was not genuine 
and that the original order was therefore granted erroneously. The application was granted 
and the DRA was set aside in terms of Section 165(1).

Cane vs. Standard Bank NCT/7637/2013/165

The Applicant requested the Tribunal to rescind an order confirming his DRA as an order 
of the Tribunal. During the hearing it became clear that the Applicant had already settled 
all his debts except for his home loan, at the time that the order was granted. The Tribunal 
found that the Applicant was therefore not experiencing difficulties in satisfying his financial 
obligations at the time the order was granted and that the order had therefore been sought 
erroneously. The Tribunal granted the application and rescinded the order in terms of 
section 165 (a). 

Mncube vs. Nedbank NCT/9529/2013/165(1)(P)NCA

The Applicant requested the Tribunal to rescind the order confirming her DRA as an order 
of the Tribunal. A credit provider was willing to grant the Applicant a consolidation loan 
which would allow her to settle all her debts under the debt review order, leaving her with a 
single loan agreement. The Tribunal found that section 165 did not allow for the varying or 
rescission of an order under these circumstances and the application was dismissed.

RESPONSIVENESS
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10.2 Information and Communication Technology
The enhancement of operational efficiencies is a core challenge facing the NCT. As a result, a full-time ICT Manager was 
appointed to devote attention to the ICT function. Some core business processes have been automated to improve access 
and introduce efficiencies and key enabling projects implemented in this regard include:

• An automated system for debt re-arrangement agreement adjudication, with remote 
connectivity. The components of this system included development of a script to automatically 
generate case file numbers for newly filed applications, installation and configuration of the Microsoft 
Remote Desktop services tool, the setting up of a windows explorer folder structure for each Tribunal 
Member where the case files are made available electronically for them to adjudicate on. The main 
benefit of the system is that it obviates the need for a courier to physically transport the files to and 
from a Tribunal Member, thus saving time and costs since members are spread in different locations 
throughout the country.

• An online tool for electronic data capture of debt re-arrangement agreement 
information. This system is Excel spreadsheet-based and is prepopulated with a custom field format 
in which case data is entered. The information includes debt counsellor, consumer and credit provider 
details including the debt profile. Once the relevant information is entered the draft consent order is 
automatically generated. This facility also assists the Tribunal Member in achieving faster turnaround 
times on the adjudication of cases.

• A document management and collaboration tool for the sharing of resources. This 
includes document tracking and audit trails and entailed the acquisition, installation and configuration 
of the Microsoft tool, SharePoint, which is a web based tool allowing for the sharing of resources. Its 
main function is to allow for any file to be accessed in a controlled manner by multiple users. A site 
for each NCT functional area has been set up and on an ongoing basis documents and records are 
uploaded into the system.

• An enhanced security system to track user file access, specifically who has accessed 
what and when. The initiative to move towards an electronic environment gave rise to the need to 
be able to track file movements more accurately once they have been digitised. The system records 
movement details of all electronic files, identified as they are accessed or moved from location to 
location.
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• An online knowledge management repository with document uploads and search 
capabilities. This facility was created in the SharePoint system and documents such as research papers 
articles, etc, are uploaded and indexed for easy and fast retrieval on user request.

• Automated tools for network and infrastructure monitoring to provide increased 
availability to users. Systems uptime is viewed as critical to NCT users and requires reliability of the 
hardware, network and applications infrastructure. It was seen as imperative to have software tools 
to provide ongoing monitoring of systems components thus providing for an effective preventative 
maintenance approach. Microsoft Systems Configuration and Operations Manager was acquired 
installed and configured to fulfil this function. The key advantage is that the system is pre-emptive thus 
ensuring that alerts on a faulty component are generated before total failure and enabling action to be 
taken before downtime is incurred.

• Increased access to users through network connectivity tools that allow for a variety 
of types of devices (e.g. laptops, IPads, Apple Macs). The Microsoft Remote Desktop Services 
system which is installed and configured provides the ability for connectivity into the NCT Microsoft 
Windows   “server farm” using either Apple, Open systems, or Windows based operating systems 
with a wide variety of devices and comprehensive security built in. This means that the systems and 
applications requested by the user are easily accessed. Audit trails are built in to the system for effective 
management of the environment.

10.3  Records Management
Key focus areas for the Records Management Unit in the year were the 
digitisation of records, both case and operational; the streamlining and 
optimisation of key functions, including file movement and tracking to 
improve additional filing, file requests, and updating of the inventory 
processes; and the revamping of the records inventory to ensure that 
it accurately reflects the records created and in use.

In terms of the digitisation of records, a project was undertaken to 
digitise 50% of the case files received (DRA and non-DRA) since the 
beginning of the financial year (1 April 2013). 

Mr Bax Nomvete
ICT & Records Management Manager
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This target was exceeded, as is illustrated by the table below.

No Type of 
cases

Number 
of cases 
received

Number 
of cases 
scanned

Percentage 
digitisation

1 Non-DRA 67 42 62.68%

2 DRA 5 319 3 487 65.55%

 Total 5 386 3 529 65.52%

 
Once an application or an additional filing submission is received by the NCT the hard copy file is scanned in and stored 
electronically on the system, thus allowing for users to view files electronically rather than via hard copy.

With the streamlining and optimisation of key functions, a project was undertaken to identify the key procedures and 
controls that need to be introduced to improve the quality of records handling operations. This included ensuring that all 
key operational performance information pertaining to records handling and management are accurately recorded.

 
Areas identified for improvement included:

•	 Turnaround times with respect to the filing of applications by filing parties;
•	 Turnaround times relating to the servicing of file requests;
•	 Turnaround times and accuracy in respect of the updating of the records inventory;
•	 Turnaround times and accuracy of archiving of records and files;
•	 Accuracy of the tracking of file movements through the timeous updating of file issue cards that signify the whereabouts  
 of the file;
•	 Revision of the file plan to incorporate better indexing of records for retrieval purposes;
•	 Accuracy and completeness in the scanning of case file records (digitisation); and
•	 Security via audit trails and electronic accessibility of records.

Initial focus was on case file records and work will now proceed on improving the above areas with regards to operational 
records.

INTEGRITY
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10.4  Finance
The Finance Strategy of the NCT has been developed to ensure that the NCT 
is financially sustainable. The Finance Unit fulfils a supportive role by:

•	 Providing sound advice and delivering excellence in its functional  
 services; 
•	 Maintaining effective controls and high standards of corporate  
 governance; and 
•	 Investigating and delivering on alternative ways of containing costs  
 and/or generating funds to ensure the financial sustainability of the  
 NCT.

As such, the Finance Unit has ensured that:

•	 The Medium Term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) and Estimates of  
 National Expenditure (ENE) submissions were made on time and the  
 grant allocation to the NCT could therefore be substantiated  
 accordingly; 
•	 All statutory submissions were submitted on time in compliance with  
 the PFMA; and
•	 All management accounts, with variance explanations for the 2013/14 financial year, were submitted on time to the dti  
 as per the Shareholder Compact. 

In terms of day-to-day operations, all undisputed invoices for the year under review were paid within a 30-day period and no 
instances of irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure were identified. 

The Finance Unit has monitored adherence by suppliers to their service 
level agreements to ensure value for money procurement. Good cash flow 
management has ensured that surplus funds were invested in the Corporation 
for Public Deposits account with the Reserve Bank to maximise interest 
earned. The cost containment measures introduced by National Treasury 
were implemented in December 2013 and other areas were also identified 
where the NCT could save costs or realise efficiency gains such as:

•	 The use of the Gautrain to and from the airport instead of shuttles or rented vehicles;
•	 Assistance to the Registry Manager to negotiate a substantial reduction in office rental from 1 September 2014;
•	 The moving of cost from high cost centres to lower cost centres by increasing the involvement of lower paid personnel  
 on case file preparation instead of higher paid NCT Members;
•	 Procuring certain items from specialist suppliers rather than general suppliers;
•	 Reviewing policies with other managers to identify policy changes than can save cost and enhance efficiencies or  
 cost of compliance;
•	 Interfacing the payroll system with the banking system to reduce bank charges; and 
•	 Drafting a Consultancy Reduction Plan for 2014/15.

Mr Willie Strauss 
Chief Financial Officer

“The Finance Strategy 
of the NCT has been 
developed to ensure that 
the NCT is financially 
sustainable”.

ACCESSIBILITY
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The Finance Unit also drafted a request for additional funding that was 
submitted to National Treasury In July 2013 and which resulted in the entity 
receiving an additional R9 million over the 2015–2017 MTEF periods. This 
is crucial given the rapid growth in caseload and the staff complements 
necessary to deal with it. 

Management of the finances of the NCT on a reactive and proactive basis is 
essential. In this regard, spending was monitored to ensure that it remains in 
line with the budget. Variances were investigated and corrective action was 

implemented when necessary. Formal financial forecasting models were implemented to determine where budgets were 
heading to ensure that the NCT apply sound financial discipline and to achieve cost savings wherever it was possible. Going 
forward, there remains the possibility that the NCT may request additional funding from the dti as needs change and if 
caseloads grow by more than the anticipated 30% growth rate.

10.5  Human Resources
The Human Resources Management function within the office of the COO 
continued to provide human resource and employee relations support to 
the NCT. In the second quarter of the year, management reviewed the role 
of Human Resources Management in the organisation, given the strategic 
direction of the NCT and the drive to improve performance through ICT 
enablement and digitisation of key operations.  

As a result of the review it was deemed necessary to appoint an HR 
Manager in the next financial year, to drive an HR Strategy and Plan that 
is responsive to organisational changes from a strategic level. The NCT 
is growing operationally and it is therefore necessary for the HR focus of 
capacity development to shift to one of human capital development and 
organisational design and development.

To maximise and strengthen employee performance at the NCT, the HR Unit 
continued to ensure that the performance management and performance 
information reporting policy and procedures were optimally implemented 
and that the performance framework was adhered to. A guideline document 
on the processing and recording of performance information was developed 
to assist employees to process and record performance information on a 

regular basis. This information is stored and archived in both hard and soft copy format and forms part of the HR records of 
the NCT. In terms of performance management, HR ensured that performance agreements are in place and that performance 
was monitored on a regular basis. 

The NCT is a strong supporter of continued learning and development in order to build a solid knowledge base within 
the organisation. Staff members are encouraged to belong to professional organisations and to continue their professional 
development. Training and development continued to be a focus of the HR function for the year under review, and in order 

“Management of the 
finances of the NCT on 
a reactive and proactive 
basis is essential”.

Mrs Hazel Devraj  
COO until July 2013

TRANSPARENCY
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to establish and nurture a solid, precedent-setting team of adjudicators, a 
number of capacity building workshops were held. 

HR provided guidance on employee relations to ensure that good relations 
were maintained between employees and Management. To this effect, all 
employee relations matters were dealt with in accordance with the relevant 
policies. There were no unresolved issues for the period under review. 

As an entity of the dti, and a strong believer in workplace democracy and 
healthy labour relations, the NCT was also involved in the establishment of 
a Collective Bargaining Forum. 

The purpose of this forum is to:

•	 Promote orderly labour relations across all the dti entities; 
•	 Address inconsistencies in salaries and working conditions; 
•	 Minimise labour conflict and disputes;
•	 Promote workplace democracy;
•	 Promote effective communication at all levels; and
•	 Improve organisational efficiencies. 

ACCOUNTABILITY

“The NCT is a 
strong supporter of 
continued learning and 
development  ”.

NCT Management and Staff
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11. PERFORMANCE AGAINST PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES
The various strategies put in place, together with the commitment of the Tribunal Members and staff, contributed to the NCT achieving all nine (9) of its measurable objectives. The Tribunal achieved two (2) objectives (22%) and exceeded seven (7) objectives (78%). 

Strategic 
goals

Measurable objective Outputs Key performance indicator Planned annual 
target

Baseline Actual achievement Comments on deviations

To adjudicate 
cases 
effectively and 
efficiently

To ensure timely 
communication with filing 
parties regarding status of 
initial filing

Filing parties are 
communicated with in 
accordance with standards 
set in documented case 
management process

Average number of days for communicating 
with filing parties 

≤ 5 working days 5 days Q1 = 4 days,                            Q2 = 4.5 days,                        
Q3 = 3.9 days,                        Q4 = 4 days.                       
Annual  
Performance = 4.1 days

Case processes resulted in greater 
efficiencies. 

To ensure high quality case 
preparation

Tribunal Member 
satisfaction with the quality 
of case information and 
preparation

Average % satisfaction as scored by Tribunal 
Members in their quantitative and qualitative 
evaluation of case preparation

80% New indicator Q1 = 90%,                                Q2 = 90%,                                 
Q3 = 90%,                                Q4 = 89%.                       
Annual  
Performance = 90%

Case processes and support 
provided to Tribunal Members 
was of high quality and resulted in 
greater than expected satisfaction.

To ensure timely issuance of 
judgments

Judgments issued in an 
expeditious and timely 
manner

Average number of days for judgments to be 
issued – from last date of adjudication to issuance 
to parties

≤40 days 40 days Q1 = 15 days,                          Q2 = 23 days,                          
Q3 = 33 days,                          Q4 = 39 days.                       
Annual Performance = 31.9 days

Case processes resulted in greater 
efficiencies. 

To ensure sound, high quality 
adjudications 

% of decisions overturned 
on appeal or review over 
three- year rolling period

% of decisions overturned on appeal or review Less than 20% Less than 20% 0,03% Implementation of quality 
assurance processes contribute to 
sound decisions made.

To contribute 
to an effective 
and efficient 
Consumer 
regulatory 
system

To increase parties’ access to 
the workings of the NCT 

An increased number of 
channels for access and 
communication with par-
ties

Number of approved proposals for new access 
channels (2013-2014) 

One research proposal 
for alternate access 
channels approved

New indicator 1 Research proposal for alternate access 
channels approved

n/a

To contribute to effective policy 
development by the dti

Regular reports analysing 
trends in cases brought 
before the NCT

Number of Quarterly Trend Reports submitted per 
annum to the dti

4 Quarterly Trend 
Reports delivered 
timeously to the dti

New indicator 4 Quarterly Trend reports submitted n/a

Sound organisa-
tional manage-
ment

To ensure that the right people 
are in the right place at the 
right time for the NCT to deliver 
in accordance with its mandate

Positions timeously filled 
with competent people

% of positions on approved organisational 
structure filled at end of year

70% of positions in 
approved structure 
filled at year end

85% (Full new structure 
only implemented in 
2013 - 2014, resulting in 
higher vacancies)

Q1 = 87%,                                Q2 = 78%,                                 
Q3 = 75%,                                Q4 = 80%.                       
Annual Performance = 80%

Streamlined recruitment process.

To implement an ICT 
architecture that enables the 
NCT to deliver efficiently and 
effectively on its mandate

Level of ICT functionality 
designed and deployed

% of defined users provided with remote desktop 
services

75% by end March 2014 New indicator 100% of defined users and an additional 
three users provided with remote desktop 
services

ICT was able to provide 100% 
of defined users with remote 
desktop services to enable roll-
out of the DRA Assistant. Three 
operational users also provided 
with remote desktop services due 
to operational requirements.

To ensure that all records are 
accessible, complete and secure

Accessibility, completeness 
and accuracy of records 
inventory

% digitisation of case files 50% of new cases filed 
digitally with the NCT 
by the end of March 
2014

New indicator 65.52% of cases filed digitised Streamlined processes resulted in 
greater efficiencies.
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11. PERFORMANCE AGAINST PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES
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Case processes resulted in greater 
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Q3 = 90%,                                Q4 = 89%.                       
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Performance = 90%

Case processes and support 
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greater than expected satisfaction.

To ensure timely issuance of 
judgments

Judgments issued in an 
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manner

Average number of days for judgments to be 
issued – from last date of adjudication to issuance 
to parties

≤40 days 40 days Q1 = 15 days,                          Q2 = 23 days,                          
Q3 = 33 days,                          Q4 = 39 days.                       
Annual Performance = 31.9 days

Case processes resulted in greater 
efficiencies. 

To ensure sound, high quality 
adjudications 

% of decisions overturned 
on appeal or review over 
three- year rolling period

% of decisions overturned on appeal or review Less than 20% Less than 20% 0,03% Implementation of quality 
assurance processes contribute to 
sound decisions made.

To contribute 
to an effective 
and efficient 
Consumer 
regulatory 
system

To increase parties’ access to 
the workings of the NCT 

An increased number of 
channels for access and 
communication with par-
ties

Number of approved proposals for new access 
channels (2013-2014) 

One research proposal 
for alternate access 
channels approved

New indicator 1 Research proposal for alternate access 
channels approved

n/a

To contribute to effective policy 
development by the dti

Regular reports analysing 
trends in cases brought 
before the NCT

Number of Quarterly Trend Reports submitted per 
annum to the dti

4 Quarterly Trend 
Reports delivered 
timeously to the dti

New indicator 4 Quarterly Trend reports submitted n/a

Sound organisa-
tional manage-
ment

To ensure that the right people 
are in the right place at the 
right time for the NCT to deliver 
in accordance with its mandate

Positions timeously filled 
with competent people

% of positions on approved organisational 
structure filled at end of year

70% of positions in 
approved structure 
filled at year end

85% (Full new structure 
only implemented in 
2013 - 2014, resulting in 
higher vacancies)

Q1 = 87%,                                Q2 = 78%,                                 
Q3 = 75%,                                Q4 = 80%.                       
Annual Performance = 80%

Streamlined recruitment process.

To implement an ICT 
architecture that enables the 
NCT to deliver efficiently and 
effectively on its mandate

Level of ICT functionality 
designed and deployed

% of defined users provided with remote desktop 
services

75% by end March 2014 New indicator 100% of defined users and an additional 
three users provided with remote desktop 
services

ICT was able to provide 100% 
of defined users with remote 
desktop services to enable roll-
out of the DRA Assistant. Three 
operational users also provided 
with remote desktop services due 
to operational requirements.

To ensure that all records are 
accessible, complete and secure

Accessibility, completeness 
and accuracy of records 
inventory

% digitisation of case files 50% of new cases filed 
digitally with the NCT 
by the end of March 
2014

New indicator 65.52% of cases filed digitised Streamlined processes resulted in 
greater efficiencies.
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12. CHANGES TO PLANNED TARGETS
During the year under review, approval for amendments to the NCT’s APP for the period 2013/14–2015/16 was requested. 
The NCT initially set itself a target to determine its ICT Readiness Score. In order to set the baseline for this target, an expense 
in the amount of approximately R800 000 would have had to be incurred, which would have impacted negatively on the 
NCT’s budget.

The NCT introduced a number of interventions as part of its cost-saving initiatives. However, in order to utilise these 
interventions optimally, the digitisation of records was required. It was therefore determined that a more appropriate records 
management target would be a measure of the percentage of records digitised.

The specific indicators affected and the changes thereto are indicated below:

•	 “% increase on the baseline score on Information Capital Readiness Index” changed to “% of defined users provided with  
 remote desktop services”; and
•	 “Number of instances where records were not provided within prescribed timeframes” and “Number of instances of  
 records not captured accurately on records inventory” changed to “% of records digitised”.

These changes were approved by the Executive Authority and accordingly the NCT reports on its performance in this report 
against the amended targets.

13. LINKING PERFORMANCE WITH BUDGETS
The budgeted expenses per activity compared to the actual expenses for the 2013/14 financial year are set out in the table 
below:

Expenditure 2013/14

Programme/
activity

Budget

R

Actual

R

(Over)/under

R

Adjudication 19 041 626 17 404 290 1 637 336

Administration 21 494 849 21 535 335    (40 486)

Total 40 536 475 38 939 625 1 596 850

As can be seen from the information above, the NCT spent its budget on the administration activity but underspent on its 
adjudication activity by R1 637 737. This was due to vacant positions as well as the late appointment of the full-time Tribunal 
Members. In addition, the Executive Chairperson and the full-time Tribunal Members were appointed on salary scales lower 
than those budgeted for.

The NCT would not have been able to achieve the outputs reported in its organisational scorecard to such a level of excellence 
had it not been for the way in which it utilised the available resources. 

RESPECT
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14. REVENUE COLLECTION
The table below indicates the revenue streams that the NCT budgeted for compared to the actual revenue that was collected.
 

Revenue 2013/14

Revenue 
source

Budget

R

Actual

R

(Over)/under

R

Grant income 36 099 000 36 099 000 -

Roll-over funds 3 500 000 2 479 693 1 020 307

Filing fees 420 000 525 400 (105 400)

Service fees - 2 735 (2 735)

Insurance 
claims

- 12 957 (12 957)

Interest earned 517 475 836 925 (319 450)

Total 40 536 475 39 956 710 579 765

As set out above, the surplus that the NCT realised in the 2012/13 financial year, and which was budgeted for as roll-over funds 
for the 2013/14 financial year, was R1 020 307 less than anticipated.

The filing fees were R105 400 more than budgeted for due to the number of cases filed with the NCT being higher than 
anticipated. 

Income from service fees and insurance claims paid to the NCT are incidental revenue streams which were not budgeted for.

Due to the fact that neither the procurement for the Case Management System nor the Space Planning Project were completed 
in the reporting period, interest earned exceeded the budgeted amount by R319 450. 

The NCT attempts to maintain a minimum balance of funds in its current account in order to maximise the interest earned on 
its investment.

The filing fees received during the 2013/14 financial year represent only 1.3% of the total revenue for the year. Fees payable 
for the filing of cases with the NCT are set out in the rules and are payable in advance. A case is therefore not attended to 
unless payment has been received. For this reason, the NCT does not need to implement measures to ensure that revenue is 
collected for services delivered.

RECOGNITION
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15. CAPITAL INVESTMENT
Capital investment, maintenance and asset management plan 

The NCT does not have infrastructure projects and as such has no need for a Capital Investment Plan. The NCT does have 
property, plant and equipment that are accounted for in a detailed Asset Register, which is reconciled with the general 
ledger on a monthly basis. 

The general condition of the NCT’s assets is good and hence the cost of maintaining these assets is very low. As such, there 
is no backlog in any maintenance programmes. The movement in the NCT’s property, plant and equipment during the 
2013/14 financial year is summarised in the following table.

Property, 
plant and 
equipment

Opening 
balance

Additions Assets 
written 

off

Assets 
sold

Depreciation Closing 
balance

Furniture and 
fittings

410 009 26 888 - - (52 530) 384 367

Office 
equipment

34 764 78 599 (824) - (13 867) 98 672

IT equipment 405 708 308 326 (11 937) - (145 189) 556 908

Leasehold 
improvements

59 971 45 957 - - (68 168) 37760

Books 124 888 12 652 - - (38 377) 99 163

Signage 10 318 - - - (6 664) 3 654

Office 
equipment – 
leased

246 505 194 690 - - (158 030) 283 165

Total 1 292 163 667 112 (12 761) - (168 928) 1 463 689

The IT equipment costs reflected in the table include the purchase of a fileserver and laptops for additional personnel 
appointed during the year. The additions to the office equipment, which is leased, relate to photocopying machines that 
were procured. Assets written off represent IT equipment that was stolen and for which a refund was received from the NCT’s 
insurance service provider.
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16. GOVERNANCE
16.1  Introduction
Corporate governance embodies the processes and systems by which the NCT is controlled and held to account. In 
addition to legislative requirements based on the NCT’s enabling legislation, explained on page 27 of this Report, 
and the Companies Act, corporate governance is applied by the Tribunal through the application of the precepts of 
the PFMA and the King Report on Governance for South Africa and the King Code of Governance Principles (King III).

Parliament, the NCT’s Executive Authority, the Minister of Trade and Industry and the Accounting Authority of the NCT 
are responsible for corporate governance.

16.2  Portfolio Committee
The Portfolio Committee on Trade and Industry (PC: Trade and Industry) provides oversight over the service delivery 
of the NCT.  During January 2014, the NCT was invited to make submissions on the National Credit Amendment Bill 
to the PC: Trade and Industry.

16.3  Executive Authority
The NCT, as a public entity within the sphere of the dti, reports, through the Department’s Consumer and Corporate 
Regulation Division (CCRD) and the Public Entity Oversight (PEO) Unit to the Honourable Minister of Trade and 
Industry, Dr Rob Davies MP.

The NCT complied with its obligations in terms of its Shareholder Compact by submitting quarterly reports to the 
dti on or before the end of each respective quarter.  These reports were approved by the Executive Authority and the 
Honourable Minister noted, with commendation in his approval letters, the consistent performance of the NCT.

16.4  Accounting Authority
The Executive Chairperson of the NCT is its Accounting Authority. She has absolute responsibility and accountability 
for the performance of the NCT. The Executive Chairperson provides strategic direction to the NCT and, in her role 
as Accounting Authority, monitors operational performance and management; determines policy processes to 
ensure the integrity of the NCT’s risk management and internal controls; and ensures compliance with applicable 
laws, regulations and government policy.  The role and responsibilities of the Executive Chairperson are set out and 
managed in terms of an employment contract and performance agreements, entered into with the Minister of Trade 
and Industry from time to time.

APPROACHABILITY
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17. GOVERNANCE COMMITTEES
A number of governance committees are in place to assist and advise the Chairperson in her duties. Governance 
committees include the following:

•	 Audit and Risk Committee;
•	 ICT Governance Committee; and
•	 Human Resource Governance Committee.

Because the Executive Chairperson is also a full-time member 
of staff and therefore affected by NCT policies and procedures, 
any matters pertaining thereto are first put before the Executive 
Committee for comment. Such matters are then brought before 
the relevant governance committee for consideration and formal 
recommendation to the Executive Chairperson. Full reasons 
for the adoption or non-adoption thereof are provided by the 
Executive Chairperson to the relevant governance committee.

17.1  Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee comprises of three (3) independent non-executive members. It is responsible for 
overseeing internal control, risk management and fraud matters within the NCT. 

Six (6) meetings were held during the year, of which four (4) were ordinary meetings and two (2) special meetings, as 
per the committee’s approved Terms of Reference.

The committee continued to operate effectively and efficiently. Further details of its performance are contained in the 
Audit and Risk Report on page 71 of this Annual Report. 

17.2 ICT Governance Committee
The Information and Communication Technology (ICT) Governance Committee comprises of three (3) Tribunal 
members and one independent ICT specialist. The ICT and Records Manager serves as an ex officio member. Among 
others, the ICT Governance Committee, in fulfilling its oversight function, advises the Accounting Authority on ICT-
related matters by reviewing reports, plans, strategies, policies and proposals and making recommendations thereon 
in relation to ICT matters within the organisation.

“A number of governance 
committees are in place 
to assist and advise the 
Chairperson in her duties.”.

HONESTY
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Membership and attendance

ICT GC Member Capacity 17 July 2013 6 November 2013 17 January 2014

Ms L Best (Chair) Part-time Tribunal Member Present Present Present

Prof. B Dumisa
Part-time Tribunal Member (Deputy 
Chairperson of the NCT)

Present Present Present

Adv. J Simpson Full-time Tribunal Member Present Present Present

Mr B  Mkhize Independent ICT expert Present Present Apology

ICT Governance Committee Charter

The committee operates in accordance with a Charter that sets out its duties and responsibilities. The Charter is drafted in 
accordance with the Code of Corporate Practices and conduct published in the King Report on Corporate Governance (King 
III). The Charter prescribes that the committee will meet at least twice in a year but not more than four times. The committee 
considers all reports and information presented at the meeting and provides recommendations to the Accounting Authority 
in relation to the reports.

General 

The NCT faced significant challenges in managing its operations with the ICT Department, due to the lack of an ICT Manager. 
With the appointment of an ICT Manager in September 2013 great strides were made in the advancement of ICT as an enabler 
for the NCT’s operations. In the words of the Committee “The NCT is to be commended for its dedication and commitment 
to using ICT to improve its productivity and efficiency, with little sacrifice to the importance of human capital.” 

The NCT implemented various systems to improve the efficiency of its operations such as:

•	 Remote virtual private network (VPN) and RDS access to the NCT servers, which enables Tribunal Members to access cases  
 remotely without the need for physical files to be couriered;
•	 The Excel-based DRA Assistant which has enabled Tribunal Members to assess, consider and issue consent orders remotely  
 without the need for the physical file or local printing facilities; and
•	 The use of SharePoint as a central access centre for the review and tracking of documents.

The NCT is busy with the development and implementation of various other ICT processes which will further assist with 
operations going forward.

Going forward the committee’s effectiveness will be measured annually by conducting a performance evaluation.

INTEGRITY
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All ICT governance processes are regularly monitored for compliance with the internationally accepted Control Objectives for 
Information and Related Technology (COBIT) and King III. Once a year a review document is tendered which rates the NCT’s 
compliance with COBIT. The first review in July 2013 resulted in an overall compliance rating of 81% which subsequently 
improved to 93% in December 2013.

The main areas for improvement relate to the actual implementation of ICT-related projects as per the ICT Strategic Plan. 
Projects have to be closely and carefully managed, using recognised project management processes, to ensure that ICT 
projects and systems are efficiently and effectively implemented.

17.3  HR Governance Committee
The purpose of the committee is to assist the Accounting Authority in exercising oversight of the governance matters in 
relation to human resources. The committee comprises of three (3) Tribunal members and one independent specialist in the 
field of Human Resources. The HR Manager serves as an ex officio member. The committee operated for the full financial year 
under a formal Charter. 

Among other things, the committee, in fulfilling its oversight function, advises the Accounting Authority on HR-related 
matters by reviewing reports, plans, strategies, policies and proposals. Based on these, recommendations were made in 
relation to HR matters within the organisation.

Membership and attendance

HR GC Member Capacity 16 July 
2013

01 and 04 
October 2013

14  and 23 
November 2013

23 January 
2014

Prof. J Maseko 
(Chair)

Part- Time Tribunal Member Present Present Present Apology

Adv. F Manamela Part-Time Tribunal Member Present Present Present Present

Prof. S Paruk Independent HR expert Present Present Present Present

Ms H Devraj Full Time Tribunal Member n/a n/a Present Present

HR Governance Committee Charter

The committee operates in accordance with a Charter that sets out its duties and responsibilities. The committee receives 
and reviews reports, plans, strategies, policies and proposals in relation to the entire Human Resource function as detailed in 
the HR Strategy of the NCT. Based on these, it makes recommendations to the Accounting Authority. Consideration is given 
to HR risks and recommendations are made on internal controls and mitigating risk plans. The Committee also considers the 
level of compliance with policies.  In addition, this Committee performs the role of the Performance Management Committee 
and Remuneration Committee of the NCT.  

ACCESSIBILITY
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General

During the financial year, the committee held three (3) general meetings and one (1) special meeting, which was held in 
October 2013, relating to the review of performance assessments.  With the continued support of, and recommendations 
made by this committee, the NCT’s HR Strategy and Business Plan were successfully aligned with the Organisational Strategy 
and Business Plan; key HR risks were identified and prioritised; all jobs in the NCT were evaluated; and the organisational 
structure was stabilised in preparation for the next financial year. 

The NCT has put in place key strategies in Human Resource management that support the mandate of the organisation.  The 
NCT has developed an HR Strategy, Plan and Governance Framework that was adopted by the committee. 

Going forward the committee’s effectiveness will be measured annually by conducting a performance evaluation.

18. RISK MANAGEMENT
The NCT follows a robust approach to risk management.   Risk is assessed on a continuous basis and reported on at various 
levels within the NCT.  Managers discuss risks during staff engagements, EXCO and at governance committee meetings.

An annual risk workshop was held with all staff members during August 2013 and a second workshop was attended by 
Management and the Audit and Risk Committee in September 2013.

The Risk Register is updated on a continuous basis.  As and when new risks are identified, they are added to the register and 
mitigating action plans are put in place to address the risks.  

Managers also review existing controls to ensure that these are still effective and in place.

The most critical risks identified for the NCT include:

•	 Failure of ICT to fulfil organisational needs; 
•	 Inadequate strategic ICT capacity;
•	 Financial sustainability and lack of funds to meet operational requirements; and 
•	 Lack of effective record keeping.

Progress against meeting risk action plans is monitored and reported on a quarterly basis and by year-end, 92% of the action 
plans to mitigate risks had been achieved.

TRANSPARENCY
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19. INTERNAL CONTROL UNIT
The NCT does not have an Internal Control Unit per se. Under the leadership of the Executive Chairperson, Executive 
Managers within the NCT are responsible for ensuring that internal controls are implemented, maintained and 
monitored within their respective business units.  

20. INTERNAL AUDIT
The internal audit function of the NCT is outsourced to an external service provider and is overseen by the Chief 
Operations Officer (COO).  During the 2013/14, the term of OMA, the NCT’s erstwhile service provider, came to an end. 
A tender for internal auditing services was issued and awarded to Business Innovation Group (BIG).

All areas of business are audited by BIG in terms of the approved three-year, risk-based internal audit plan.  Internal 
audit specifically focused on Supply Chain Management, Asset Management, ICT Governance, ICT General Controls 
and Enterprise Risk Management. The team also conducted follow-up audits on findings raised during the previous 
review period and confirmed that most of these findings had been addressed in the period under review.

All audit findings raised by the Auditor-General in the management report were addressed by management.

21. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND  
 REGULATIONS
The NCT reviews its regulatory environment on a regular basis and has incorporated all applicable laws, regulations 
and policies into its compliance monitoring system, Exclaim. Policy compliance is still monitored manually, but the 
Exclaim system is being updated to incorporate this function. Each staff and Tribunal Member has to report on and 
is assessed on their individual compliance with policy prescripts applicable to them respectively, as part of their 
performance management and monitoring. 

During the period under review, the NCT complied with all laws and policies impacting on its business.

22. FRAUD AND CORRUPTION

22.1  Fraud prevention
As a regulatory entity, adequate fraud prevention processes are essential for the NCT. All staff members attended 
a fraud awareness workshop in order to ensure that instances of fraud are recognised and reported immediately. 
The NCT’s Fraud Hotline is managed by an independent service provider, which is mandated to report any instances 
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of fraud directly to the Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee. Additionally, a panel of fraud investigation service 
providers was appointed. This panel will be responsible for investigating any instances of fraud reported through the Fraud 
Hotline.

The NCT is pleased to report that no incidents of fraud occurred during the period under review.

22.2  Minimising conflict of interest
Conflict of interest forms are completed during the adjudication of each case and at all governance, operational, procurement 
and recruitment interactions. In the event of a conflict, the conflicting party is recused.

22.3  Code of conduct
NCT staff and Tribunal Members adhere to a formal Code of Conduct and Conflict of Interest Policy. Through the Code of 
Conduct, staff is expected to align their behaviour with the values of the NCT. The code also addresses disclosures relating 
to conflict of interest, financial disclosures as well as gifts received. There were no reported breaches of the NCT’s Code of 
Conduct during the reporting period. Contravention of the Code of Conduct and/or the Tribunal’s values are viewed as 
offences in terms of its disciplinary policy and treated as such when a breach/breaches occur. 

23. HEALTH, SAFETY AND  
 ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES
As required by legislation in terms of the Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) Act, Act No. 85 of 1993, the NCT strives to 
provide and maintain, as far as reasonably practicable, a safe and risk free environment for its employees and stakeholders 
accessing the premises. 

The NCT is registered with the Compensation Commissioner in terms of the Compensation for Occupational Injuries and 
Diseases Act, Act No. 130 of 1993 and makes an annual contribution towards the Fund to ensure compliance with legal 
instruments.

RECOGNITION
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24. REPORT OF THE AUDIT AND RISK  
 COMMITTEE
The Audit and Risk Committee comprises three (3) independent non-executive members. It is responsible for 
overseeing internal control, risk management and fraud matters within the NCT. 

Six (6) meetings were held during the year, of which four (4) were ordinary meetings and two (2) special meetings, as 
per the Audit and Risk Committee’s approved Terms of Reference.

Relevant information pertaining to Audit Committee members is provided in the following table. 

Name of Member Qualifications Internal/External Number of 
Meetings 
Attended

A Amod (Chairperson) BComm, MA, MBA, CIA, CGAP, CRMA External 6

J Meissner (Member) CA(SA) External 6

M Kajee (Member) - 
appointed January 2014 

CA(SA) External 1

V Nondabula (Previous 
Chairperson) - term ended 
January 2014

BA (History and Political Science), MA (Political 
Science), DA (Honors)(Political Science), MBA 
(Finance and International Business)

External 6

M Malope (Previous Member) 
- term ended January 2014 

CA(SA)  External 4

 

Audit and Risk Committee Responsibility
The Audit and Risk Committee reports that it has performed its oversight responsibilities at the NCT in compliance 
with section 51(1) (a) of the PFMA and National Treasury Regulations 27.1. The Audit Committee also reports that it has 
adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit Committee Charter, has regulated its affairs in compliance 
with this charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein.

The Effectiveness of Internal Control
The system of controls within NCT is designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and that 
liabilities and working capital are properly managed in line with the PFMA and the protocol on corporate governance 
for public entities. This is achieved by means of the risk management processes, as well as the identification of 
corrective actions and suggested enhancements to the controls and processes.

From our review of the reports of the Internal Auditors, the Audit Report on the Annual Financial Statements and 
the Management Report of the Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA), we can conclude that the system of internal 
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control, as applied to financial/non-financial matters and risk management at the NCT, is effective, efficient and transparent. 
This was underscored by the unqualified audit report of the Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA). However, some control 
deficiencies were also identified by the auditors in the system of internal control, and the committee has noted management’s 
commitment to address these control inadequacies. The Audit and Risk Committee will be monitoring management’s 
progress in urgently resolving these issues on a regular basis, as required in terms of the Audit and Risk Committee Charter.

Risk Management
It is the committee’s view that risk management at the NCT continues to be adequate and effective. We are satisfied that 
the risk management processes undertaken during the year to address high risk areas within the NCT continue to work 
effectively. There is a Risk Management Framework in place, which includes the Risk Management Strategy, Fraud Prevention 
Plan and Policy. The NCT’s Risk Management Strategy also includes a Fraud Prevention Plan, Policy and Fraud Hotline. An 
updated formal risk assessment was undertaken and risk-based internal audit plans were then developed, approved by 
the committee and fully implemented. Key strategic and operational risks that were highlighted in the risk register were 
continuously monitored and discussed at the EXCO, MANCO and Audit and Risk Committee meetings, as part of the risk 
management strategy. The committee is satisfied that these risks were managed to an acceptable level. 

Internal Audit
We are satisfied that the internal audit function has operated effectively, that it has addressed the risks pertinent to the NCT 
in its audits and has assisted the entity with value adding services to ensure that both financial and operational objectives 
were achieved.

Corporate Governance
We are not aware of any issues of non-compliance with corporate governance. In our view, NCT continues to strive towards 
complying with sound principles of corporate governance.

In-Year management and Quarterly Report submissions
The Accounting Authority has tabled the In-Year Management (IYM) and monthly/quarterly reports to the Minister and to 
the Audit and Risk Committee, as required by the Treasury Regulations. The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied with the 
content and quality of these reports. As per our regular discussion with NCT management, management has confirmed that 
these reports were properly formulated in compliance with the PFMA and Treasury Regulations.  

Evaluation of Financial Statements
The committee has:

•	 Reviewed and discussed the audited Annual Financial Statements included in the Annual Report, with the  
 AGSA and the Accounting Officer;
•	 Reviewed the AGSA’s Management Report and Management’s response thereto;
•	 Reviewed changes to accounting policies and practices as reported in the Annual Financial Statements;
•	 Reviewed the NCT’s processes for compliance with legal and regulatory provisions;

APPROACHABILITY
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•	 Reviewed the information on predetermined objectives as reported in the Annual Report; 
•	 Reviewed material adjustments resulting from the audit of the NCT; and
•	 Reviewed, and where appropriate, recommended changes to the Interim Financial Statements as presented by the NCT  
 for the six months ending 30 September 2013.

Auditor-General of South Africa
We have reviewed the AGSA’s Strategic Audit Plan and have recommended approval of their budget to the Accounting 
Authority. We have also met with the AGSA to ensure that there are no unresolved issues.

The committee concurs and accepts the AGSA’s opinion regarding the Annual Financial Statements and proposes that the 
audited Annual Financial Statements be accepted and read together with the report of the AGSA. 

Appreciation
The Audit and Risk Committee wishes to acknowledge the dedication and hard work performed by the Accounting Authority, 
NCT Management and officials. The Audit Committee wishes to express its appreciation to the Management of the NCT, the 
AGSA and the Internal Audit Unit for the co-operation and information they have provided to enable us to compile this 
report.

______________________________________    
A Amod
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee
31 May 2014

HONESTY

Members of the Audit and Risk Committee: Center Mr Amod (ARC Chairperson), Left Mr Kajee (Member),  
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PART D:
HUMAN RESOURCE 
MANAGEMENT 



N a t i o n a l  C o n s u m e r  T r i b u n a l  -  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  -  2 0 1 3 / 1 4

75

25. HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
25.1  Introduction
During the year under review, the Human Resource (HR) Strategy 2013–2016 was reviewed to focus on the NCT as a 
transforming and evolving organisation that places high value on the delivery of its mandate through investment in and the 
effective deployment of its human capital. As a result, people development; change management and effective recruitment 
strategies were the focus of human resources activities during the year. Our strategic intent, to build a knowledge-based 
organisation enabled by embracing Information and Communication Technology (ICT) organisation-wide, compelled the 
organisation to review the human resources mission and vision and develop a Workforce Planning Framework, guided by 
principles and values resonating with South Africa’s socio-economic development.  

Human resources mission 

The HR mission is “to fully enable NCT staff, Tribunal Members and contractors to perform their functions/duties from 
anywhere, at any time, in an optimal, safe and efficient manner”.

Human resources guiding principles

The principles that guided the NCT in formulating the HR Strategy are rooted in the NCT’s commitment to contributing to 
government principles, including among others:

•	 Employment Equity;
•	 Employment of persons living with disabilities; 
•	 Staff growth and development; 
•	 On-going training and development of youth through the employment of interns and contingent employees;
•	 Engagement;
•	 Accountability; and
•	 Maintaining an appropriate work-life balance. 

The 2013/14 HR Annual Plan was geared towards effective and efficient service delivery; sourcing and skilling of people 
through effective recruitment strategies; and implementation of training and development programmes. To achieve this, 
the following goals were identified: 

1. To enable the NCT to be a resilient, flexible organisation through the attraction, development and retention of talented 
people;

2. To develop an enabling work environment that optimises the potential for employee engagement;
3. To shape a high performance culture that ensures that people enjoy work-life balance; and
4. To ensure compliance with all relevant employment related policies, legislation and regulations.

INTEGRITY
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Key achievements 

• The organisational structure that was approved in 2012 was amended, with minor  
 changes to align it with the strategic intent and the competencies that will be  
 required to deliver on the mandate and envisaged growth.

• Change management initiatives were successfully implemented to address the  
 digitisation of the NCT’s records management and the integration of the ICT  
 Business Unit with the Registry Unit, which has been renamed the ICT and Records  
 Management Unit.

• The job evaluation process was finalised and all posts were graded. 

• Training and development  of  employees and Management was undertaken on  
 performance management and disciplinary procedures.

A number of key HR systems and processes will be reviewed, revised and re-implemented in the forthcoming years. These 
include an innovative recruitment process and an improved performance management system.

• Innovative recruitment process
 The current system has not been able to attract and retain the competent talent required to deliver on the NCT  
 mandate. There is a need to improve the overall process of competency profiling and assessment to allow for more  
 focused and effective selection. This competency profiling process will also enable better focused developmental  
 exercises. The NCT realises that analytical skills, sound decision making skills and a high level of ICT expertise are  
 all fundamental requirements for its workforce of the future. Recruitment processes will therefore be focused on  
 ensuring that all gaps in the current approved organisational structure are filled.

• Improved performance management system
 The current performance management system has worked well in providing a focus for the work of the NCT’s  
 people. There are, however, challenges in obtaining, recording and utilising evidence of performance in the overall  
 performance management process. Ways of using ICT to link organisational and individual performance  
 information will be sought in an attempt to reduce the bureaucracy and administration required.

25.2  Staff Complement 
The current headcount for 2013/14 was approved as follows:

1. The Tribunal (Adjudicative arm) consisting of:
•	 The Chairperson of the Tribunal (Accounting Authority and Executive Chairperson of Tribunal);
•	 Ten Part-time and two Full-time Tribunal Members.

ACCESSIBILITY
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2. The Tribunal staff consisting of:
•	 32 staff (full complement 38); 
•	 24 students in Contingent Pool (Youth Development Programme); and  
•	 4 Interns  

The performance of Tribunal Members and staff is managed and assessed against Performance Agreements, based 
on a  risk-sharing (70/30) Model.

The appointment of candidates with the necessary skill set for the 
broad roles they need to fulfill. An example is the ESS or ICT and RM 
Manager position, which requires combined expert knowledge in both 
ICT and records management. In addition, based on the flat structure 
of the organisation, it is critical that Management not only have the 
ability to strategically oversee operations, but that they can carry out 
operational tasks. They therefore need to operate at both functional  
and management levels (60%/40% split). Addressing the above remains 
a priority.

25.3  Human Resources Oversight Statistics

Personnel cost by programme

Programme/
activity/objective

Total 
Expenditure 

(R’000)

Personnel 
Expenditure 

(R’000)

Personnel exp. 
as a % of total 

exp. 

No. of 
employees

Avg. 
personnel cost 

per employee 
(R’000)

Adjudication 17 404 290 8 438 098 48.5% 23 366 874

Administration 21 535 335 7 506 427 34.9% 12 625 536

Total 38 939 625 15 944 525 40.95% 35 992 410

Note: This personnel expenditure includes expenditure in relation to permanent employees, interim 
employees and interns.

“The performance 
of Tribunal Members 
and staff is managed 
and assessed against 
Performance Agreements, 
based on a  risk-sharing 
(70/30) Model. ”

TRANSPARENCY
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Personnel cost by salary band 

Level Personnel 
Expenditure 

(R’000)

% of personnel 
exp. to total 

personnel cost

No. of 
employees

Average personnel 
cost per employee 

(R’000)

Top Management 2 208 645 13.9% 1 2 208 645

Senior Management 6 974 830 43.7% 6 1 162 472

Professionally qualified 2 073 328 13.0% 4 518 332

Skilled 1 990 088 12.5% 5 398 018

Semi-skilled 2 464 565 15.5% 17 144 974

Unskilled 233 069 1.5% 2 116 535

TOTAL 15 944 525 100.0% 35 455 558

Note: This personnel expenditure includes expenditure in relation to permanent employees, interim 
employees and interns.

Top Management

Senior Management

Professionally qualified

Skilled

Semi-skilled

Unskilled

43.7%

15.5%

13.9%

13.0%

12.5%

1.5%

Personnel cost by salary band 

ACCOUNTABILITY
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Performance Rewards 

Programme/
activity/
objective

Performance rewards 
calculated on 2012/13 

personnel expenditure

Personnel 
expenditure 

2012/13

Personnel expenditure 
excluding performance 

rewards 2013/14

% of performance 
rewards to personnel 
expenditure 2012/13

Top Management 390 691 2 003 542 1 817 954 19.50%

Senior 
Management 

567 785 3 866 538 6 407 046 14.68%

Professionally 
qualified 

216 795 1 270 864 1 856 533 17.06%

Skilled 164 383 1 324 180 1 825 705 12.41%

Semi-skilled 165 333 974 163 2 299 232 16.97%

Unskilled 30 500 677 358 202 568 4.5%

TOTAL 1 535 487 10 116 645 14 409 038 15.18%

Note: This information pertains only to permanent employees as interim employees and interns do not 
qualify for performance rewards.

Training costs 

Programme/
activity/objective

Personnel 
Expenditure 

(R’000)

Training 
Expenditure 

(R’000)

Training Expenditure 
as a % of personnel 

cost

No. of 
employees 

trained

Avg. training 
cost per 

employee

Total for the NCT 15 944 525 293 478 1.8% 27 10 870

Note: This information pertains only to permanent employees as interim employees and interns do not 
qualify for training, and interns are trained in terms of an internal training programme.

RESPECT
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Employment and Vacancies 

Programme/
activity/objective

2012/2013 No. of 
Employees

2013/2014 
Approved Posts

2013/2014 No. of 
Employees

2013/2014 
Vacancies

% of 
vacancies

Staffing and 
recruitment 

24 38 30 8 21.1%

Top Management 1 1 1 - 0%

Senior Management 5 8 5 3 37.5%

Professionally 
qualified 

3 6 4 2 33.3%

Skilled 4 7 5 2 28.6%

Semiskilled 9 14 13 1 7.1%

Unskilled 2 2 2 - 0%

TOTAL 24 38 30 8 21.1%
Note: This information pertains only to permanent employees. Interns, who join the NCT through the one-
year Internship Programme, are not included.

The Executive: Strategic Support position has never been filled permanently.  Interviews were held, but no suitable candidate 
was found. In December 2013, in an effort to retain talent and recruit from within, an internal candidate was appointed to act 
in the position until the post was filled. At the end of the reporting period, the post was again being advertised. 

The post of Chief Operation Officer (COO) became vacant in August 2013, following the appointment of the incumbent to 
the position of full-time Tribunal Member. The position was filled temporarily in January 2014 through an appointment on a 
six-month, fixed-term basis, while the recruitment of a permanent placement was under way. The temporary appointment 
was seen as necessary to ensure that operational and performance risks were minimised in the interim. At the end of the 
period under review, the appointment of the permanent COO was nearing conclusion.

Efforts were made to ensure that vacancies are filled timeously. This is attested to by the fact that the NCT exceeded its 
targeted rate of 12.5% against 30% target.   

The posts that have remained unfilled, as explained above, are due to:

•	 The fact that no suitable internal candidate has been available; 
•	 The duration of the recruitment process; and 
•	 The fact that the re-advertising of posts prolongs the process of finding a suitable candidate even further.

RECOGNITION
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Employment Changes 

Salary band Employment at 
01/04/2013

Appointments Terminations Employment at 
31/03/2014

Top 
Management 

1 - - 1

Senior 
Management 

5 2 2 5

Professionally 
qualified 

3 1 - 4

Skilled 4 1 - 5

Semi-skilled 9 6 2 13

Unskilled 2 - - 2

Total 24 10 4 30

Reasons for Terminations 

Reason Number % of total no. of staff leaving

Death 0 -

Resignation 3 75%

Dismissal 0 -

Retirement 0 -

Ill health 0 -

Expiry of contract 0 -

Retrenchment 1 25%

Total 4 100%

The three (3) resignations came as a result of employees considering other employment opportunities in the private sector 
where NCT is unable to compete in terms of salary packages. The NCT offers employment exit interviews by independent 
interviewers in an attempt to fully determine the reasons for leaving. Of the three employees who resigned, none wished to 
participate in an exit interview. One (1) senior employee (Registry Manager) was retrenched due to the redundancy of the 
post as a result of restructuring and digitisation of records. 

RESPONSIVENESS

Number of Terminations out 
of Total Staff Complement

Terminations

Total Staff Complement

30

4

Reasons for Terminations

Retrenchments

Resignations

1

3
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Labour Relations: Misconduct and Disciplinary Action 

Type of disciplinary action Number

Verbal warning 1

Written warning 0

Final written warning 2

Dismissal 0

Equity target and employment equity status 

Although the NCT is not required to report in terms of the Employment Equity Act, Act No. 55 of 1998, it supports and is 
committed to the principles of employment equity. As such, the NCT has set itself an equity target ratio of 75% Black and 
25% White, which was achieved for the year under review. 

The following two tables provide only the number of employees per category. No specific targets were set per racial group 
as the NCT internal equity target ratio is used. The numbers also exclude three (3) foreign employees (1 female and 2 male).

Levels MALE

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top Management n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Senior Management 1 n/a 0 n/a 0 n/a 2 n/a

Professionally 
qualified 

1 n/a 0 n/a 1 n/a 0 n/a

Skilled 2 n/a 0 n/a 1 n/a 0 n/a

Semi-skilled 4 n/a 0 n/a 0 n/a 1 n/a

Unskilled 0 n/a 0 n/a 0 n/a 0 n/a

Total 8 n/a 0 n/a 2 n/a 3 n/a

APPROACHABILITY
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Levels FEMALE

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top Management n/a n/a 1 1 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Senior Management 0 n/a 0 n/a 1 n/a 1 n/a

Professionally qualified 0 n/a 0 n/a 0 n/a 1 n/a

Skilled 1 n/a 0 n/a 0 n/a 1 n/a

Semi-skilled 6 n/a 0 n/a 0 n/a 0 n/a

Unskilled 2 n/a 0 n/a 0 n/a 0 n/a

TOTAL 9 n/a 1 n/a 1 n/a 3 n/a

The NCT has no staff members living with disabilities.

Race – 31 March 2014  
(excludes three foreign employees)

Gender – 31 March 2014  
(excludes three foreign employees)

Female      Male

Black

White

 Indian

Coloured

HONESTY

Female Male



PART E
ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION





REPORT OF THE ACCOUNTING 
AUTHORITY



N a t i o n a l  C o n s u m e r  T r i b u n a l  -  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  -  2 0 1 3 / 1 4

87

26. REPORT OF THE ACCOUNTING  
 AUTHORITY AS AT 30 MAY 2014
Nature of business
The National Consumer Tribunal (NCT) is an independent adjudicative entity. It derives its mandate from the National Credit 
Act (NCA), Act No. 34 of 2005. This mandate was expanded in 2008 to include adjudication on matters arising from the CPA.

Financial overview
The NCT is confident that it has fulfilled its mandate and has used its funding in a cost-effective and efficient manner. The full 
Annual Financial Statements for the year are presented on pages 96 to131, and are summarised as follows:

2013/14 2012/13

Total revenue R37 477 017 R34 208 556
Total expenditure R38 894 981 R31 660 318
Finance costs R44 644 R68 546
Net (deficit) /surplus R (1 462 608) R2 479 693

Total assets R10 503 375 R10 208 870
Total liabilities R5 995 703 R4 238 590
Net assets R4 507 672 R5 970 280

In the period under review, the NCT received a grant of R36 099 000 from 
the dti, which represents an increase of 8.85% over the previous year. This 
ensured that the NCT was in a position to fulfil its mandate, as the grant 
makes up 96.32% of its revenue (2012/13: 96.95%).

Filing fees increased by 33.24% over the previous year from R394 300 to 
R525 400. The increase can be attributed to the increased number of cases 
received (5 386 compared to 4 193 in 2012/13; an increase of 28.45%).

National Treasury permitted the NCT to retain its surplus funds of R5 970 280 accumulated from the preceding financial 
years. The accumulated surplus at the end of this reporting period is R4 507 672. The decrease is due mainly to the increase 
in other operating expenses that were higher than anticipated. Please refer to Note 18.3 in the Annual Financial Statements 
for more detail. The accumulated surplus at the end of March 2012, amounted to R3.49 million and has been dedicated to the 
renovation of the NCT’s offices and the development of a Case Management System. Please refer to Note 28 in the Annual 
Financial Statements for more detail.

The NCT’s income from interest earned increased by 29.39% from R646 843 to R836 923. This is as a result of the increased 
grant, a higher average balance in the investment account and the NCT’s prudent cash flow management. The NCT invests 
its surplus funds with the Corporation for Public Deposits in terms of its Investment Policy. Please refer to Note 18.2 in the 
Annual Financial Statements for more detail.

“Filing fees increased  
by 33.24% over the  
previous year from  

R394 300 to R525 400. ”

TRANSPARENCY
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Total expenses for the year increased by 22.85% from R31 660 317 to R38 894 981. The key drivers are set out below in this 
report.

Administrative and other operating expenses increased by R2  422  828 
(21.34%). This can mainly be attributed to advertising costs (due to the 
advertising of vacancies on the increased staff structure); computer expenses 
and software licences (due to the NCT focusing on ICT enablement to gain 
higher levels of efficiencies and effectiveness in its operations); offsite storage 
costs (both electronic and hard copy documents); online backup services, 
mail archiving and disaster recovery (due to the NCT being more reliant on 
the retrieving of offsite storage of documents and electronic information as 
well as disaster recovery); consulting fees (due to the strategic projects that 

the NCT embarked on and for which consultants were used, as is explained in Notes 12.1 and 18.3 to the Annual Financial 
Statements); and rentals for equipment and furniture (due to furniture and equipment that had to be hired in order to host 
the larger staff complement). The contract for the hiring of office furniture will expire on 31 August 2014.

Employee-related expenses increased by R4 713 795 (34.29%). This is as a result of the appointment of two full-time Tribunal 
Members as well as the number of positions that were filled during the year under review and which had been vacant on the 
structure during the previous financial year.

Although there has been an increase of 28.45% in the caseload, the increase in the costs of Part-time Tribunal Members’ 
(1.4%) was contained due to the appointment of two full-time Tribunal Members and the NCT’s cost containment strategy to 
combine more than one case to be heard on the same day.

It is recognised that the NCT’s cost of statutory compliance, albeit reducing year-on-year as it is maturing, is still high in 
comparison with its size and total revenue. The cost of compliance in respect of the internal audit function and the Audit and 
Risk Committee amounted to R1 384 729. This is equal to 3.69% of the total revenue of the NCT for the 2013/14 financial year 
and is slightly lower than the 4.17% applicable for the 2012/13 financial year. In order to reduce the cost of the Audit and 
Risk Committee, the NCT has appointed the minimum number of members required, namely three instead of four members.

Materiality framework
Material facts of a quantitative nature are facts that exceed the materiality framework and are disclosed if discovered. The 
NCT’s materiality level remains unchanged at 0.60% of total revenue.

Financial assistance from the State
The NCT received no financial assistance from the state, other than its grant as mentioned previously. The state also made no 
commitments on behalf of the NCT.

Supply chain management
The NCT’s procurement policies are in line with the PFMA, the Treasury Regulations and the Preferential Procurement Policy 
Framework Act, Act No. 5 of 2000. 

“Total expenses for the 
year increased by 22.85% 
from R31 660 317 to 
R38 894 981. ”
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Losses written off
The losses written off are IT equipment amounting to R12 761, as disclosed in Note 2 to the Annual Financial Statements. This 
write-off mainly relates to IT equipment that was stolen and which was recovered in the amount of R12 957 from insurance, 
as is disclosed in Note 10 to the Annual Financial Statements. 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
There was no fruitless and wasteful expenditure during the year under review.

Irregular expenditure
There was no irregular expenditure during the year under review.

Material losses through criminal conduct
There were no material losses through criminal conduct. 

Criminal and disciplinary action taken against offenders
No offences were committed and there was therefore no need to take any criminal or disciplinary action.

Events subsequent to the reporting date
The passing of the National Credit Amendment Act by Parliament might have a financial impact on the NCT in future, as it is 
expected that the cases filed with the NCT will increase as a result of these changes. The NCT has entered into negotiations 
with its Landlord to extend the current office lease beyond 31 August 2014, being the end date of the current agreement. 
Other than that, management is not aware of any matter or circumstance as at the end of the financial year, which is not 
otherwise dealt with in the Annual Financial Statements, and that may significantly affect the financial position of the 
National Consumer Tribunal or the results of its operations.
 
Audit report matters in the previous year
The NCT addressed all audit matters raised during the audit of the previous financial year.

Going concern outlook
The Accounting Authority is confident that the NCT will continue as a going concern for the next financial year.

__________________
Ms Diane Terblanche
Accounting Authority
21 August 2014
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27. REPORT OF THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR
REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON THE NATIONAL CONSUMER TRIBUNAL 

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Introduction

1. I have audited the financial statements of the National Consumer Tribunal set out on pages 96 to 131, which comprise 
the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2014, the statement of financial performance, statement of changes 
in net assets, statement of cash flows and statement of comparison of budget and amounts for the year then ended, as 
well as the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the financial statements

2. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and 
the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), and for such 
internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of  financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-general’s responsibility

3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. I conducted my audit in 
accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), the general notice issued in 
terms thereof and International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements, 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the  financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion

6. In my opinion, the  financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the National 
Consumer Tribunal as at 31  March  2014 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in 
accordance with SA Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA.

RECOGNITION
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS
7. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I report the following on the reported 

performance information against predetermined objectives for selected objectives presented in the annual 
performance report, non-compliance with legislation as well as internal control. The objective of my tests was to 
identify reportable findings as described under each subheading but not to gather evidence to express assurance 
on these matters. Accordingly, I do not express an opinion or conclusion on these matters.

Predetermined objectives

8. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 
information for the following selected objectives presented in the annual performance report of the public entity 
for the year ended 31 March 2014:  

•	 To ensure timely communication with filing parties regarding status of initial filing (on pages 56 to 57)
•	 To ensure high quality case preparation (on pages 56 to 57)
•	 To ensure timely issuance of judgments (on pages 56 to 57)
•	 To ensure sound, high quality adjudications (on pages 56 to 57)
•	 To increase parties access to the workings of the Tribunal (on pages 56 to 57)
•	 To contribute to effective policy development by the dti (on pages 56 to 57)

9. I evaluated the reported performance information against the overall criteria of usefulness and reliability. 

10. I evaluated the usefulness of the reported performance information to determine whether it was presented in 
accordance with the National Treasury’s annual reporting principles and whether the reported performance was 
consistent with the planned Objectives. I further performed tests to determine whether indicators and targets 
were well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable, time bound and relevant, as required by the National Treasury’s 
Framework for managing programme performance information (FMPPI).

11. I assessed the reliability of the reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate and 
complete.

12. I did not identify any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information 
for the selected objectives.

RESPONSIVENESS
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Pretoria
29 July 2014

Compliance with legislation

13. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the public entity had complied with applicable legislation regarding 
financial matters, financial management and other related matters. I did not identify any instances of material non-
compliance with specific matters in key legislation, as set out in the general notice issued in terms of the PAA.

Internal control

14. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, annual performance report and compliance 
with legislation. I did not identify any significant deficiencies in internal control.

APPROACHABILITY
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General Information for the year ended 31 March 2014
Nature of business and principal activities The National Consumer Tribunal (NCT) was established in terms of 

the National Credit Act, Act No. 34 of 2005. From 1 April 2011 its 
mandate increased to also includes adjudication on matters in terms 
of the Consumer Protection Act, (Act 68 of 2008). It is an independent 
body that is responsible for hearing and deciding on cases involving 
consumers, credit providers, debt counsellors and credit bureaux and 
providers of goods and services. It is also responsible for reviewing 
decisions made by the National Credit Regulator and the National 
Consumer Commission.

Accounting Authority D Terblanche (Executive Chairperson of the Tribunal)
Part-time Tribunal Members for 2013/14 BC Dumisa (Deputy Chairperson)

PA Beck 
L Best 
Y Carrim 
FK Manamela 
JM Maseko 
X May 
HFN Sephoti 
FK Sibanda 
T Woker 

Full-time Tribunal Members for 2013/14 H Devraj (from 1 August 2013)
J Simpson (from 1 July 2013)

Key Management for 2013/14 M Bosch (Registrar)
H Devraj (Chief Operations Officer until 31 July 2013)
NKD Lolwane (Interim Chief Operations Officer from 6 January 2014 to 
20 March 2014)
NE Mbhele (Registry Manager until 28 February 2014)
BX Nomvete (ICT Manager)
WP Strauss (Chief Financial Officer)

Key consultants for 2013/14 Treten Advisory Services (Pty) Ltd (Part-time HR Manager)
Registered office Block B, Ground Floor, East Wing

Lakefield Office Park
272 West Avenue
Centurion
0157

Business address Block B, Ground Floor, East Wing
Lakefield Office Park
272 West Avenue
Centurion
0157

Postal address Private Bag X110
Centurion
0046

Bankers Nedbank Ltd
South African Reserve Bank
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Statement of Responsibility for the year ended 31 March 2014_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
The Accounting Authority is required by the Public Finance Management Act, (Act No. 1 of 1999), to maintain adequate 
accounting records and is responsible for the content and integrity of the Annual Financial Statements and related financial 
information included in this report. It is its responsibility to ensure that the Annual Financial Statements fairly present the 
state of affairs of the NCT as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period 
then ended, in conformity with South African Statements of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP). The external 
auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the Annual Financial Statements.

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with GRAP and are based upon appropriate accounting 
policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

The Accounting Authority acknowledges that it is ultimately responsible for the system of internal control established by the 
NCT and places considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the NCT to meet these 
responsibilities, the Accounting Authority sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in 
a cost-effective manner. These internal control standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly 
defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of 
risk. These internal controls are monitored throughout the NCT and all employees are required to maintain the highest 
ethical standards in ensuring the NCT’s business is conducted in a manner that, in all reasonable circumstances, is above 
reproach. The focus of risk management in the NCT is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms 
of risk across the NCT. While operational risk cannot be fully eliminated, the NCT endeavours to minimise it by ensuring 
that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined 
procedures and constraints.

Based on the information and explanations given by Management, the Accounting Authority is of the opinion that the 
system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of 
the Annual Financial Statements. However, any system of internal control can provide only reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Annual Financial Statements, which have been prepared on the going-concern basis, were approved and signed on its 
behalf:

_______________________________              ________________________
D Terblanche              WP Strauss
Executive Chairperson and Accounting Authority             Chief Financial Officer
30 May 2014                  30 May 2014
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Annual Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2014

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
as at 31 March 2014

31 March 2014 31 March 2013
Note R R

ASSETS 

Non-current assets 1,863,538 1,461,462 
Property, plant and equipment 2 1,463,689      1,292,163 
Intangible assets 3 399,849         169,299 

Current assets 8,639,837 8,747,408 
Inventory 4 64,689 74,867 
Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 5 142,770 18,772 
Cash and cash equivalents 6     8,432,378 8,653,769 

 
Total assets 10,503,375 10,208,870 

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities 122,812 49,208 
Long-term portion – Finance lease obligations 7 122,812 49,208 

Current liabilities 5,872,891 4,189,382 
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 8 3,694,002 2,444,190 
Short-term portion – Finance lease obligation 7 117,581 207,096 
Provisions 9 2,061,308 1,538,096 

Total liabilities 5,995,703 4,238,590 

NET ASSETS 4,507,672 5,970,280 

NET ASSETS
Accumulated surplus 4,507,672 5,970,280 
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Annual Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2014

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
for the year ended 31 March 2014

31 March 2014 31 March 2013
Note R R

Total revenue 10    37,477,017   34,208,556 

Total expenses    38,894,981   31,660,317 
Administrative expenses 11       4,457,222     3,738,599 
Other operating expenses 12       9,320,350     7,616,145 
Audit fees 13         757,265        731,198 
Tribunal Members’ fees 14       5,899,919     5,827,945 
Employee-related costs 15     18,460,225   13,746,430 

Operating (deficit)/surplus    (1,417,964)     2,548,239 

Finance costs 16           44,644         68,546 
Net (deficit)/surplus for the year  (1,462,608)     2,479,693 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
for the year ended 31 March 2014

Accumulated 
Surplus

Total Net 
Assets

 R  R 

Balance as at 1 April 2012       3,490,587     3,490,587 
Net surplus/(deficit) for the year       2,479,693     2,479,693 
Balance as at 31 March 2013       5,970,280     5,970,280 
Net (deficit)/surplus for the year      (1,462,608)    (1,462,608)
Balance as at 31 March 2014       4,507,672     4,507,672 
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CASH-FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2014

31 March 2014 31 March 2013
Note R R

CASH-FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts    37,542,217   34,227,156 
Government grants     36,099,000   33,165,000 
Filing fees         590,600        412,900 
Service fees             2,735           2,413 
Other receipts - Insurance claims           12,957                  - 
Interest received         836,925        646,843 

Payments    (36,660,551)  (29,880,340)
Tribunal Members’ fees  (5,663,321)    (5,742,146)
Employee-related costs  (17,816,536)  (12,539,245)
Suppliers  (13,180,694)  (11,598,949)

Net cash flows from operating activities 17         881,666     4,346,816 

CASH-FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES        (847,812)       (126,707)
Additions to property, plant and equipment        (472,422)       (126,707)
Disposals of property, plant and equipment                    -                  - 
Additions to intangible assets        (375,390)                  - 

CASH-FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES        (255,245)       (221,446)
Finance lease payments        (255,245)       (221,446)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents        (221,391)     3,998,663 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year       8,653,769     4,655,106 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 6       8,432,378     8,653,769 
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS
as at 31 March 2014

Accrual 
Based 

Approved 
Budget 
(Before 

Virements)

Virements 
done for the 
year ended 

on 31 March 
2014

Accrual 
Based Final 

Budget (After 
Virements)

Actual 
Amounts on 
Comparable 

Basis with 
Final Budget

Difference 
between 

Final Budget 
and Actual 

Amounts

Note R R R R R
 REVENUE 

Income from 
non-exchange 
transactions

 36,099,000                  -   36,099,000   36,099,000                  - 

Surplus brought 
forward from 2012/13

18.1    3,500,000                  -     3,500,000     2,479,693     1,020,307 

Income from 
exchange 
transactions

      420,000                  -        420,000        541,092       (121,092)

Interest received 18.2       517,475                  -        517,475        836,925      (319,450)
Total revenue 40,536,475                  -   40,536,475   39,956,710        579,765 

EXPENSES

Administrative 
expenses

   4,297,839                  -     4,297,839     4,457,222      (159,383)

Other operating 
expenses

18.3    7,679,000                  -     7,679,000     8,709,945   (1,030,945)

Audit fees       720,000                  -        720,000        757,265        (37,265)
Tribunal Members’ 
costs

18.4    5,109,660                  -     5,109,660     5,899,919      (790,259)

Employee-related 
costs

18.5  22,003,976                  -   22,003,976   18,372,428     3,631,548 

Finance costs          96,000                  -         96,000        255,245      (159,245)
Capital expenditure 18.6       630,000                  -        630,000        847,812      (217,812)
Total expenses 40,536,475                  -   40,536,475   39,299,836    1,236,639 

Surplus for the 
period

                   -                  -                  -        656,874     (656,874)
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS
as at 31 March 2014

RECONCILIATION OF SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD WITH THE SURPLUS IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE

Adjustment of Actual 
Amounts to Comparable 
Basis with Final Budget

R
Net (deficit) per the Statement of Financial Performance    (1,462,608)

Adjusted for: Activity
Assets written off Operating         12,762 
Amortisation Operating        144,840 
Depreciation Operating        482,825 
Lease rentals on premises and parking – Straight–line 
adjustment

Operating        (30,022)

Finance costs on lease Financing         44,644 
Finance lease payments Financing       (255,245)
Movement in accrual for leave pay–Employee related costs Operating         87,797 
Capital assets purchased Investing       (847,812)
Surplus brought forward from 2012/13 Investing     2,479,693 
Difference between Final Budget and Actual Amounts        656,874 

Note: All the adjustments relate to a difference in the basis of preparation of the budget being on the cash basis for these 
items while the Statement of Financial Performance is prepared on the accrual basis for these items. Also refer to Note 17 
for the reconciliation of net cash flows from operating activities with the surplus/(deficit) per the Statement of Financial 
Performance.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 March 2014

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these Financial Statements are set out below and  
 are, in all material respects, consistent with those of the previous year, except as otherwise indicated.

1.1 Basis of preparation
 The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally  
 Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) and the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), Act No. 1 of 1999, as  
 amended, including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board. The  
 Financial Statements have been prepared on a historic cost basis and accounting policies are consistent with prior  
 years.

 The GRAP Standards relevant to the NCT are listed below:

 GRAP 1:   Presentation of Financial Statements
 GRAP 2:   Cash-Flow Statements
 GRAP 3:   Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
 GRAP 9:   Revenue from Exchange Transactions
 GRAP 12:  Inventories
 GRAP 13:  Leases
 GRAP 14:  Events after the Reporting Date
 GRAP 17:  Property, Plant and Equipment
 GRAP 19:  Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
 GRAP 21:  Impairment of Non-cash-generating Assets
 GRAP 23:  Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions
 GRAP 24:  Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements
 GRAP 25:  Employee Benefits
 GRAP 31:  Intangible Assets
 GRAP 104:  Financial Instruments
 IPSAS 20:  Related Party Disclosures

 The Cash-flow Statement was prepared in accordance with the direct method.

1.2 Significant judgments
 In preparing the Annual Financial Statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that  
 affect the amounts represented in the Annual Financial Statements and related disclosures. Use of available  
 information and the application of judgment are inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future  
 could differ from these estimates which may be material to the Annual Financial Statements. Significant judgments  
 include:

 Provisions
 Provisions were raised and Management determined an estimate based on the information available. Additional  
 disclosure of these estimates of provisions is included in Note 9 – Provisions.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 March 2014 (continued)

 Contingencies
 Management used their judgment in deciding to reflect the surplus as a contingent liability based on past  
 experience whereby the previous year’s surplus was approved.

 Property, plant and equipment
 In determining the useful life and residual value of each category of property, plant and equipment management  
 took into consideration the nature and use of each asset.

 Leased office equipment and leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lease period with no residual  
 value.

 Intangible assets
 In determining the useful life of computer software, Management took into consideration that the software  
 will have to be upgraded every three to four years. The residual value of computer software is regarded as  
 zero due to the fact that computer software is not re-saleable.

1.3 Going concern
 The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and the accounting policies  
 have been applied consistently throughout the year.

1.4 Related party transactions
 Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the NCT or able to exercise significant  
 influence or joint control over the NCT in making financial and operating decisions.  A related party transaction  
 is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related parties regardless of whether a price is  
 charged.

1.5 Contingent liabilities
 A contingent liability is disclosed in the notes to the Annual Financial Statements when a possible obligation  
 arises from past events, and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of  
 one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the NCT. Each class of contingent  
 liability at the reporting date, a brief description of the nature of the contingent liability and its possible  
 financial effect, is disclosed.

1.6 Revenue recognition

1.6.1 Revenue from exchange transactions
 Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential received and receivable by an entity which  
 results in an increase in net assets. An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives assets or services or  
 has liabilities extinguished and directly gives equal value to the other party in exchange.

 Filing fees:
 Filing fees are recognised as revenue when the right to the revenue has been established. This is when an  
 application is received.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 March 2014 (continued)

 
 Service fees:
 Service fees are recognised as revenue when the right to the revenue has been established. This is when a  
 payment is received for services to be rendered. 

 Investment income:
 Investment income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest rate method.

1.6.2 Revenue from non-exchange transactions
 Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, the  
 NCT either receives value from another entity without directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, or  
 gives value to another entity without directly receiving approximately equal value in exchange.

 When the NCT receives resources as a result of a non-exchange transaction, it recognises an asset and revenue  
 when it is probable that the NCT will receive economic benefits or service potential and it can make a reliable  
 measure of the resources transferred. 

 Where the resources transferred to the NCT are subject to the fulfilment of specific conditions, it recognises  
 an asset and a corresponding liability. As and when the conditions are fulfilled, the liability is reduced and revenue  
 is recognised. 

 The asset and the corresponding revenue are measured on the basis of the fair value of the asset on initial recognition. 

 Non-exchange revenue transactions comprise a grant from the Department of Trade and Industry and is  
 recognised as revenue at the date of receipt.

1.7 Prepayments
 The NCT may render payment for the delivery of goods or services in advance of the delivery of goods or the  
 rendering of services when contractually obligated. In this instance such prepayment is recognised in the Statement  
 of Financial Position as an asset when the payment is made, and is measured at the fair value of the consideration  
 paid. The asset is expensed when delivery of the goods occurs or when the service is rendered.

1.8 Leasing
 Operating leases
 A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental  
 to ownership. Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as expenses in the Statement of Financial  
 Performance on a straight line basis over the lease period. 

 Finance leases
 Finance leases, as per the Treasury Regulations, refers to a contract that transfers the risks, rewards, rights and  
 obligations incidental to ownership to the lessee and is recorded as a purchase of equipment by means of long- 
 term borrowing. All other leases are classified as operating leases.



N a t i o n a l  C o n s u m e r  T r i b u n a l  -  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  -  2 0 1 3 / 1 4

107

Annual Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2014

ACCOUNTING POLICIES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 March 2014 (continued)

 Assets held under finance leases and the corresponding liability, are recognised at their present value of the minimum  
 lease payments at the date of acquisition. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the Statement  
 of Financial Position as a finance lease obligation. Finance costs, which represent the difference between the total  
 leasing commitments and the estimated present value of the assets acquired, are charged to the Statement of  
 Financial Performance over the term of the relevant lease so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the  
 remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting period.

1.9 Government grants
 Government grants are recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the NCT and when  
 the amount of the grant can be measured reliably. Government grants are recognised as revenue to the extent that  
 there is no further obligation arising from the receipt of the transfer payment. Grants are measured at the fair value  
 of the transfer payment received.  

1.10 Employee benefits
 The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable within twelve months after the service is rendered, such  
 as paid vacation leave and sick leave and performance bonuses), is recognised in the period in which the service is  
 rendered and is not discounted.

 The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that  
 increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

1.11 Borrowing costs
 Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.12 Property, plant and equipment 
 Items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised as assets on acquisition date and are initially  
 recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs  
 attributable to bring the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner  
 intended by the Tribunal. Trade discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost. The cost also includes the  
 necessary costs of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site on which it is located.

 Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment  
 losses.  The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

	 	 	 •	 	 	 	 it	 is	 probable	 that	 future	 economic	 benefits	 or	 service	 potential	 associated	 with	 the	 item	will	 flow	 to	 the	 
           entity; and
	 	 	 •							The	cost	of	fair	value	of	the	item	can	be	measured	reliably.

 The NCT assesses the useful life and residual values of property, plant and equipment annually. The useful lives and  
 residual values are estimated on an annual basis at each year-end, with the effect of any changes in estimate  
 accounted for on a prospective basis.  
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 March 2014 (continued)

 Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method to write off the cost of each asset over its estimated  
 useful life as follows:

Property, plant and equipment Average useful life
Furniture and fittings 10 years
Equipment 4 years
Computer equipment 4 years
Books 5 years
Signage 5 years
Leasehold improvements Period of lease or until reconstruction
Leased equipment Period of lease

 The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss.

1.13 Intangible assets
 An intangible asset is recognised when:

•	 	 	 	 	 it	 is	probable	 that	 the	expected	 future	economic	benefits	 that	are	attributable	 to	 the	asset	will	 flow	 to	 the	 
        entity; and
•						The	cost	of	the	asset	can	be	measured	reliably.

 Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Expenditure on research is recognised as an expense when  
 it is incurred. An intangible asset from development is recognised when:

	 	 	 •						It	is	technically	feasible	to	complete	the	asset	so	that	it	will	be	available	for	use	or	sale;
	 	 	 •						There	is	an	intention	to	use	or	sell	it;
	 	 	 •						There	is	an	ability	to	use	or	sell	it;
	 	 	 •						It	will	generate	probable	future	economic	benefits;
	 	 	 •						The	expenditure	during	the	development	phase	can	be	measured	reliably.

 Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. The amortisation  
 period and method are reviewed every year-end. 

 Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets on a straight line basis as follows:
 
 Computer software   3 years
 Software under development  Not yet in use

1.14 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
 At each reporting date, the NCT reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine  
 whether there is any indication that those assets may be impaired.  An asset is impaired when its recoverable  
 amount is less than its carrying value. In this instance, the carrying value of the asset is reduced to its  
 recoverable amount. This reduction is an impairment loss, which is recognised immediately in the Statement  
 of Financial Performance.  A reversal of an impairment loss of assets other than goodwill is recognised  
 immediately in the Statement of Financial Performance.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 March 2014 (continued)

1.15 Inventories
 Inventories are initially recognised at cost. Cost generally refers to the purchase price, plus taxes, transport costs  
 and any other costs in bringing the inventories to their current location and condition. Where inventory is acquired  
 by the entity for no or nominal consideration (i.e. a non-exchange transaction), the cost is deemed to be equal to  
 the fair value of the item on the date acquired. The carrying amount of inventories is recognised as an expense in  
 the period that the inventory was distributed or consumed.

 Inventories, consisting of consumable stores, are measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost.

1.16 Financial instruments - Initial recognition
 The Tribunal classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a  
 financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.  
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Tribunal’s Statement of Financial Position when the NCT  
 becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

1.16.1 Financial assets
 Financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Financial instruments are measured  
 through profit or loss at fair value. The NCT’s principal financial assets are trade and other receivables, and cash and  
 cash equivalents. These financial assets are classified as loans and receivables.

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted  
 in an active market. This category includes short-term receivables, such as receivables, as well as cash and cash  
 equivalents.

 Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs. Subsequently, items included in  
 this category are measured at the amortised cost, calculated based on the effective interest method, and material  
 interest income is included in surplus or deficit for the year. Net gains or losses represent gains and losses on de- 
 recognition and are included in “other income” or “other expenses”.

 Short-term receivables with no stated rate are measured at the original invoice amount, if the effect of discounting  
 is immaterial.

 Impairment losses are recognised on loans and receivables when there is objective evidence of impairment. An  
 impairment loss is recognised in surplus or deficit when the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable  
 amount. The recoverable amount is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted  
 at the original effective interest rate of the instrument.
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for the year ended 31 March 2014 (continued)

 
1.16.2 Financial liabilities
 The NCT’s principal financial liabilities are trade and other payables and are classified as current liabilities.

 Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs. Subsequently, these items  
 are measured at the amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Interest expenses on these items  
 are measured at the amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Material interest expenses on these  
 items are recognised in surplus or deficit for the year and they are included in “finance costs”. Net gains or losses  
 represent gains or losses on de-recognition and are included in “other income” or “other expense.

 Provision is made for leave pay and as it is set at 100% of all outstanding accumulated leave at reporting date, it  
 is disclosed as accruals under trade and other payables.

1.17 Provisions 
 Provisions are recognised when the NCT has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that  
 this will result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be estimated reliably.  

1.18 Cash and cash equivalent
 Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value.

1.19 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
 Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable  
 care been exercised. All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense  
 in the Statement of Financial Performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is  
 classified in accordance with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for  
 as revenue in the Statement of Financial Performance.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 March 2014 (continued)

1.20 Irregular expenditure
 Irregular expenditure as defined in Section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure,  
 incurred in contravention of, or that is not in accordance with, a requirement of any applicable legislation,  
 including National Treasury Practice Note 4 of 2008/2009 which was issued in terms of Sections 76(1) to 76(4) of  
 the PFMA, which requires the following (effective from 1 April 2008):

	 	•	 	Irregular	expenditure	that	was	incurred	and	identified	during	the	current	financial	year	and	which	was	condoned	 
   before year-end and/or before finalisation of the Financial Statements must also be recorded appropriately in the  
   Irregular Expenditure Register. In such an instance, no further action is required with the exception of updating  
   the Note to the Financial Statements.

	 •	 	Irregular	 expenditure	 that	 was	 incurred	 and	 identified	 during	 the	 current	 financial	 year	 and	 for	 which	 
   condonement is being awaited at year-end, must be recorded in the Irregular Expenditure Register. No  
   further action is required with the exception of updating the Note to the  Financial Statements.

	 •		 	Where	irregular	expenditure	was	incurred	in	the	previous	financial	year	and	is	only	condoned	in	the	following	 
 financial year, the Register and the disclosure Note to the Financial Statements must be updated with the  
 amount condoned.

	 •		 	Irregular	 expenditure	 that	was	 incurred	 and	 identified	 during	 the	 current	 financial	 year	 and	which	was	 not	 
 condoned by the National Treasury or the relevant authority must be recorded appropriately in the Irregular  
 Expenditure Register. If liability for the irregular expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt account  
 must be created if such a person is liable in law. Immediate steps must thereafter be taken to recover the  
 amount from the person concerned. If recovery is not possible, the Accounting Authority may write off the  
 amount as bad debt and disclose such in the relevant Note to the Financial Statements. The Irregular  
 Expenditure Register must also be updated accordingly. If the irregular expenditure has not been condoned  
 and no person is liable under law, the expenditure related thereto must remain against the relevant  
 expenditure item, be disclosed as such in the Note to the Financial Statements and updated accordingly in 

    the Irregular Expenditure Register.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 March 2014 

2. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2014 2013

Cost/ 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carry 
value

Cost/ 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carry value

Furniture and fittings 915,335 (530,968) 384,367 888,446 (478,437) 410,009 
Office equipment 171,231 (72,559) 98,672 94,131 (59,367) 34,764 
IT equipment 1,387,970 (831,062) 556,908 1,120,206 (714,498) 405,708 
Leasehold improvements 748,465 (710,705) 37,760 702,509 (642,538) 59,971 
Books 215,844 (116,681) 99,163 203,193 (78,305) 124,888 
Signage 33,315 (29,661) 3,654 33,315 (22,997) 10,318 
Office equipment - leased 643,947 (360,782) 283,165 662,539 (416,034)   246,505 
Total 4,116,107 (2,652,418) 1,463,689 3,704,339 (2,412,176)  1,292,163 

Reconciliation of 
property, plant and 
equipment - 2014

Opening 
Balance

Additions Assets 
written off

Assets 
sold

Depreciation Closing 
Balance

Furniture and fittings 410,009 26,888 - - (52,530) 384,367
Office equipment 34,764 78,599 (824) - (13,867) 98,672
IT equipment 405,708 308,326 (11,937) - (145,189) 556,908
Leasehold improvements 59,971 45,957 - - (68,168) 37,760
Books 124,888 12,652 - - (38,377) 99,163
Signage 10,318 - - - (6,664) 3,654
Office equipment - leased 
(refer Note 2.1)

246,505 194,690 - - (158,030) 283,165

Total 1,292,163 667,112 (12,761) - (482,825)  1,463,689

Reconciliation of 
property, plant and 
equipment - 2013

Opening 
Balance

Additions Assets 
Written Off

Assets 
sold

Depreciation Closing 
Balance

Furniture and fittings 459,764 1,756  (892) -  (50,619) 410,009 
Office equipment 17,590 30,257 - -  (13,083) 34,764 
IT equipment 540,054           76,190                  -                    -         (210,536) 405,708 
Leasehold improvements                  -               6,131                  -                    -             53,840 59,971 
Books 148,378           12,373                  -                    -            (35,863) 124,888 
Signage 16,981                  -                    -                    -              (6,663) 10,318 
Office equipment - leased 
(refer Note 2.1)

182,877         217,946                  -                    -         (154,318) 246,505 

Total 1,365,644        344,653  (892)                  -        (417,242)  1,292,163 

2.1 Office Equipment - Leased
Assets with a net carrying value of R283, 165 (2013: R246, 505) are subject to finance leases as set out in Note 7.

2.2 Re-Assessment of Useful Lives
The useful lives and residual values of all the property, plant and equipment were assessed during the year under review. The 
assessment of the useful lives of leasehold improvements, furniture and fittings, office equipment and computer equipment 
resulted in a change in the accounting estimates. Also refer Note 22.
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3. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2014 2013
Cost/ 

Valuation
Accumulated 
amortisation/ 
impairments

Carry 
value

Cost/ 
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation/ 
impairments

 Carry value

Computer software 1,026,661  (662,812) 363,849 651,270  (517,971) 133,299
Software under 
development

236,000        (200,000) 36,000 236,000  (200,000)   36,000 

Total 1,262,661        (862,812) 399,849        887,270       (717,971)  169,299 

Reconciliation of 
intangible assets 
- 2014

Opening 
Balance

Additions Amortisation Impairments Closing 
Balance

Computer software         133,299 375,390  (144,840)                  -   363,849 
Software under 
development

          36,000                 -                    -                    -          36,000 

Total         169,299 375,390  (144,840)                  -    399,849 

Reconciliation of 
intangible assets 
- 2013

Opening 
Balance

Additions Amortisation Impairments  Closing 
Balance

Computer software         262,930                 -    (129,631)                  -   133,299 
Software under 
development

          36,000                 -                    -                    -   36,000 

Total         298,930                -    (129,631)                  -    169,299 

The additions to intangible assets during the period under review represent mainly the procurement of Microsoft SharePoint 
and systems monitoring software. 

3.1 Re-Assessment of Useful Lives
The useful lives of all the intangible assets were assessed during the year under review. No change was made to the useful 
lives of intangible assets and no impairment or reversal of previous impairments was made.

31 March 2014 31 March 2013

R R
4. INVENTORIES

Stationary and consumables           64,689         74,867 
          64,689         74,867 
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31 March 2014 31 March 2013
R R

5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTION
Debtors: Filing fees             7,700           3,200 
Debtors: Payroll (UIF refund)           22,405                -   
Deposits: Rental of furniture           24,925                -   
Prepayments: Insurance, training, travelling, etc.           87,740         15,572 

        142,770         18,772 

6.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank account - Notice deposit (SA Reserve Bank)       6,766,674 7,451,410 
Bank account - Current account (Nedbank)       1,664,399 1,201,214 
Cash on hand - Petty cash             1,305           1,145 

      8,432,378     8,653,769 

6.1  Bank account - Notice deposit
In terms of the NCT’s investment policy, surplus funds are invested with the South African Reserve Bank in the Corporation 
for Public Deposits (CPD) Account. Also refer Note 18.2.
 
7. FINANCE LEASES - OFFICE EQUIPMENT

Minimum lease payments due
ABD Financial Services (Pty) Ltd (PABX System)           34,271         85,500 
Technology Acceptances (Xerox Work Centres)         222,338         32,627 
Katlego Solutions (Pty) Ltd (additions to the PABX System)           25,664        179,651 

        282,273        297,778 
Summary of minimum lease payments due
Payable within one year         142,137        237,914 
Payable after one year         140,136         59,864 

        282,273        297,778 
Less: Future finance charges          (41,880)        (41,474)
Present value of minimum lease payments due         240,393        256,304 

Current liabilities         117,581        207,096 
Non-current liabilities         122,812         49,208 
Present value of minimum lease payments due         240,393        256,304 

Lease assets are initially measured at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset at the inception of the lease term and 
the present value of minimum lease payments at that date. The average lease term is 3 to 5 years and the average effective 
borrowing rate was 19% (2013: 19%)
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31 March 2014 31 March 2013

R R

Trade payables       1,869,230     1,093,523 
Income received in advance: Filing fees           91,500         21,800 
Other payables: Staff PAYE and UIF deduction                 28              577 
Salary deductions (PAYE)         555,438        474,879 
Accrued expenses: Tribunal Members’ costs         389,691        153,093 
Accrued leave pay: Senior Management and full-time Tribunal Members         498,959        500,791 
Accrued leave pay: Other staff         289,156        199,527 

     3,694,002     2,444,190 

All the amounts owed to suppliers as disclosed under trade payables are within the normal payment terms. Accrued leave 
pay relates to the estimated liability as a result of services rendered by employees up to the reporting date. It is calculated 
by apportioning the annual salary to a daily cost which is then multiplied by the number of leave days accumulated at the 
reporting date. 

9. PROVISIONS

Performance bonuses: Senior Management and full-time Tribunal Members    1,205,067     1,007,381 
Performance bonuses: Other staff       856,241        530,715 

  2,061,308     1,538,096 

Provision for performance bonuses relates to possible payment of performance bonuses to Tribunal employees for services 
rendered by them during the current financial year. The increase in the provision for performance bonuses is due to the 
increase in the staff complement.
 
RECONCILIATION OF PROVISIONS

Opening balance       1,538,096        822,498 
Provisions utilised during the year    (1,535,486)  (822,498)
Provisions reversed during the year            (2,610)                  - 
Provisions made during the year       2,061,308     1,538,096 

     2,061,308     1,538,096 
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31 March 2014 31 March 2013

R R

10. TOTAL REVENUE 37,477,017 34,208,556 

Non-exchange revenue 36,099,000 33,165,000 
Government grants     36,099,000   33,165,000 

Exchange revenue         541,092        396,713 
Filing fees         525,400        394,300 
Service fees             2,735           2,413 
Proceeds from insurance           12,957                  - 

Investment income         836,925        646,843 
Interest earned (refer Note 6.1)         836,925        646,843 

11. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Advertising         172,202        107,299 
Audit and Risk Committee Members’ remuneration         776,423        828,968 
Bank charges           53,687         39,890 
Cleaning charges                  -             4,583 
Computer expenses and software licenses         252,632        129,528 
Entertainment, refreshments and staff welfare           84,442         99,869 
Fraud hotline and whistle blowing           41,040         41,040 
General expenses, gifts, flowers, first aid, cutlery and crockery           65,896         37,009 
HR Governance Committee Members’ remuneration         153,055         81,383 
ICT Governance Committee Members’ remuneration         102,430        201,899 
Internal audit fees and secretariat services         608,306        598,800 
Legal fees             2,490         54,306 
Membership fees, subscriptions, books and resource materials         342,244        304,236 
Printing, stationery and publications         612,171        519,084 
Storage costs, online backup services, mail archiving and disaster recovery         522,565        184,413 
Training, bursaries, team building and staff development         293,478        258,226 
Venues and facilities for workshops and meetings         356,761        230,666 
Website development, maintenance and hosting           17,400         17,400 

      4,457,222     3,738,599 

11.1 Increase in Administrative Expenses
The increase in storage costs, online backup services, mail archiving and disaster recovery relate mainly to the establishment 
of a disaster recovery site as well as the increase in the offsite storing of documents and electronic information.

The increase in venues and facilities for workshops and meetings relate mainly to the conferences that were held jointly with 
the National Credit Regulator and the National Consumer Commission.
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31 March 2014 31 March 2013
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12. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Amortisation         144,840        129,631 
Assets written off           12,762              892 
Consulting fees       2,209,248     1,353,472 
Courier costs, postage and stamps         155,130        130,982 
Depreciation         482,825        417,242 
Insurance           99,816         93,349 
Internet costs and 3G connectivity         191,670        165,664 
Lease rentals on premises and parking       2,510,208     2,489,567 
Recording and transcription services         260,804        205,726 
Rentals - Equipment and furniture         231,425         16,416 
Repairs and maintenance         138,661         37,759 
Telephone and faxes         265,135        334,546 
Travel and accommodation       1,889,410     1,703,084 
Utilities - Water, electricity, rates and taxes         728,416        537,815 

     9,320,350     7,616,145 

12.1 Increase in Other Operating Expenses
The increase in the cost of consultants relates mainly to the strategic projects that the NCT embarked on such as the 
sustainability and job evaluation projects as well as the records management projects for which consultants were used. 
These expenses are unlikely to be repeated in future. Due to the size of the NCT consultants are also periodically used to 
assist with the recruitment of Senior and Executive Managers. Also refer to Note 18.3.

The increase in the rentals of furniture and equipment relate mainly to the furniture that had to be hired to host the larger 
staff complement while the space planning project is under way.

13. AUDIT FEES

External audit fees 757,265 731,198 
757,265 731,198 
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31 March 2014 31 March 2013
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14. PART-TIME TRIBUNAL MEMBERS’ COSTS

2014 2013
Members’ 
fees, etc.

Travelling 
expenses

Total costs Members’ 
fees, etc.

Travelling 
expenses

Total costs

BC Dumisa (Deputy 
Chairperson)

670,114 9,061 679,175 790,007 5,480 795,487 

PA Beck 937,127 3,963 941,090 714,045 7,838 721,883 
X May 435,823 6,849 442,672 383,317 7,539 390,856 
HFN Sephoti 388,740 5,827 394,567 556,277 1,339 557,616 
T Woker 686,091 6,575 692,666 815,718 5,328 821,046 
FK Manamela 538,439 21,883 560,322 502,408 13,704 516,112 
Y Carrim 34,555 875 35,430 423,051 696 423,747 
L Best 777,480 972 778,452 378,643 10,187 388,830 
JM Maseko 952,721 18,858 971,579 854,283 9,362 863,645 
FK Sibanda 478,829                  -   478,829 410,196                  -   410,196 

5,899,919 74,863 5,974,782 5,827,945 61,473   5,889,418 

Note: Although there has been an increase of 28% in the caseload, the slight increase in the part-time Tribunal Members’ 
costs (1.4%) is due to the appointment of two full-time Tribunal Members as well as the combining of cases to place on the 
same day. Travelling expenses comprise costs paid to Tribunal Members at a rate per kilometre for using their private vehicles 
in the execution of their duties as well as subsistence allowances paid in certain instances where Members had to travel away 
from home. These expenses have been included under travelling costs. The costs for the full-time Tribunal Members are 
included under employee related costs.

15. EMPLOYEE-RELATED COSTS

Senior Management emoluments (refer Note 15.1 below) 7,480,142 6,611,200
Full-time Tribunal Members’ emoluments (refer Note 15.2 below) 1,719,303 -
Other staff emoluments 6,123,953 3,903,314
Other staff leave paid 44,116 12,172
Other staff performance bonuses for previous performance period 577,011 799,532
Subtotal for payments made to permanent staff and 
interns

15,944,525 11,326,218

Student workers 296,207 51,898
Temporary staff emoluments 1,410,093 1,047,872
Employer’s contribution to statutory levies 198,391 197,717
Movement in accrual for leave pay 87,797 407,127
Movement in provision for performance bonuses 523,212 715,598
Total for employee related costs 18,460,225 13,746,430



N a t i o n a l  C o n s u m e r  T r i b u n a l  -  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  -  2 0 1 3 / 1 4

119

Annual Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2014

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 March 2014 (continued)
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15.1 Senior Management Emoluments 7,480,142 6,611,200

Executive Chairperson (D Terblanche) 2,208,646 # 2,015,542
Annual remuneration 1,688,338 2,003,542
Leave paid out due to the late finalisation of appointment 119,617 -
Performance bonus for previous performance period 390,691 -
Other fringe benefits 10,000 12,000

Chief Operating Officer (H Devraj: 4 months) 784,024 1,503,463
Annual remuneration 454,343 1,063,672
Leave paid out due to resignation 120,855 -
Performance bonus for previous performance period 205,626 194,094
Performance bonus for periods prior to previous performance 
period

- 168,463

Other fringe benefits 3,200 77,234

# = Prior year includes performance bonuses paid in relation to 
preceding financial periods

Registry Manager (NE Mbhele: 11 months) 843,883 824,376
Annual remuneration 726,634 767,716
Overtime paid 40,714 -
Leave paid out due to retrenchment 71,035 -
Performance bonus for previous performance period - 56,660
Other fringe benefits 5,500 -

Registrar (M Bosch) 1,368,006 1,020,698
Annual remuneration 1,194,030 922,945
Performance bonus for previous performance period 167,976 95,753
Other fringe benefits 6,000 2,000

Chief Financial Officer (WP Strauss) 1,394,213 1,247,121
Annual remuneration 1,194,030 1,132,260
Performance bonus for previous performance period 194,183 108,861
Other fringe benefits 6,000 6,000

Interim Chief Operations Officer (NKD Lolwane: 3 
months)

304,182 -

Annual remuneration 302,655 -
Other fringe benefits 1,527 -

ICT Manager (BX Nomvete: 7 months)         577,188                -   
Annual remuneration         567,794                -   
Overtime paid             6,394                -   
Other fringe benefits             3,000                -   



N a t i o n a l  C o n s u m e r  T r i b u n a l  -  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  -  2 0 1 3 / 1 4

120

Annual Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2014

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 March 2014 (continued)

31 March 2014 31 March 2013
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15.2 Full-time Tribunal Members’ Emoluments       1,719,303                -   

Full-time Tribunal Member (H Devraj - 8 months)         860,220                -   
Annual remuneration         853,820                -   
Other fringe benefits             6,400                -   

Full-time Tribunal Member (JR Simpson: 9 months)         859,083                -   
Annual remuneration         852,683                -   
Other fringe benefits             6,400                -   

15.3 Expense Allowances Included Under Travelling  
        Costs

Executive Chairperson (D Terblanche)           27,863         41,421 
Full-time Tribunal Member and Chief Operating Officer (H Devraj)           25,996         29,159 
Full-time Tribunal Member (JR Simpson: 9 months)           10,832                -   
Registry Manager (NE Mbhele: 11 months for 2014)             1,764                -   
Registrar (M Bosch)           15,430         32,083 
Chief Financial Officer (WP Strauss)           16,135         11,809 
Interim Chief Operations Officer (NKD Lolwane: 3 months)                227                -   
ICT & RM Manager (BX Nomvete: 7 months)             4,553                -   
Expense allowance paid to senior management         102,800        114,472 
Expense allowance paid to other staff           44,635         44,597 
Total expense allowance paid to employees         147,435        159,069 

15.4 Increase In Employee Related Costs
During the year under review the NCT managed to fill many of the positions on its staff structure that were previously 
vacant. Two full-time Tribunal members were also appointed.

16. FINANCE COSTS

Finance leases           44,644         68,546 
          44,644         68,546 
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31 March 2014 31 March 2013
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17. RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH-FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net (deficit) / surplus for the year      (1,462,608)     2,479,693 
Adjusted for:       1,208,282     1,331,909 
Amortisation         144,840        129,631 
Depreciation         482,825        417,242 
Assets written off           12,761              892 
Finance costs - Finance leases           44,644         68,546 
Movement in provisions: Employee related costs         523,212        715,598 

Operating surplus/(deficit) before working capital changes        (254,326)     3,811,602 

Changes in Working Capital       1,135,992        535,214 
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable        (123,998)         10,915 
Decrease/(increase) in inventory           10,178        (48,332)
Increase in accounts payable       1,249,812        572,631 

Cash generated/(utilised) in operations         881,666     4,346,816 
 

18.  PRESENTATION OF BUDGET INFORMATION

The NCT prepares its annual budget primarily on an accrual basis. Items such as depreciation, amortisation, loss on sale 
of assets, scrapping of assets, finance costs and accrual for leave pay are not budgeted for on the accrual basis. The actual 
amounts in the Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts are therefore adjusted to be comparable with the 
final budget.

Material differences between the final budget and the comparable actual amount are disclosed in the notes below. Material 
is considered to pertain either to the amount or to what is considered to be of a qualitative nature. The amount determined 
for materiality purposes is according to the materiality and significance framework as was published in the Strategic Plan. 
This amount was determined to be R238, 000 for the financial year ended on 31 March 2014.

18.1 Surplus brought forward from 2012/13
By the time that the budget for 2013/14 was prepared, the NCT realised that it had to accumulate savings on its budget 
allocation for the 2012/13 financial year to be able to fund the anticipated shortfall for 2013/14. At the time it was anticipated 
that the saving could be an amount of R3.5 million. However, when the annual financial statements for the 2012/13 financial 
year was prepared some eight months later the actual surplus was R1 million less than what was budgeted for. Also refer to 
Note 28.
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18.2 Interest received
Due to the procurement of the case management system and the space planning project not being finalised and as was 
budgeted for to be spent, there were more funds on investment than was anticipated. This resulted in the interest earned 
on investment to be higher than what was budgeted for. The NCT manages its cash flow to ensure that surplus funds are 
invested in a way to maximise the interest earned on these funds.

18.3 Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses are higher mainly as a result of the use of consultants that were more than budgeted for. This was 
caused by the Sustainability and Job Evaluation Projects that were identified towards the end of the previous year as key 
strategic projects and which were therefore not budgeted for. These expenses are unlikely to recur in future. A consultant was 
also appointed to assist with the development of the electronic Consent Order Assistant which was also not budgeted for. 
The NCT has also embarked on a records management project that was not budgeted for. Due to a number of unsuccessful 
attempts to recruit senior staff members through advertisements in the media, recruitment agencies were contracted to 
assist with this process and as such more than what was budgeted for was spent in this regard.

18.4 Tribunal Members’ costs
Due to the late appointment of the two full-time Tribunal Members, the part-time Tribunal Members had to attend to more 
matters than were budgeted for from 1 April 2013 to 31 July 2013.  One full-time Member was appointed on 1 July 2013 and 
the other on 1 August 2013. Also refer Note 18.5 below.

18.5 Employee-related costs
The NCT experienced difficulties in filling some of the vacant positions on the approved staff structure. Also, due to the 
increase in adjudication costs caused by the rising caseload, the NCT put the recruitment of staff for some of the positions 
on hold until National Treasury could give more certainty on future funding levels. Some positions were therefore filled with 
temporary staff. There was also a delay in the appointment of the full-time Tribunal Members. Also refer to Note 18.4 above.

18.6 Capital expenditure
The main reason for the variance in the capital budget relates to the procurement of software to the amount of R193, 607. 
This software forms a necessary component for the security of, amongst others, the case management system which is in 
the process of being commissioned. In addition, Microsoft SharePoint was procured in the amount of R119, 883 and forms 
part of the case management system that was budgeted to be financed out of rollover funds. With the appointment of 
the ICT Manager the NCT was in a position to procure the Microsoft SharePoint software that will form the basis of the 
case management system that the NCT is in the process of developing. The development of this system is earmarked to be 
financed out of rollover funds brought forward from the 2011/12 financial year. Also refer to Note 28.
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19. COMMITMENTS

19.1 Operating lease - Buildings
Lease payments under operating leases recognised in the deficit/surplus 
for the year

      2,510,208     2,489,567 

Future minimum lease payments
Payable within one year       1,104,692     2,560,753 
Payable after one year                    -     1,104,692 

      1,104,692     3,665,444 

The operating lease relates to the Centurion Office building premises used by the NCT. The lease agreement was entered 
into and is effective from 1 September 2011 and ends 31 August 2014.

19.2 Operating leases - Office equipment and furniture
Lease payments under operating leases recognised in the surplus for the 
year

        231,425         16,416 

Future minimum lease payments
Payable within one year         135,706         54,959 
Payable after one year                    -                  - 

        135,706         54,959 

The operating leases relating to office equipment was for the lease of a photocopier that has expired but the copier was used 
on a rental basis until March 2014 as the supplier was out of stock when the new machine was procured during February 
2013. The monthly rental was paid at a fixed amount of R2, 052 per month.

The operating lease relating to furniture was entered into during March 2013 and expires on 31 August 2014. The monthly 
rental for the remaining period is payable at a fixed amount of R27, 141 per month.

19.3 Finance leases - Office equipment

 Refer to Note 7: Finance leases - Office equipment for commitments under finance lease agreements.
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20. RELATED PARTIES

20.1  Transactions with entities under common control
As the NCT is a National Public Entity related to other entities and departments in the national sphere of government, it is 
considered to be related to Telkom, the South African Post Office and the South African Airlines. Transactions with these 
entities are concluded in the normal course of business and are undertaken in terms of conditions that are normally 
applicable for such transactions. Other movement of funds between the NCT and a department or other entities under 
common control in the national sphere of government are disclosed below:

Department of Trade and Industry (the dti) - Grant received     36,099,000   33,165,000 
National Consumer Commission - Legal fees refunded to the NCT and set-
off against legal fees

                   -        450,741 

National Credit Regulator - Filing fees deposited into their bank account             1,000                  - 

20.2  Relationships and related party transactions

20.2.1  State Departments and Public Entities
Department of Trade and Industry (the dti) - Controlling state department
National Consumer Commission - Sister entity within the dti group of entities
National Credit Regulator - Sister entity within the dti group of entities and part of COTII

Note: Amounts that were paid to state departments and public entities are disclosed in Note 20.1 above.

The NCT is part of the Council of Trade and Industry Institutions (COTII) to contribute towards the achievement of the 
objectives of the dti and the overall government strategies. The entities listed below are part of COTII and some of these 
entities use the facilities and other resources of the NCT from time to time at no fee.

National Empowerment Fund (NEF)                  -                  -   
Export Credit Insurance Corporation of South Africa 
Limited (ECIC)

                 -                  -   

Small Enterprise Development Agency (seda)                  -                  -   
Companies And Intellectual Property Commission (CIPC)                  -                  -   
National Gambling Board of South Africa (NGB)                  -                  -   
National Lotteries Board (NLB)                  -                  -   
National Consumer Commission (NCC)                  -                  -   
National Metrology Institute of South Africa  (NMISA)                  -                  -   
South African Bureau of Standards (SABS)                  -                  -   
South African National Accreditation System (SANAS)                  -                  -   
National Regulator for Compulsory Specifications (NRCS)                  -                  -   
Companies Tribunal (CT)                  -                  -   
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20.2.2 Key consultants
Duja Consulting (Finance consultant)                    -         26,904 
Treten Advisory Services (Pty) Ltd (HR Manager)         470,000                  - 

20.2.3 Accounting Authority
D Terblanche (Chairperson of the Tribunal) Aggregate 

remuneration
      2,208,646     2,015,542 

D Terblanche (Chairperson of the Tribunal) Reimbursement 
of purchases

            1,392           1,815 

Note: Aggregate remuneration excludes expense allowances. Also refer Note 15.1 and 15.3 for more detail.

20.2.4 Part-time Tribunal Members
BC Dumisa (Deputy Chairperson of the Tribunal) Aggregate fee 

for services 
rendered

        679,175        795,487 

PA Beck Aggregate fee 
for services 
rendered

        941,090        721,883 

X May Aggregate fee 
for services 
rendered

        442,672        390,856 

HFN Sephoti Aggregate fee 
for services 
rendered

        394,567        557,616 

T Woker Aggregate fee 
for services 
rendered

        692,666        821,046 

FK Manamela Aggregate fee 
for services 
rendered

        560,322        516,112 

Y Carrim Aggregate fee 
for services 
rendered

          35,430        423,747 

L Best Aggregate fee 
for services 
rendered

        778,452        388,830 

JM Maseko Aggregate fee 
for services 
rendered

        971,579        863,645 

FK Sibanda Aggregate fee 
for services 
rendered

        478,829        410,196 

Note: Aggregate fee for services rendered includes travelling expense. Also refer Note 14 for more detail.
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20.2.5 Full-time Tribunal members and members of key management
H Devraj (Full-time Tribunal Member and Chief Operating 
Officer)

Aggregate 
remuneration

      1,644,244     1,503,463 

H Devraj (Full-time Tribunal Member and Chief Operating 
Officer)

Reimbursement 
of purchases

            3,177         10,565 

JR Simpson (Full-time Tribunal Member) Aggregate 
remuneration

        859,083                  - 

JR Simpson (Full-time Tribunal Member) Reimbursement 
of purchases

               254                  - 

NE Mbhele (Registry Manager) Aggregate 
remuneration

        843,883        824,376 

NE Mbhele (Registry Manager) Reimbursement 
of purchases

                20                  - 

M Bosch (Head: Case Management and Registrar) Aggregate 
remuneration

      1,368,006     1,020,698 

M Bosch (Head: Case Management and Registrar) Reimbursement 
of purchases

            1,665              555 

WP Strauss (Chief Financial Officer) Aggregate 
remuneration

      1,394,213     1,247,121 

WP Strauss (Chief Financial Officer) Reimbursement 
of purchases

               192           1,060 

NKD Lolwane (Interim Chief Operating Officer) Aggregate 
remuneration

        304,182                  - 

BX Nomvete (ICT Manager) Aggregate 
remuneration

        577,188                  - 

Note: Aggregate remuneration excludes expense allowances. Also refer Note 15.1; 15.2 and 15.3 for more detail.
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20.3 Amounts included in trade receivables/(trade payables) regarding related parties
Treten Advisory Services (Pty) Ltd (Part-time HR Manager)          (99,500)                  - 
M Bosch (Head: Case Management and Registrar) (UIF refund)           22,405                  - 
T Woker (part-time Tribunal Member)          (51,312)                  - 
L Best (part-time Tribunal Member)          (29,618)  (14,024)
PA Beck (part-time Tribunal Member)          (44,427)                  - 
BC Dumisa (part-time Tribunal Member)          (45,030)                  - 
HFN Sephoti (part-time Tribunal Member)        (219,304)
FK Manamela (part-time Tribunal Member)                    -  (74,794)
X May (Part-time Tribunal Member)                    -       (10,518)
FK Sibanda (Part-time Tribunal Member)                    -       (39,734)
Y Carrim (Part-time Tribunal Member)                    -       (14,024)

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Exposure to currency, interest rate, credit and liquidity risks arise in the normal course of the NCT’s business.

21.1  Financial risk management
The NCT has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

Credit risk
Liquidity risk
Interest rate risk

This note presents information about the NCT’s exposure to each of the above risks and its objectives, policies and processes 
for measuring and managing risks. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these Financial Statements.

The Accounting Authority and the members of key management have overall responsibility for the establishment and 
oversight of the NCT’s risk management framework. The NCT’s Risk Management Policies are established to identify and 
analyse the risks faced by the NCT, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk 
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the NCT’s activities. 
The NCT, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive 
environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

Financial assets
Loans and other receivables       8,575,148 8,672,541 
Trade and other receivables (refer to Note 5)         142,770         18,772 
Cash and cash equivalents (refer to Note 6)       8,432,378    8,653,769 

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables       3,694,002 2,444,190 
Trade and other payables (refer to Note 8)       2,516,196 1,590,779 
Accruals (refer to Note 8)       1,177,806 853,411 
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21.1.1  Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the NCT will encounter if it experiences difficulty in raising funds to meet its commitments. The 
NCT’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to 
the NCT’s reputation. The bulk portion of the surplus is carried as cash or cash equivalents. 

The ageing of trade payables from exchange transactions at the reporting date is as per the table below. The amounts 
disclosed are contractual cash-flows.

At 31 March 2014
Less than 1 year Between 1 and 2 

years
Between 2 and 5 

years
Finance leases (refer to Note 7)         142,137           81,364         58,772 
Trade and other payables (refer to Note 8)       3,694,002                  -                  -   

      3,836,139           81,364         58,772 

At 31 March 2013
Less than 1 year Between 1 and 2 

years
Between 2 and 5 

years
Finance leases (refer to Note 7)         237,914           59,864                -   
Trade and other payables (refer to Note 8)       2,444,190                  -                  -   

      2,682,104           59,864                -   

21.1.2 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate owing to changes in market interest rates. 

Balances exposed to the interest rate risk
Cash and cash equivalents (refer to Note 6) 8,432,378 8,653,769 

8,432,378 8,653,769 
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21.1.3  Sensitivity analysis
The National Consumer Tribunal reviews its interest rate exposure on a regular basis. At 31 March 2013, if interest rates had 
been 1% higher or lower, with all other variables held constant, the surplus for the year would have changed according to 
the sensitivity analysis below:

Financial instrument Change in 
interest

Decrease 
in deficit if 

lower

 (Increase) 
in deficit if 

higher 

Decrease 
in deficit if 

higher

 (Increase) 
in deficit if 

lower 
Cash and cash equivalents 1%                    -                    - 161,461  (161,461)
Finance leases 1% 2,485  (2,671)                    -                  - 

21.1.4  Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will default on its obligation to the NCT, thereby causing 
financial loss. It is NCT’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are assessed for credit worthiness. In 
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an on-going basis with the result that the exposure to bad debts is not 
significant. A provision is made for doubtful debts.  The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying value 
of each financial asset in the Statement of Financial Position.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year-end were as follows:

Financial instrument
Trade and other receivables - Unrated 142,770 18,772 
Cash and cash equivalents - AA rating (Fitch) 8,432,378 8,653,769 

8,575,148 8,672,541 

The following analysis provides information about the Tribunal’s exposure to credit risk:

Credit quality of financial assets
Trade and other receivables neither past due nor impaired 142,770 18,772 
Cash and cash equivalents neither past due nor impaired 8,432,378 8,653,769 

8,575,148 8,672,541 

21.2  Fair values
The NCT’s financial instruments consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable.  No 
financial instruments were carried at an amount in excess of its fair value. The following methods and assumptions are used 
to determine the fair value of each class of financial instrument:

21.2.1  Cash and cash equivalents
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the relatively short-term maturity of these 
financial assets.
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21.2.2 Accounts receivable
The carrying amount of accounts receivable, net of allowance for bad debt, approximates fair value due to the relatively 
short-term maturity of these financial assets.

21.2.3 Accounts payable
The carrying amount of trade payables approximates fair value due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial 
liabilities.

22. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Impact of changes in accounting estimates
(Decrease) in net (deficit) or (Increase) in net surplus  (156,757)  (135,600)
Increase in property, plant and equipment 156,757 135,600 

                 -                  -   

In the current year management re-assessed the remaining useful lives of property, plant and equipment and estimated 
remaining life for furniture and fittings was increased by a further 36 months, computer equipment by another 12 months, 
office equipment by another 12 months and leasehold improvements was increased by a further 12 months. The effect of 
this revision has decreased the depreciation charges for the current year and increased the depreciation charges for future 
periods by R156,757 (2013: R135,600).

There was no impact on the Cash Flow Statement

23. FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE
Management has not identified any fruitless and wasteful expenditure in the years ended 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2013.

24. IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE
Management has not identified any irregular expenditure in the years ended 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2013.

25. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
The passing of the National Credit Amendment Bill by Parliament into law during May 2014 may have a financial impact on 
the NCT in future as it is expected that the cases filed with the NCT will increase as a result of these amendments. Other than 
that, management is not aware of any matter or circumstance as at the end of the financial year, not otherwise dealt with 
in the Annual Financial Statements that significantly affects the financial position of the National Consumer Tribunal or the 
results of its operations.

26. GOING CONCERN
Management has carried out an assessment of the Tribunal’s ability to continue operation as a going concern and therefore 
concludes that the organisation will be able to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future.
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27. STATEMENTS OF GRAP APPLICABLE TO THE TRIBUNAL THAT ARE IN ISSUE,   
       BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following accounting standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Principles (GRAP) were in issue, but not yet effective;

Effective Date
Related Party Disclosure GRAP 20 No date determined

Management believes that the adoption of these standards in future periods will have no material impact on the Financial 
Statements of the NCT.

28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There is a contingent liability that comprises the accumulated surpluses as at 31 March 2014. A request for the retention of 
the previous year’s accumulated surplus of R5,970,280 has been approved by National Treasury. The accumulated surplus as 
at 31 March 2014 is summarised in the table below. Also refer to Note 18.6.

Surplus brought forward from 2011/12 and earmarked for the case management 
system and space planning

3,490,587 

Surplus for 2012/13 rolled over to 2013/14 to fund the anticipated shortfall in that 
year

2,479,693 

(Deficit) for 2013/14 to be fund out of rollover funds from 2013/13 (1,462,608)
Accumulated surplus 4,507,672 

Reconciliation of accumulated surplus
Surplus brought forward from 2011/12 and earmarked for the case management 
system and space planning

3,490,587 

Surplus rolled over to 2014/15 to fund the anticipated shortfall in that year 1,017,085 
Accumulated surplus 4,507,672 

29. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
During the year under review the NCT awarded a tender to the amount of R654 800 for the development of a case 
management system. Development costs will be incurred in the next financial year.

30. TAXATION
The NCT is exempted from paying taxation in terms of Section 10 (1)(CA)(1) of the Income Tax Act.
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Appendix A: Tribunal Members Résumés
Ms Diane Terblanche - Executive Chairperson
Qualifications: BA and LLB (University of the Western Cape)  
LLM (University of Pennsylvania (USA))
Admitted Attorney of the High Court of South Africa (1986) 

Passionate about the rights of South African consumers, Diane, an admitted 
attorney, has been the Executive Chairperson of the National Consumer Tribunal 
since its inception. Her extensive experience and involvement in consumer 
protection spans a period of close to 30 years. It includes lobbying for, drafting 
and in many instances implementing, consumer protection policies, laws and the 
strategies. Diane has had a significant impact on a number of entities in her various 
adjudicative, executive, governance and oversight, advisory and consultancy roles, 
both locally and abroad. Currently she serves as a member of the Council of Medical 
Schemes Final Appeal Board; Member of the Board, Chairperson of the Audit and 
Risk Committee and Final Appeal Committee of the Advertising Standards Authority of South Africa; Member of the Appeal 
Board for the Films and Publications Board; Member of the Board and Audit and Risk Committee of the Ombudsman for 
Banking Services.

Since its inception, the Tribunal has been renowned for its exemplary management and governance and fair adjudication. 
Much of its success can be attributed to Diane’s strong and dynamic leadership.

Prof. Bonke Dumisa - Deputy Chairperson
Qualifications: BCom (National University of Lesotho); BCom (Hons) (Unisa); 
MBA (Bentley University, USA); MSc (University of London, UK); Doctor of Business 
Administration (University of Durban-Westville); LLB (University of Zululand); LLM 
(University of KwaZulu-Natal)

With his valuable combination of business and legal qualifications, Prof. Dumisa is 
the ideal candidate for the Deputy Chairperson position at the NCT. Prof. Dumisa is 
an Advocate of the High Court of South Africa and was? a Professor of Management 
at the University of KwaZulu-Natal. Thanks to his sought-after leadership skills and 
business acumen, Prof. Dumisa serves on a number of boards; he is a member of 
the Council for Medical Schemes and the KwaZulu-Natal Planning Commission, 
and is Deputy Chairperson of the eThekwini Local Committee of the KwaZulu-Natal 

Liquor Authority. 

Ms Yasmin Carrim
Qualifications: BSc, LLB and Higher Diploma in Education (University of Cape 
Town)

Ms Carrim is an admitted attorney of the High Court of South Africa and serves 
as a full-time member of the Competition Tribunal of South Africa and part-time 
member of the NCT. Ms Carrim is Chairperson of the Board of Soul City Institute 
and is a member of the National Association of Democratic Lawyers and the 
Women’s Legal Centre.

HONESTY
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Prof. Joseph Maseko
Qualifications: PhD Management (UK); MPhil Labour Law (University of 
Johannesburg; Advanced Diploma in Labour Law (Randse Afrikaanse University); 
Graduate Diploma in Company Direction (GIMT); Advanced Diploma in Management; 
Diploma in Personnel Management; Certificate in O&M; Certificate in Psychometric 
Testing; Certificate in Training of Trainers; Certificate in Debt Counselling (University 
of Pretoria); Certificate in Curriculum Design (University of Cape Town); Certificate in 
Management Development Programme (University of the Witwatersrand); Certificate 
in Law and Mediation (TPU)

Prof. Maseko continuously sets out to improve his skill set, as is attested to by his wide 
range of qualifications. However, protecting the rights of consumers remains one of 

his key focus areas, and in 2014 he was appointed by the United Nations Industrial Development Organization to draft, 
compile and present consumer protection legislation and regulations for Swaziland. The drafted Act and regulations 
are currently with the Ministry of Commerce, Industry and Trade for parliamentary submission. Prof. Maseko is a 
Tribunal Member and serves as a member of the Mpumalanga Consumer Affairs Court. He is also the owner of Maseko 
Management Services. Prof. Maseko is the Chairperson of the NCT HR Governance Committee.

 
Mr Xolela May
Qualifications: Diploma in Business Management; MBA (in progress); NDip Law 
(University of Johannesburg); Diploma in Legal Studies (South African School of Law)

With his in-depth knowledge of the CPA and regulations, Mr May is a valued Tribunal 
Member who makes an active contribution to the enforcement of consumer rights. 
He is Vice-Chairperson of the Southern Cape Correctional Services Parole Board and is 
involved in a number of NGOs and CBOs.

Ms Laura Best
Qualifications: BCom Economics (University of Cape Town); Masters in 
Development Studies (Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University)

Ms Best divides her time between the NCT and her position as Special Assistant 
to the Vice-Chancellor of the Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University. She is 
also a member of the South African Board of Sheriffs and Chairs its Training and 
Communications Committee. Ms Best makes a significant input into the NCT 
through her insight into, and knowledge of, the future role of e-communications, 
specifically the impact of the internet and mobile telecommunications in modern 
society in relation to consumer protection. Ms Best is the Chairperson of the NCT 
ICT Governance Committee.

INTEGRITY
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Adv. Frans Kgolela Manamela
Qualifications: BJuris and LLB (University of the North)

Adv. Manamela has been involved in consumer  affairs  since 1992, and was admitted 
as an advocate of the High Court in 1995. He played a key role in setting up the first 
Consumer Affairs Court in South Africa and was appointed as the first Consumer 
Protector for Gauteng in 1998. Adv. Manamela currently serves as the Chief Director of 
Consumer Affairs and Business Compliance in the Gauteng Department of Economic 
Development. He also serves on the Board of the South African Savings Institute and 
is a member of the National Consumer Protection Forum’s Policy and Legislation 
Committee. Adv. Manamela is a member of the HR Governance Committee.

Ms Penelope Beck
Qualifications: BA Law and LLB (University of the Western Cape); Certificate in the 
Financing of Local Infrastructure Initiatives (University of Cape Town/Royal Institute 
of Technology, Sweden) 

Ms Beck was admitted as an attorney in 1992 and honed her consumer protection 
knowledge in the NGO sector, where she served legal resource centres and the 
Housing Consumer Protection Trust, among others, for many years. She is currently 
a member of the Office of Disclosure of the Department of Human Settlements, a 
classifier of the Film and Publications Board, a member of the South African Council 
of Planners and an associate member of INSITE, an organisation focusing on social 
and economic development of communities. She is also a practicing attorney at 
Beck-Paxton Attorneys.

Adv. Neo Sephoti
Qualifications: BJuris and LLB (University of Bophuthatswana); Diploma in 
Alternative Dispute Resolution (Arbitration Foundation of Southern Africa)

Adv. Sephoti loves working with people and making a difference in their lives. 
She is an advocate of the High Court of South Africa and is currently employed 
as the Corporate Affairs Manager at SABMiller where she deals with legal matters 
relating to the sale of alcohol. Adv. Sephoti is also a member of the Independent 
Commission for the Remuneration of Public Office Bearers and is Chairperson of 
the Audit and Risk Committee of the Performing Arts Council of the Free State.

ACCESSIBILITY
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Mrs Hazel Devraj
Qualifications: Qualifications: BSc Psychology and Industrial Psychology;  
BSc (Hons).(University of Natal).

In her position as CEO/Registrar for a period of 6 years, Ms Devraj played a key role in 
the founding of the NCT with her hands-on work ethic. Prior to joining the founding 
team of the NCT, Ms Devraj spent four years as the Head of Human Resources at 
the Competition Commission, after which she joined the Department of Trade and 
Industry as Director of Operational Management in the Consumer and Corporate 
Regulation Division. Ms Devraj is now a full-time Tribunal Member, and her insight 
into the inner workings of the Tribunal and her extensive experience in working 
in regulatory bodies in the area of competition, consumer and credit lawis well-
regarded. She is a member of the HR Governance Committee.

Prof. Tanya Woker
Qualifications: BA, LLB and LLM (University of Natal); PhD (Rhodes University)

A professor of law and advocate of the High Court of South Africa, Prof. Woker 
take a particular interest in consumer law. She served as the Vice-Chairperson and 
Chairperson of the Department of Trade and Industry’s Consumer Affairs Committee 
and presently serves as the Chairperson of the Financial Services Ombuds Council and 
member of the Financial Services Enforcement Committee. Prof. Woker is the author 
of a number of consumer law related articles and academic works.

ACCOUNTABILITY

Mr Fungai Sibanda
Qualifications: BCom and BCom (Hons) (Unisa); MSc Economics (Hull University, 
UK); Certificate in Competition Law (University of the Witwatersrand)

Mr Sibanda specialises in regulatory economics and competition policy matters, 
and has held a number of senior positions in the Competition Commission, 
Department of Trade and Industry and Independent Communications Authority 
of South Africa. Among others, he was involved in the drafting of the regulations 
of the CPA and is a member of the Regulating Committee for the Airports 
Company of South Africa and the Air Traffic Navigation Services. Mr Sibanda is 
also a member of the Tshwane Economic Development Agency Board and co-
founder of Hekima Advisory. Mr Sibanda is often invited as a guest lecturer on 
Competition Economics by the Wits Law School.
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Adv. John Simpson
Qualifications: BJuris and LLB (Unisa)

Adv. Simpson’s career has seen him rise through the ranks of the legal system, 
from State Prosecutor in the Department of Justice, to Magistrate and then as 
an admitted advocate in private practice. His quest for renewed challenges 
led him to take on the positions of Manager and then General Manager for the 
Ombudsman for Banking Services. This extensive experience positioned Adv. 
Simpson as a skilled legal consultant, in which position he has provided advice and 
guidance to companies on the CPA and assisted the NCT in the setting up of its 
case management system, ICT system and other related operational issues. Broad 
experience in consumer-related law places Adv. Simpson in a unique position to 
adjudicated on cases involving the National Credit Act and the CPA. He is a member 
of the ICT Committee.

RESPECT
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APPENDIX B: ABBREVIATIONS / ACRONYMS
ADR  – Alternative Dispute Resolution
AGSA   –  Auditor-General of South Africa
APP  –  Annual Performance Plan
BIG   – Business Innovation Group
CCRD   –  Consumer and Corporate Regulation Division
CFO   –  Chief Financial Officer
CIPC  – Companies and Intellectual Property Commission
COBIT  – Control Objectives for Information and Related Technology
COO   –  Chief Operations Officer
COTII  – Council of Trade and Industry Institutions
CPA   –  Consumer Protection Act, Act No. 68 of 2008
DRA  – Debt Re-arrangement Agreement
DRS  - Debt Re-arrangement System
EAP  – Employee Assistance Programme
ENE  – Estimates of National Expenditure
EXCO  – Executive Committee
GRAP   –  Generally Recognised Accounting Practice
HR   –  Human Resource
ICT  –  Information and Communications Technology
IT   –  Information Technology
IYM   – In-Year Management 
King III  – King Report on Governance for South Africa and the King Code of Governance Principles
KPI  – Key Performance Indicator 
MPC  – Monetary Policy Committee
MTEF  –  Medium Term Expenditure Framework  
NCA  –  National Credit Act, Act No. 34 of 2005
NCC  –  National Consumer Commission
NCR  –  National Credit Regulator
NCT   –  National Consumer Tribunal
OHS  – Occupational Health and Safety
PAJA  – Promotion of Administrative Justice Act, Act No. 3 of 2000
PC  – Portfolio Committee 
PDA  – Payment Distribution Agents
PEO   –  Public Entity Oversight 
PFMA   –  Public Finance Management Act, Act No. 1 of 1999
RDS  – Remote Desktop Services
the dti   –  The Department of Trade and Industry
VPN  – Virtual Private Network

RECOGNITION
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